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RevPAR fell by more than 17% year-on-year

Radisson Blu Royal Hotel, Copenhagen

2009 was a very

difficult year
NOt least for
the hotel industry.

we were fast to carry out a tough cost reduction programme.
And we shifted to a higher gear in pursuing our asset-light growth strategy.
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CEO statement

Lean – if not mean – and well positioned for

the turn-around to come

I

t has been both a strenuous and a
tough year. In fact, 2009 has been one
of the worst years I have experienced
throughout my almost forty years in
the hotel business. We have been confronted
with enormous decreases in RevPAR,
Occupancy and Average Room Rate and
with the necessity to act fast, we have had to
make quick, effective – and often difficult –
decisions in order to control costs and cash.
Rezidor instated a comprehensive
programme targeting three areas; controlling costs, controlling cash and controlling
lease commitments. We acted quickly and in
the third quarter of 2008, put an ambitious
cost savings programme called “Hedging
for Turbulence” into effect. It proved to be
a key decision at an opportune time. When
the downturn wave really hit us in December
2008, the programme was well established
– and at the end even exceeded our target as
we achieved annual savings of MEUR 32 in
operational costs and additional reductions
of more than MEUR 4 in central costs.
While Hedging for Turbulence brought
challenging and often sad decisions, it also
provided an opportunity for improvement.
Rezidor was able to streamline its management structure and make its daily business
even more effective.
The second area of focus was on cash
control. Rezidor conserved capital by limiting investment where possible and also by
managing its working capital balances effectively. Thus the company managed to reduce
cash outflows and preserve liquidity in these
uncertain times.
The final area of focus for Rezidor
was to continue its asset-light approach.
During 2009 Rezidor even exceeded its own
expectations when 78% of the total rooms
added were without any financial commitments.
This is important not only in the current
economic environment, but will also be of
great benefit to the future profitability of the
company when the economy recovers.
These swift and decisive actions in
the areas of cost control, cash control and
management structure control were significant and beneficial to the company. Perhaps
even more important is that despite these
unprecedented economic times, Rezidor
remains a market leader and one of the fastest growing hotel companies worldwide.
2009 was another record year of hotel
openings for us: We brought 36 new prop-
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erties with a total of 7,100 rooms into the
system. In addition, a large number of
rooms were radically refurbished during
the year, further reinforcing our status as
the European hotel company with the freshest room inventory. We also signed 39 new
contracts in 2009, totalling 7,800 rooms,
which further expanded our impressive pipeline to 103 hotels and 22,500 rooms – today
we have the leading European pipeline in the
up- and mid-scale segments.
A healthy, organic and profitable
growth is our target. We strongly focus on
an asset-light business model and on feebased contracts with limited or no risk. We
also concentrate on young and emerging
markets: Russia and CIS and Africa are our
key areas for future business development
– regions where new and advanced political and economical systems allow new and
future infrastructure, where many capital
and major cities are lacking internationally
branded hotels and where Rezidor benefits
from a clear first mover advantage. Thanks
to our pioneering spirit years ago, we are
today the leading international player in

“2009 was another record year of
hotel openings for us. We brought
36 new properties with a total of
7,100 rooms into the system”
Russia and CIS (46 hotels with 11,700 rooms
in operation and under development), and
have built up a young and dynamic team in
Africa which made us one of the movers and
shakers on the continent. In 2010 alone, we
have scheduled new openings in African
capital cities such as Lusaka, Zambia; Addis
Ababa, Ethiopia; Maputo, Mozambique; and
Lagos, Nigeria.
In all these African countries, the majority of openings will be under our core brand
Radisson Blu. 2009 was the year when we
moved from Radisson SAS to Radisson Blu
– a name change which was a consequence
of Rezidor’s IPO in November 2006, and
a successful re-branding has taken place
across Europe, the Middle East and Africa.
Radisson Blu is a small but significant name
change – keeping the legendary “blue box”
which has become the recognised symbol
of the distinctive characteristics of the
R adisson brand in EMEA, but adding a

contemporary, relevant and edgy new name
which adds modernity to the brand without
taking it too far away from its roots. Radisson
Blu preserves the continuity of our unique
brand, while taking it that one essential step
forward to more accurately represent its true
position and future ambitions.
But of course, our business development
is not all about Radisson Blu. In 2009 our
young and dynamic mid-market brand Park
Inn was introduced into the Middle East,
where the industry sees over-established five
star and luxury segments, but huge oppor
tunities in the mid-scale market. In our
European home markets Park Inn celebrated
another success. The brand has been awarded by J.D.Power and Associates and ranks
highest in guest satisfaction in its segment.
In 2009 we even opened the very first
of a brand new hotel brand – Hotel Missoni
Edinburgh welcomed the first guests in June.
Hotel Missoni, developed in cooperation
with the iconic Italian fashion house Missoni
and under the creative leadership of Rosita
Missoni herself, is a new and distinctively
different kind of lifestyle hotel targeting welltravelled individuals with a strong interest in
design, an understanding of food and wine,
a belief in authenticity, and a cognisance of
culture from a contemporary point of view.
Further Hotel Missonis are currently under
development in Kuwait, Cape Town, Oman,
and even Brazil.
In Q4 2009 Rezidor saw the first glimpses
of sunshine, among them occupancy numbers
which almost reached 2008 level. This indicates that perhaps a stabilisation in demand
is forthcoming. This is normally followed
first by increasing occupancy and then by
increased room rates. Visibility, however, is
still limited; it is still difficult to forecast how
long it will take for increasing occupancy and
rates to show – and stabilise – as a trend.
One of our big challenges remains to improve
profitability in Western Europe – or rather,
the Rest of Western Europe, as the Nordics
performed comparatively well in this severe
downturn. Western Europe is a mature
market, with a high proportion of hotels not
operating under international brands, and
competition is tough – even during normal
market conditions. Rezidor is addressing
these issues with both top-line growth initiatives and cost management programmes. We
are now fine-tuning our growth strategy for
Europe, especially for Park Inn. From now
on, we will go deeper into existing markets,
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such as Russia, Germany and the UK, rather than
entering new ones.
Cash and margin protection have been top priorities from the beginning of the crisis and remain so,
as we begin 2010. Our current financial priorities
include keeping the new level of fixed costs. We will
keep central costs on the current level moving into
2010. CAPEX (investments) will be on a lower level
than in 2008 and 2007 – and the good news is that
there is little CAPEX associated with realising our
asset-light pipeline. Furthermore, when the rooms
in our pipeline start doing business, this will lead to
an EBITDA margin expansion of 2–2.5% pts, which
will be helpful going forward.
We have initiated a more radical portfolio
management strategy, including re-negotiating or
amending the terms of our hotel contracts to better
suit the requirements of today’s market. We’re also
looking at non-core assets and at divesting sliver
equity in properties that do not fit well with our
strategy.
Whether times are good or bad – the key to our
success is our people. Rezidor has always been a pure
people business. Our vision and mission “Yes I Can!”
is our strongest skill for the future. We have highly
motivated people who are going the extra mile each
and every day, who make our guests happy and turn
them into repeat customers. We offer unique training and development programmes on all levels – and
after receiving our latest employee satisfaction score,
I’m very confident we will succeed. Despite the very
tough year, with a big workload all round – and staff
having to do more with less – we scored the highest
employee satisfaction in our history.
2010 is a new challenge which we all tackle
together – and 2010 is also a time of celebration
for our company. 50 years ago we opened our first
hotel (the world’s first designer hotel!) – the legendary (Radisson Blu) Hotel Royal in Copenhagen,
designed by Arne Jacobsen. He not only developed
the sleek high-rise building itself; he also created
many of his most famous, iconic furniture designs
– including the Egg Chair and the Swan Chair, to
mention the two most celebrated.
50 years of Rezidor – this is a year where we look
back on a unique history which began in Scandi
navia and spread over Europe, the Middle East and
Africa, and on a unique growth especially during
the last two decades. This is also a year where we
look ahead into a future of innovative hospitality,
of a profitable and responsible business. We might
not throw dozens of lavish parties in the 60 plus
countries where we have hotels in operation and
under development, but we will celebrate our spirit
and Z-factor which makes us so special for our
guests, employees, owners, developers, investors
and further stakeholders – and we will celebrate
and further develop our business, the business of
worldwide, world class hospitality.

“We have initiated a more radical portfolio management strategy, including
re-negotiating or amending the terms
of our hotel contracts to better suit the
requirements of today’s market.”

Brussels in March 2010

Kurt Ritter
President and CEO
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The Rezidor	
The Rezidor Hotel Group is one of the fastest growing hospitality
management companies in Europe, the Middle East and Africa (EMEA).
The hotels in our portfolio are principally operated under two key
brands, Radisson Blu and Park Inn, but also under our two develop
ment brands, Regent and Hotel Missoni. In addition, the Country
Inn brand provides us with a possibility to develop a limited service
brand in the EMEA region in the future. We develop and license
Radisson, Park Inn and Regent under a Master Franchise Agree

ment with Carlson, a leading U.S. travel and hospitality company,
which is also Rezidor’s largest shareholder. Hotel Missoni is oper
ated under a worldwide licensing agreement with the Italian fash
ion house Missoni. As of December 31, 2009, we had 286 hotels
(60,600 rooms) in operation and 103 hotels (22,500 rooms)
under development.

Geogr a phica l presence
Rezidor have hotels in operation and under development in more than 60 countries.
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machine
2009 Highlights AND LOW LIGHTS

	RevPAR like-for-like fell by 16% to EUR 63 (75)
	Revenue down 14% to MEUR 677 (785)
	EBITDA was MEUR 5 (71) and EBITDA margin 1% (9)
	Loss after tax was MEUR –28 (26)
	Operational cost savings of MEUR 32 and additional
reductions of approximately MEUR 4 in central costs

	The board recommends no dividend for 2009
	Record of 7,100 net rooms additions to operation
	Signings of 7,800 rooms, taking pipeline to
22,500 rooms
	New markets: Angola, Brazil, Luxembourg,
Macedonia, Mongolia and Zambia

HOTEL EXPANSION
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Contr act t y pes
Rezidor has adopted an asset-light business model of leasing,
managing and franchising hotels, without owning property assets.
This allows us to focus on managing hotels and brands without the
capital requirements attached to property ownership. Management

contracts can be “committed”, i.e. with some sort of performance
g uarantee, or “un-committed”. Our asset-light business model
focusses on un-committed management and franchise contracts.

Franchised

Managed

Leased

Brand, marketing, distibution,
reservation, purchasing

Rezidor

Rezidor

Rezidor

Employees

Third party

Third party

Rezidor

Financial commitment by Rezidor

None

In some cases,
performance guarantees

Rent – fixed or variable

Maintenance investments by Rezidor

None

None

4–5% of leased revenue

Revenue for Rezidor

Fees as % of room revenue

Fees as % of revenue & GOP

All revenue

EBITDA margin

40–60%

60–80%

8–15%
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The Br a nds

191 hotels; 43,568 rooms in operation
45 hotels; 11,521 rooms in pipeline
Radisson Blu is a first-class, full service contemporary
hotel brand, mainly operated under management agreements but also under lease- and
franchise agreements. All hotels offer our “Yes I Can!” values, treating every guest as an
individual by combining one-to-one hospitality with creative service.
Read more about Radisson Blu on page 12 in the corporate presentation.

87 hotels; 16,121 rooms in operation
51 hotels; 9,408 rooms in pipeline
Park Inn is a fresh and energetic upcoming mid-market hotel brand,
mainly operated under franchise agreements and to a lesser extent under
lease and management agreements. Park Inn hotels focus on offering
the core essentials for a convenient and enjoyable hotel experience.
Read more about Park Inn on page 16 in the corporate presentation.

1 hotel; 136 rooms in operation
4 hotels; 696 rooms in pipeline
Hotel Missoni represents a new standard of design hotel that combines the style
of the iconic fashion and interiors label with the expertise of one of the world’s leading
hotel operators. Missoni is operated under lease or management agreements.
Read more about Hotel Missoni on page 18 in the corporate presentation.

3 hotels; 554 rooms in operation
3 hotels; 928 rooms in pipeline
Regent is a full service, luxury brand targeting primarily individuals,
who value a contemporary approach to traditional luxury and timeless traditions.
Regent is operated under lease or management agreements.
Read more about Regent on page 19 in the corporate presentation.

2 hotels; 133 rooms in operation
0 hotel; 0 rooms in pipeline
Country Inn is a limited services brand. Country Inn hotels offer personal,
warm hospitality and comfortable, country-like accommodation at a two-star level.
The Country Inn brand is a developing brand that is currently under review by Rezidor.
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Budget

Economy

Mid-market

First-class

Luxury

Br a nd positioning

Minimum Service

Limited Service

Full Service
Source: HVS Research

Ex a mples of Competing Br a nds
Regent

Missoni

Radisson Blu

Park Inn

St. Regis, Westin, Grand Hyatt,
Fairmont, Shangri-La, Four
Seasons, One-and-Only, RitzCarlton

W Hotels, Morgans,
Bulgari, Armani

Marriott, Hilton,
Sheraton, Sofitel

Novotel, Scandic,
Holiday Inn

History

1960

1980

1995

1997

2001

2002

2005

2006

2009

Scandinavian Airlines
System (SAS)
opens
its first hotel:
SAS Royal
Hotel
Copenhagen
– the world’s
first
designer
hotel.

First hotel
outside
Scandinavia,
SAS Hotel
Kuwait.

First Master
Franchise
Agreement
with Carlson
is signed,
Radisson
SAS is born.

Strategic
decision to
become
asset-light;
focus on
hospitality
management
and divest
hotel
properties.

SAS
International
Hotels is
renamed
Rezidor SAS
Hospitality.

Multi-brand
Master
Franchise
Agreement
that added
three other
Carlson
brands:
Park Inn,
Regent &
Country Inn.

Master
Franchise
Agreement
renegotiated
with Carlson.
Worldwide
licensing
agreement
with Missoni
fashion
house;
Hotel
Missoni
is born.

Rezidor goes
public on the
Stockholm
Stock
Exchange.
SAS 
divests
almost all
shares and
Carlson
becomes the
largest
shareholder.
Rezidor SAS
becomes The
Rezidor
Hotel Group.

Radisson
SAS
becomes
Radisson
Blu.
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CFO statement

TOUGH TIMES,
TOUGHER MEASURES
RevPAR for Rezidor came under additional
pressure as the company saw a record number
of new rooms opening in 2009. Initially, new
hotels have a negative impact on group RevPAR
before they catch up with the performance of
established hotels.

Rezidor’s RevPAR was still weak in the
fourth quarter of 2009, although occupancy
was flat compared to the same period last
year. Stabilisation in demand is normally
followed by growth in occupancy and, eventually, by an increase in room rates. The
view in the market is that RevPAR in 2010
will be in the same territory as in 2009,
with momentum expected to be picked up
towards the latter half of 2010. For Rezidor,
this calls for a sustained focus on tight cost
control and cash protection.

From operational and financial standpoints, 2009 has been mostly about
defending margins and protecting
cash. This was crucial in a year when
market RevPAR in Europe fell by more
than 17% year-on-year. For Rezidor,
1 EUR drop in RevPAR translates into
5–6 MEUR drop in EBITDA.
Our RevPAR was hit in line with the market
– initially from a drop in occupancy levels –
followed by a fall in average room rates in most
established markets. For the full year, RevPAR
like-for-like dropped to EUR 63 or by 16%. The
decline in RevPAR became increasingly rate
driven towards the end of the year. RevPAR for
the first half of the year was down by 19%, of
which occupancy contributed 10%, compared
to the second half of the year when RevPAR
fell by 13%, of which only 3% was due to occupancy.

8
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EBITDA break-even now
achieved with lower RevPAR
At the end of 2009, Rezidor’s EBITDA
breakeven point required approximately
EUR 57 in RevPAR. Back in 2003, during the
previous down-turn, we operated below the
then break-even RevPAR of EUR 60. Lowering the break-even point from EUR 60 to 57

“ We have successfully pursued our
asset-light expansion, reducing
risks by adding mainly fee-based
instead of leased contracts to our
portfolio.”
is not only the result of an increased oper
ational efficiency, but also the ongoing shift
in business model. As part of our strategy,
we have primarily added high-margin, fee
based rooms, surpassing the targets we had
set at the IPO. This is a development we are
very pleased to have accomplished.

An aggressive
cost-cutting plan
At an early stage of the crisis in 2008, Rezidor
put an aggressive cost cutting programme
into operation. The programme was successfully implemented in 2009, with annual
savings of MEUR 32 in operational costs
and additional reductions of approximately
MEUR 4 in central costs.
We believe that we have established the
right cost base to successfully come through
a prolonged downturn. As long as RevPAR
does not continue to drop in 2010, we do not
plan to cut the cost base any further. This
process has entailed switching as many costs
as possible from fixed to variable, as well as
reducing our fixed costs. This in turn enables
us to respond quickly to market fluctuations,
be they positive or negative. However, it is
important to maintain, as much as feasible,
the new level of fixed costs, even as demand
returns to normal. Downturns are painful, but they do assist us in becoming more
efficient and streamlined. We are confident
that Rezidor will come out of these challenging times as a healthier company.
Shift in the business model
Value-enhancing portfolio management and
profitable growth remain the key strategies
for Rezidor. While leases are usually very
profitable in good times, they add to the overall risk of the company in downturns, with
Rezidor incurring the associated losses. In
order to diversify these risks, we successfully
continue to shift our business model, growing increasingly asset-light by adding mainly
fee-based contracts to our portfolio. From
that perspective, we opened only 5 leases
out of 36 (33) hotels in 2009. Of the 60,600
rooms in operation by year-end 2009, 27%
were lease contracts, 50% managed and 23%
franchised.
When we went public in late 2006,
Rezidor set a target to open 20,000 rooms
between 2007 and 2009, of which 80% were
to be managed and franchised contracts and
20% leased contracts.

CFO statement

At the end of 2009, we had opened 18,600
rooms over this three-year period, of which
90% were management and franchise
contracts and only 10% were lease contracts.
Furthermore, more than 80% of the added
management contracts had no financial
guarantees. Given the tough financial
markets, we were broadly in line with our
growth target, and also managed to improve
the overall quality of the contract mix.

Strong financial platform
In 2009, operating revenue decreased by
14% to MEUR 677 (785). Fee-based revenue
amounted to MEUR 71 (83), and leased
business revenue was MEUR 592 (691). The
shift to fee-based revenue has slowed down
top-line development – we have to add some
fifteen fee-based contracts to match the
revenue of one lease contract – but it is the

EBITDAR – A key KPI
Rezidor’s revenue from a managed property typically consists of a base fee of total
revenues and an incentive fee of GOP (Gross
Operating Profit).
The EBITDAR or GOP margin is,
perhaps, the most important key performance indicator of operational efficiency
in a more or less pure hotel management
company, as it measures income before
rent payments. With a 31 (35)% EBITDAR
margin, we are still one of the best in our
peer group.
Historically, in some cases, Rezidor has
committed to delivering a minimum GOPbased income to property owners. Such
financial guarantees add to our risk profile
in a downturn. However, given our ongoing asset-light growth and a reduced cost
base, we have established an even stronger
EBITDAR potential going forward. To illustrate the point, in 2009, we signed only two
contracts with performance guarantees –
including one leased.

“To cope with the challenging market conditions we have
switched as many costs as possible
from fixed to variable. In addition, we have further reduced our
fixed costs base. This enables us to
respond quickly to market fluctuations, be they positive or negative.”

RevPAR, EUR

key to improving profit margins, and, in a
climate like the current one, to defending
them. Everything else being constant, we
expect that when the contracted pipeline,
that will open in 3 to 4 years, hits the runrate operation, it will improve the group
EBITDA margin by 2–2.5% pts. That is why
asset-light growth is one of the key strategies
to achieving the 12% EBITDA margin we
have targeted over a business cycle.
Cash protection also continues to be a
top priority. Reducing negative cash flow has

EBITDAR Margin, %

100

to be carried out market by market, property by property. It is vital to strike the right
balance between CAPEX and the need to
invest. Our asset-light growth model calls
for very limited investment in our contracted
pipeline, but we must reinvest in older leased
hotels to keep our competitive advantage.
Rezidor has a strong financial platform
and is pursuing the right strategies to meet
its stated targets. At the end of 2009, the
company had a small net debt of MEUR
8 (18 in net cash), balance sheet total of
MEUR 357 (384) with an available liquidity
of MEUR 92 (124).
To ensure our fast pace growth, it has
become increasingly important that property owners have funding in place for new
projects. We put considerable time into
analysing how every new project is financed.
We have close co-operation with major
financial institutions and high net worth
individuals. When required and feasible, we
also facilitate the process of bringing interested parties together with the objective of
successfully closing a deal. Furthermore,
we have established partnerships, notably
with the Nordic governmental development
funds, to provide active financial support to
projects in emerging markets.
A good relationship with property
owners is the key to our expansion as well as
to our quest for operational excellence. This
has always been one of Rezidor’s strengths,
and the one on which we will continue to
build the future of our company.
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Board of Directors’ Report
The Board of Directors and the President
and Chief Executive Officer of the Rezidor
Hotel Group AB, corporate registration
number 556674-0964, hereby submit the
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial
Statements for the financial year 2009.
Operations
The Rezidor Hotel Group is one of the fastest
growing hotel companies in the world. The
hotels in the portfolio are principally operated under two key brands, Radisson Blu and
Park Inn, plus three development brands,
Regent, Hotel Missoni and Country Inn.
As of December 31st 2009, Rezidor had
286 hotels in operation and 103 hotels under
development, mainly located in EMEA
(Europe, the Middle East and Africa). This
corresponds to approximately 83,200 rooms
of which, 22,500 are under development.
Rezidor develops and licenses the
R adisson Blu, Park Inn, Regent and Country
Inn brands in the EMEA area under Master
Franchise Agreements with Carlson Group, a
leading U.S. travel and hospitality company.
Rezidor benefits from Carlson’s global brand
infrastructure, reservation system and
other business initiatives. The licenses from
Carlson are in effect until 2052, including
Rezidor’s extension options. In addition,
Rezidor has a world-wide licence agreement
with the fashion house Missoni for the development of hotels under the Hotel Missoni
brand name.
Rezidor operates a carefully diversified
portfolio of brands covering most of the hotel
market segments: luxury, lifestyle, first-class

full service, and mid-market full service. Of
the key brands, Radisson Blu is a first-class,
full service brand, while Park Inn is a midmarket, full service brand. Of the development brands, Regent is a traditional luxury
brand, Hotel Missoni is a developed lifestyle
brand and Country Inn is to be developed
into a limited service brand.
Rezidor is focussing on hotel management. Currently, all hotels in Rezidor’s portfolio are either operated by Rezidor under a
lease or a management agreement, or by a
separate operator using one of the Rezidor
brands under a franchise agreement. Of
the more than 60,600 rooms in operation
by the end of 2009, 73% were managed or
franchised.
Pipeline
During 2009, Rezidor signed 39 hotel agreements which represented a total of 7,800
rooms. By the end of the year Rezidor had a
contracted pipeline (hotel projects officially
signed with no condition precedent), of more
than 22,500 rooms out of which 91% were
managed or franchised. While the turmoil
in the financial markets may result in some
reduction to that pipeline, it is nonetheless
a significant asset to the company when the
rooms come into operation.
A DIFFICULT YEAR
The effects from the financial crisis and the
recession that followed, hit the hotel industry
dramatically in 2009 with a sharp RevPAR
decline of a magnitude hardly seen before.
All Rezidor’s segments noted double digit

RevPAR drops. The fall in occupancy that
started already in 2008, escalated during the
first half of the year and only flattened out
in last quarter 2009. At the same time, the
average house rate also started to decline and
this economic downturn therefore followed
the same pattern as previous ones, with an
initial fall in occupancy followed by a drop in
rates. When the year ended, rates were still
below those of last year, whereas occupancy
had started to increase again.
Rezidor initiated a cost savings
programme already in 2008 to meet the
coming recession and it was later extended
so that it in 2009 encompassed both annual
savings of MEUR 30 in operations and an
additional MEUR 4 saving in central costs.
The programme was successfully implemented and the savings targets achieved
in full when the year had ended. The cost
reductions, which primarily targeted fixed
costs, could however only partly offset the
negative effects from the dramatic revenue
drop. Especially since the drop was mainly
rate driven, adversely affecting the margins,
and as a consequence Rezidor had to report
a loss for the first time since 2003.
Cost controlling and cash preserving
activities were in focus throughout the year.
However, this did not stop Rezidor from
pursuing its growth strategy, and 2009
became a record year of openings with more
than 7,000 rooms added to operations.
Following the strategy to shift the hotel
portfolio towards fee-based contracts, 87%
of these new rooms were fee-based. The
pipeline also grew by close to 8,000 rooms,

In operation as of Dec 31st, 2009
Rezidor
total

Number of hotels
Number of rooms
Countries
Occupancy, % 1)
RevPar, EUR 1)

286
60,646
48
59.5
57.8

Radisson		
Country
Blu	Park Inn	Inn

191
43,568
48
62.2
65.9

87
16,121
22
52.6
33.6

Regent

2
133
2
–
–

3
554
3
–
–

Radisson		
Country
Blu	Park Inn	Inn

Regent

Missoni	Un-branded

1
136
1
–
–

2
134
2
–
–

1) Including leased and managed hotels in operation.

Pipeline as of Dec 31st, 2009
Rezidor
total

Number of hotels
Number of rooms
Countries
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103
22,553
37

45
11,521
26

51
9,408
18

–
–
–

3
928
3

Missoni	Un-branded

4
696
4

–
–
–
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Rooms in operation,
by Brand, 2009

■ Radisson Blu, 72%
■ Park Inn, 27%
■ Others, 1%
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of which 95% were managed or franchised.
Value enhancing portfolio management and
profitable growth remain important object
ives for Rezidor.
RevPAR
Total RevPAR for the Group was EUR 57.8.
Like-for-like RevPAR declined by –16.4%,
FX and new hotels had a negative impact of
–3.1% and –2.2% respectively, and the total
reported RevPAR decline was –21.7%. The
negative impact from FX was mainly due
to the depreciation of the GBP (ca –11%), the
SEK (ca –10%) and the NOK (ca –6%) versus
the EUR. However, the CHF appreciated by
ca 5% and the USD (and USD linked currencies in the Middle East) by ca 5% versus
the EUR during the year. All geographic
segments noted a decrease in average room
rate and occupancy levels.
Like-for-like RevPAR
In the Nordics, like-for-like RevPAR
declined by –11.1%. Like-for-like Occupancy was down –7.3% for the full year, but
witnessed an improvement by the end of the
year. Although stable the first months of the
year, average room rate weakened as the year
progressed, but managed to improve the
last month and 2009 came in –4.2% below
that of last year. In Norway, Denmark and
Sweden, like-for-like RevPAR declined by
12.2%, 11.2% and 10.8% respectively.
Rest of Western Europe noted a decline of
14.9% based on lower occupancy and average
room rates. Like-for-like average room rate
decline was relatively consistent throughout
the year and came in –10.9% below that of
last year. However, like-for-like occupancy
decline slowed in the latter half of the year
as the economic situation improved. Likefor-like occupancy was down –4.5% for the
full year. The negative RevPAR development
was especially noticed in the Netherlands
(–27.5%), Ireland (–23.9%) and Switzerland
(–21.3%).
Eastern Europe witnessed the strongest
Like-for-like RevPAR decline (–29.0%). The
decline in Like-for-like average room rate
was the highest out of the four regions, with
exceptional drops in quarter one and two.
Like-for-like Occupancy decreased significantly in the first half of the year with only a
modest drop in the second half of the year.
The significant like-for-like RevPAR decline
in Russia (–41.3%) impacted the overall
performance of the region.
Like-for-like RevPAR in the Middle East,
Africa and Others declined by 15.2%. This
was a combination of average room rate and
occupancy declines. The UAE recorded the
weakest performance (like-for-like RevPAR
–32.1%) while Saudi Arabia (+12.0% – coming
from both average room rate and occupancy
growth) was the strongest performer.
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Income Statement
for the Period

The consequences from the recession conti
nued throughout 2009 but seem to have
bottomed out by the end of the year, especially in the Nordics and ROWE.
Like-for like revenue decreased by
MEUR 105.9, or 13.6%. The positive contribution from new hotels and the post renovation ramp-up of hotels in the UK was offset
by a negative impact from FX of MEUR 28.2
and Total Revenue came in MEUR 107.7
below that of last year, a drop of 13.7%. The
decline in revenue is in line with the decrease
in RevPAR and was mainly the result of the
weakened demand from corporate and
business groups as well as crew, which had a
negative impact on both rooms revenue and
food and beverage revenue (including meetings and events).
The decline in fee revenue is a consequence of and in line with the decline in
RevPAR and was down 14.3%. The decrease
for the Nordics is steeper because of franchise hotels leaving the system. The decline
in RevPAR in RoWE and Eastern Europe
could only be partially compensated by the
addition of new hotels.
Other revenue increased due to compensation received from the Carlson Group
related to the sale of rights to use certain
intellectual property owned by Rezidor.
Pre-opening costs were slightly down
compared to last year. The addition of new
leased hotels, increased energy costs as well
as higher travel agent commission costs when
some of the lost higher yielding volumes were
replaced by leisure individuals, negatively
impacted the operational costs. Overall,
costs however went down as the company had
to adapt the cost structure to the declining
revenue. The special cost cutting programme
has given rise to savings of MEUR 33.6
during the year, which together with redundancy costs of MEUR 1.8 had a net positive
EBITDAR impact of MEUR 31.8. Central
costs amounted to MEUR 37.9 and were
MEUR 4.7 (9%) below the same period last
year. The number includes redundancy costs
of ca MEUR 1.1.
The dramatic decline in revenue caused
by a mainly rate driven drop in RevPAR,
together with the addition of several new
leased hotels in their ramp-up phase had a
negative effect on EBITDAR and adversely
affected the EBITDAR margin. The various
cost saving activities could only partly offset
the negative trend. The effect from FX on
EBITDAR for the year was ca MEUR –8.1.
EBITDAR margin dropped from 35.1% last
year to 31.0% in 2009.

Rental Expenses (excluding shortfall
payments) decreased in absolute terms as a
result of lower variable rent in the Nordics,
but saw an increase as a percentage of revenue
due to the fixed rent structure in ROWE
and the additional new hotels. The Shortfall payments for management contracts
with a performance clause, included in the
Rental expense line, increased due to the
poor market conditions and only stabilised
in the last quarter of the year as some of the
contracts reached their cap on guarantees.
The effect from FX on EBITDA for the
year was ca MEUR 1.4. The lower EBITDAR
margin together with the fixed rent structure
in ROWE and the increased shortfall guarantees made the EBITDA margin drop from
9.0% last year to 0.7% in 2009. The decrease
in Share of Income from Associates and Joint
Ventures, which followed the overall decline
in the market, also had a negative effect on
the margin.
Depreciation, amortisation and writedowns noted an increase in real terms and
as a percent of leased hotel revenue. The
increase was mainly caused by renovation
works carried out last year. The line includes
write-downs of fixed assets of MEUR 2.3
(2.2 last year).
The financial net deteriorated in line
with the drop in cash flow from operations
and the corresponding increase in the use of
overdraft facilities and was also negatively
impacted by exchange losses.
The increase in the effective tax rate
compared to last year is due to higher tax
losses during the period in countries where
not all losses are capitalised as deferred tax
assets.
The Nordics
Like-for-like RevPAR declined by 11.1% and
had a negative effect on revenues. Leased
hotel revenue benefitted marginally from the
opening of one additional leased property,
but was negatively affected by FX. The fee
income was further reduced by the loss of
some hotels under franchise agreement.
EBITDA margins for leased hotels
declined and were under pressure because
of the drop in revenue. Increased energy
costs, the opening of a new hotel under a
lease agreement and the increased preopening expenses also had a negative impact
on operational expenses. The cost cutting
programme and the variable lease structure
mitigated the negative effects and the leased
EBITDA margin came in at 11.7%, compared
to 16.2% last year.
EBITDA and EBITDA margins for
managed and franchised hotels was lower
than last year due to increased provisions
for doubtful accounts and certain one-offs
in both 2008 and 2009.
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Rest of Western Europe
Like-for-like RevPAR dropped by 14.9%
and the decline in revenue was in line with
the RevPAR trend. Total leased revenue
was positively impacted by the opening of
several leased hotels, but negatively affected
by the weaker GBP compared to last year.
Fee income from managed and franchised
hotels is in line with the decline in RevPAR.
The addition of several properties under
franchise agreements softened this negative
trend.
Cost cutting measures were undertaken
to meet the negative trend from the mainly
rate driven drop in revenue, but could only
partially offset the adverse effects on EBITDA
and EBITDA margin. The pre-opening costs
decreased compared to 2008, but increased
energy costs, higher travel agent commissions and the fixed rent commitments in
Belgium, Germany and the UK also helped
to put margins under pressure. EBITDA
margin was –8.0% compared to 0.4% last
year.
The EBITDA margin for managed
contracts was severely affected by the
increase in guarantee payments (MEUR 9.1)
and came in at –3.9% compared to 46.3%
in 2008. Fee revenue as well as EBITDA
for franchise contracts noted an increase,
mainly coming from a one-off fee for one
hotel in France.
Eastern Europe
With the most dramatic drop in like-forlike RevPAR of 29%, new managed hotels
could not materially help the situation and
both fee revenue and EBITDA in Eastern
Europe went down. The margins remained
relatively stable though as some hotels with
performance guarantees reached their cap,
preventing a dramatic increase in shortfall
guarantees like the one seen in ROWE. The
contribution from franchised hotels was
marginal.
The Middle East, Africa and Others
Although Like-for-Like RevPAR declined by
15.6%, the fee income increased as a result
of a number of hotels joining the system.
Despite the increase in revenue, EBITDA
as well as EBITDA margin noted a minor
decrease, mainly related to provisions for
doubtful receivables.
Balance Sheet end of 2009
Compared to year-end 2008, Non-Current
Assets have increased mainly due to investments during the year, positive exchange
differences related to the Nordics since
year-end 08 and an increase in deferred tax
assets as a result of capitalised tax loss carry
forward in certain countries.
Net working capital, excluding Cash and
Cash Equivalents but including current tax
assets and liabilities, at the end of the period

was MEUR –46.7 (–55.8 at year-end 08).
Cash and Cash Equivalents went down from
MEUR 26.4 at year-end 08 to MEUR 5.1 and
bank overdrafts increased from MEUR 8.2
at year-end 08 to MEUR 12.6.
Compared to year-end 08, Equity went
down by MEUR 17.6, mainly as a result of
the loss for the period. Exchange differences from translation of foreign operations
including tax effects had a positive effect on
Equity of MEUR 9.8.
Following an increased focus on port
folio management, MEUR 7.4 of the assets
and MEUR 0.6 of the liabilities were classified as held for sale.
Cash Flow for the Period
Cash flow from operating activities amounted to MEUR –6.1 during the year, which
was MEUR 68.0 below that of last year. The
negative development to last year is almost
entirely a result of the operating loss incurred
during the year.
Cash flow from change in working capital
followed the seasonal pattern from previous
years, but came in MEUR 5.8 below that of
last year. A strong focus on working capital
throughout the year, such as efforts in bringing down accounts receivables and keeping
operating liabilities at a stable level has given
positive results, especially in Q2 and Q3.
However, despite these efforts, cash flow from
change in working capital was negative in
Q4, both in real terms and compared to last
year. This was mainly related to a decrease
in liabilities. Compared to last year, accounts
payables and accrued expenses went down in
December due to lower renovation activities
and less variable rent.
Cash flow from investing activities
amounted to MEUR –23.5 (–36.4) and was
primarily related to investments in leased
hotels. Due to strong focus on cash management and cost control, the investments were
considerably lower in 09 than in previous
years. Cash flow from investing activities
also includes a cash outflow of MEUR –2.9
related to the final settlement of the acquisition of shares in subsidiaries prior years and
a cash inflow of MEUR 2.5 from the sale of
other shares and participations.
Cash flow from financing activities
amounted to MEUR 7.9 and was mostly
related to an increased utilisation of overdraft facilities, following the negative operational performance during the year. Last
year the overdraft went down during the
same period.
Total credit facilities available for use
amounted to MEUR 106.8 of varied terms
and with no covenants. MEUR 2.4 was
used for bank guarantees and MEUR 12.6
was used as overdrafts, leaving MEUR 91.8
available for use. At the end of December 09,
Rezidor had MEUR 5.2 in Cash and Cash
Equivalents.

Net interest bearing assets (including
pension assets and retirement benefit oblig
ations) amounted to MEUR 9.6 (44.0 at
year-end 08). Net cash/debt, defined as Cash
and Cash Equivalents plus short-term interest-bearing assets (with maturity within 3
months) minus interest-bearing financial
liabilities (short-term & long-term), amounted to MEUR –7.5 (18.2 at year-end 08).
Other Important
Developments
Research published in 2009 has given
Rezidor several recognitions: The market
researcher BDRC positions Radisson Blu as
the most preferred hotel chain in the Nordics.
Consumer satisfaction data collected by the
well known researcher J D Powers ranks
Park Inn number one in guest satisfaction in the mid-scale full service segment
in Europe. The hotel consultancy company
HVS ranks Rezidor highest in its European
Hotel Corporate Governance survey.
Risk Management
Rezidor Hotel Group AB is exposed to oper
ational and financial risks in the day-to-day
running of the business. Operational risks
occur mainly in running the local businesses,
whereas financial risks arise because Rezidor
has external financing needs and operates
in a number of foreign currencies. To allow
local businesses to fully focus on their operations, financial risk management is central
ised as far as possible to group management,
governed by Rezidor’s finance policy.
The objectives of Rezidor’s risk management may be summarised as follows:
■■

■■

■■

■■
■■

ensure that the risks and benefits of new
investments and contingent liabilities are
in line with Rezidor’s finance policy;
reduce business cycle risks through
brand diversity, geographic diversification and by ensuring there is an appropriate mix of leased, managed and franchised hotels;
carefully evaluate investments in highrisk regions, matching this with premium
returns on investments;
protect brand values through strategic
control and operational policies;
review and assess Rezidor’s insurance
programmes on an on-going basis.

Operational Risks
Market Risks
The general market, economic, financial
conditions and the development of RevPAR
in the markets where Rezidor operates are
the most important factors influencing the
company’s earnings. As the hotel business
is by its nature cyclical the current recession
puts industry RevPAR under pressure.
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In order to balance the market related
risks Rezidor use three different business
models:
the company leases hotel properties and
operate the hotels as its own operations
■■ the company manages a hotel on behalf
of a hotel owner and receives a management fee
■■ the company franchises one of its brands
to an independent owner and receives a
franchise fee
■■

Out of the three contract types the management and franchise models are the most
resilient whilst the leased model is more
volatile and sensitive to market fluctuations.
Rezidor operate leased hotels only in Northern or Western Europe. Rezidor’s strategy
is to grow by adding mainly managed and
franchised hotel to the portfolio.
The client base is well distributed.
Rezidor is not dependent on a small number
of customers or any particular industry.
Rezidor operate a well defined multibrand portfolio of hotels covering different
segments of the market.
Political Risks
Rezidor is operating in Europe, Middle East
and Africa (EMEA). The company’s growth
focus includes emerging markets as Russia
& CIS, Middle East and Africa with a higher
political risk than the more mature markets
of Northern and Western Europe.
In order to balance the political risks
Rezidor only operates under management
contracts with no or limited financial exposure in the emerging markets.
Rezidor acknowledges that terrorism
as well as other issues such as social unrest,
crime and weakness of local infrastructure
can be threats to safe and secure hotel oper
ations at certain times in certain locations.
With the aid of external expertise threat
assessments are continuously carried out
and hotels notified if a possible change in
their threat situation is detected.
Partner Risks
The company doesn’t own the brands under
which the hotels are operated. Rezidor develops and operates the brands Radisson Blu,
Park Inn, Regent and Country Inn in EMEA
under a master franchise agreement with
Carlson Group of the US and the agreement
runs until 2052. Carlson is the largest shareholder in Rezidor.
Hotel Missoni is Rezidor’s fifth brand
and the company has the world wide rights
to the brand until 2020. The brand is owned
by the Italian fashion house Missoni.
Rezidor doesn’t own the real estate in
which the company operates hotels. The
company cooperate with a large number
of hotel owners and real estate owners and
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is not dependent on any particular partner. With a business model focussing on
managing its partner’s assets under lease,
management or franchise contracts, Rezidor
is dependent on these partners’ operational
and financial capabilities.
Employee Related Risks
The employee turn over in the hospitality
industry is relatively high. The job satisfaction among employees in Rezidor’s hotels is
assessed by an independent organisation on
an annual basis.
Financial risks
Rezidor’s financial risk management is
governed by a finance policy approved by
the Board of Directors. According to the
finance policy, the corporate treasury function of the Company systematically monitors and evaluates the financial risks, such
as foreign exchange, interest rate, credit,
liquidity and market risks. Measures aimed
at managing and handling these financial
risks at the local hotel level are implemented
in a finance manual within the parameters
and guidelines set forth in Rezidor’s finance
policy. Operating routines and delegation
authorisation with regard to financial risk
management are documented in this finance
manual.
According to the finance policy, the treas
ury function may use financial instruments,
such as FX forwards, FX swaps, FX options
and interest rate swaps to hedge against
currency and interest rate risks. At year-end,
the Company had not entered into any hedging contracts. FX swaps have however been
used to reduce the use of overdraft facilities
as described under ‘Liquidity risks’.
Interest Rate Risks
Virtually all financial liabilities and receivables bear floating interest rates. It is the
policy of the Company that borrowings
and investments should have short interest
duration. Since all interest-bearing receivables are measured at amortised cost, there
is no impact from changes in market interest
rates on the carrying values of these receivables and consequently no impact on the
income statement or equity.
The main financing risk is related to
Rezidor’s ability to control and meet the
company’s off-balance sheet commitments
under leases with fixed rent payments and
management agreements with guarantees.
Such fixed lease and guaranteed amounts
have historically been agreed on a fixed rate
basis with indexation as a percent of change
in the relevant consumer price index, and
are therefore not exposed to variations in
the market interest rates. In addition, these
commitments are normally limited to an
agreed maximum financial exposure, which
is usually capped at 2–3 times the annual

guaranteed result under a contract or an
annual minimum lease.
Currency Risks
The Company has operations in a vast
number of countries with many different currencies and is therefore exposed to
currency exchange rate fluctuations. The
most important foreign currencies are the
Swedish Krona (SEK), the Norwegian Krone
(NOK), the Danish Krone (DKK), the U.S.
Dollar (USD) and Pound Sterling (GBP). The
exposure from the DKK is however limited
as the currency is virtually pegged to the
EUR.
When entities within the Group generate revenues and incur costs in different
currencies, they are subject to transaction
exposure. In contrast to the leased business,
where the nature of the business normally
is local and the exposure consequently also
limited, the fee business is generally subject
to a relatively notable transaction exposure.
This transaction exposure arises when fees
are collected by entities located in another
country than that of the hotel from which the
fee originates and is mainly related to fees
from managed and franchised hotels located
outside the Nordics and the Rest of Western Europe. Hotels in these regions with a
large international customer base however
generally adjust their room rates charged
in the local currency to take into account
volatile fluctuations in the EUR, Rezidor’s
reporting currency, or the USD. As a result,
the exposure to exchange rate fluctuations
on fee revenue from Rezidor’s managed and
franchised hotels is mitigated through the
company’s policy to adjust prices based on
fluctuations, except for food and beverage
where Rezidor does not adjust prices.
All hotels use a reservation system that
is set up and managed by the Carlson Group,
for which the hotels pay a fee to the Carlson
Group. The fees are collected centrally by
Rezidor and paid further on to the Carlson
Group. As these fees are paid in USD, the
Group is exposed to fluctuations in the
value of the USD, also affecting the leased
hotels. As for managed and franchised
hotels, this exposure is however limited as
the fees collected from these hotels in USD
also are matched by an outflow in USD when
the fees are paid further on to the Carlson
Group. Rezidor also pays franchise fees to
the Carlson Group for the use of the brand
names as well as a minor portion of the
marketing fees collected. These fees are all
paid in USD. However, as the base for the
calculation of the fees is the revenue of the
hotels in local currency, the transaction
exposure is limited.
The Company presents its financial statements in EUR. Since certain of Rezidor’s
foreign operations have a functional currency other than EUR, the consolidated finan-
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cial statements and shareholders’ equity are
exposed to exchange rate fluctuations when
the income statements and balance sheets in
foreign currencies are translated into EUR.
The exposure on the consolidated equity is
however lowered through the decision to not
own any real estate as this reduces the total
assets denominated in foreign currencies.
Credit Risks
At local hotel level, the credit exposure is
normally limited, as the accounts regularly
are settled in cash or by accepted credit cards.
Credits are only offered to customers under a
contract and only to companies or registered
organisations with a legal structure. Credit
terms must be described in the contract and
comply with the central treasury guidelines
as described in the finance manual. As for
managed and franchised hotels, a thorough
background check of the hotel owner is made
before entering into a new contract, including an investigation of the creditworthiness. The credit term is normally 30 days for
both local hotel customers and for fees. The
central treasury guidelines set strict rules
for the follow-up of receivables overdue and
for credit meetings. In some cases Rezidor
grants loans to owners of Rezidor’s hotels,
or to joint venture partners and associated
companies in early stages of new projects.
The terms for such loans vary, but in principle there is an agreement on interest on the
loans and the repayment schedule is based
on the project opening and project progress.
Based on market conditions, interest rates,
repayment schedules, security arrangements
have been agreed upon.
Cash not necessary for the normal course
of business is deposited in a bank. Central
treasury is responsible to coordinate the
handling of surplus liquidity and liquidity
reserve, and only central treasury or persons
authorised by central treasury may engage
in external investment transactions. Individual hotels and administration units with
excess liquidity which cannot be held on
accounts within the cash pool structure can
invest externally only with a prior consent
of central treasury and in accordance with
the finance policy. According to the finance
policy, the investments of surplus liquidity
can only be made in creditworthy interest
bearing securities, in securities with high
liquidity, in investments/securities/deposits with short-term maturity and as regards
deposits only in financial institutions with a
rating of A-1/P1.
Liquidity Risks
Liquidity risk means that the Company is
unable to meet its payment obligations as a
result of insufficient liquidity or difficulty in
raising external financing. Raising of capital
and placement of excess liquidity is managed
centrally by the central treasury function.

The Group has objectives for liquidity
reserves, such as excess cash and irrevocable
credit facilities, that the Group should have
available at any time. The central treasury
function monitors the cash position of the
different entities within the Group on a daily
basis to ensure an efficient and adequate use
of cash and overdraft facilities.
Rezidor has secured appropriate overdraft and credit facilities through a long
term agreement with a leading European
Bank, with solid credit ratings. The banking structure provides a cross-border cash
pool in which a majority of the cash flows
within the Group is concentrated. Through
this bank agreement, the Company has also
secured combined overdraft and guarantee facilities with varied terms for a total
amount of MEUR 105. In addition, the
Group has credit facilities of MEUR 1.8
granted by other banks. The credit facilities are not subject to any covenants and the
Group has not pledged any assets or given
any guarantees to secure these facilities. In
order to reduce the use of overdraft, Rezidor
regularly enters into short term FX swaps,
in which currencies with deposits in the cash
pool are swapped into currencies with an
overdraft in the cash pool.
Market Risks
Apart from interest rate risks and currency
risks, which are described above, the
Company is also subject to price risk related
to changes in fair value of the investments
in other shares and participations. These
investments, normally the result of equity
financing in early stages of certain hotel
projects, are classified as available-forsale investments with changes in fair value
recognised directly in equity. However, there
is no active market for these shares and the
value is consequently not subject to changes
in quoted market prices. No relevant sensitivity analyses can be done. The Company is
also subject to price risk from changes in fair
value on FX swaps, classified as held for trading, with fair value through profit or loss.
Sensitivity Analysis – Room
Rate and Occupancy Levels
Any deterioration in the general market
conditions normally has a negative impact on
the RevPAR of Rezidor’s hotels. As RevPAR
is a function of average house rate (AHR)
and occupancy, a decline in RevPAR results
either from a decrease in room rate or occupancy, or a combination of both. If RevPAR
decreases as a result of a decrease in room
rate, there are fewer opportunities to save
operational costs as the hotel will still have
to serve the same level of occupancy. On the
other hand, if RevPAR declines as a result
of lower occupancy, the Company is able
to adjust its cost structure more effectively
through variable cost savings.

A decrease in RevPAR has a bigger impact
on leased hotels as Rezidor receives full
revenues and is also responsible for the
full costs for those hotels. In comparison,
a decrease in RevPAR has a more limited
impact on income from managed hotels
as the fee revenue is defined as a percentage of hotel revenue and operating profit.
The impact of a decrease in RevPAR on
the franchised hotels is even more limited
as royalty fees are based on a percentage of
room revenue and is not linked to the result
of those hotels.
With the current business model Rezidor
estimates that a EUR 1 RevPAR variation
would result in a MEUR 5–6 change in
EBITDA.
Share Capital
The share capital amounts to TEUR 10,000,
corresponding to 150,002,040 registered
shares, of which 3,694,500 were held by
the Company, leaving 146,307,540 shares
outstanding as of December 31st 2009. There
are no differences in classes of shares. Each
owner of shares in the Company is entitled
to vote for the full amount of such shares at
a general meeting, without any voting limitations. Shares held by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries do not entitle the owner
to any of the rights associated with ownership of shares. Neither the articles of association, nor any law, stipulate restrictions in
the right to transfer shares from one owner
to another. Nor is the Company aware of any
agreements between different shareholders
that can impose such a restriction.
Following the authorisation at the
A nnual General Meeting in May 2007,
Rezidor bought back 1,025,000 shares
in 2007 at an average price of SEK 45.00
and 945,200 shares in 2008 at an average
price of SEK 33.51 per share. On 23rd April,
2008, the Annual General Meeting gave the
Board of Directors a renewed authorisation
to decide on the acquisition of the Company’s own shares on the NASDAQ OMX
Stockholm until the next Annual General
Meeting. Following this new authorisation, the Company bought back 1,724,300
shares in 2008 at an average price of SEK
27.36. As of December 31st 2009, 3,694,500
own shares with an aggregated quota value
of EUR 246,296, corresponding to 2.46%
of total registered shares, were held by the
Company. The total amount paid for these
shares was TEUR 13.292.
The authorisations at the two Annual
General Meetings to buy back shares have
been given to secure delivery of shares to the
participants in the two share based incentive
programmes decided in 2007 and 2008 and
to cover social security costs pertaining to
these programmes as well as to ensure that
the Group has a more efficient capital structure. A total of 1,089,207 shares has been
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bought back to secure delivery of shares in
the incentive programmes and the related
social security costs. On 23rd April, 2009,
the Annual General Meeting authorised the
Board of Directors to decide on the acquisition of a maximum of 1,700,000 shares to
secure delivery of shares in the 2009 incentive programme and to cover social security
costs pertaining to the programme. In addition, the Board of Directors was authorised
to decide on the acquisition and transfer of
the Company’s own shares with the purpose
of giving the Board of Directors an increased
capacity to act in respect of organising the
capital structure of the Company. At the
end of 2009, the authorisations had not
been used and no shares were consequently
bought back in 2009.
Articles of Association
The articles of association of the Company
do not include any additional conditions
compared to those of the Swedish companies
act regarding changes of the articles of association.
Change of Control Clauses
Certain lease and management agreements
entered into by members of the Group
contain change of control clauses in relation
to such members or their parents leading to
possible changes in commercial terms and/
or early termination. However, no contracts
are related to the ownership of the ultimate
parent company, The Rezidor Hotel Group
AB.
Post Balance Sheet Events
There are no post balance sheet events to
report.
Dividend
Non-restricted reserves in the parent company available for dividend are (TEUR):
Share premium reserve
Loss brought forward
Net loss for the year

197,297
(12,199)
(8,043)

Total

177,055

The Board of Directors recommends the
Annual General Meeting 2010 no divdend
to be paid for the financial year 2009.
Responsible Business
The Rezidor Hotel Group’s Responsible
Business programme was introduced in
2001 and builds on the environmental initi
ative established in the mid 1990s. It is a well
established part of the company’s operations
in all brands across all regions and Rezidor
recognises the importance of corporate
responsibility as a part of daily operations.
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Every hotel has a Responsible Business
Coordinator to guide and advise employees
on how to achieve the programme objectives and all new employees are offered
Responsible Business training since 2002.
The hotels in Rezidor’s portfolio are becoming increasingly resource efficient and during
2009 Rezidor has reduced energy consumption per square metre: water use per guest
night as well as the generation of residual
waste considerably.
Hotel operations are not covered by any
environmental permits, however Rezidor’s
hotels are provided with an overview of
applicable environmental and health and
safety legislation through an internet-based
legal database. Legislative demands mainly
concern waste recycling, energy efficiency in
buildings, legionella prevention and control
of water effluents. Rezidor was not involved
in any environmentally related legal disputes
or complaints and has no known major environmental related debts. The Responsible
Business Report includes a more complete
description of Rezidor’s Responsible Business programme.
Compensation to Key
Management Approved
by the AGM 2009
At the Annual General Meeting on April
23rd 2009, the presented proposal from the
Board of Directors for determining the principles for compensation to the company key
management was approved. In summary,
the proposal suggested that compensation
shall be made in accordance with market
terms. Key management is defined as the
company’s Executive Committee, which at
the time of the Annual General Meeting
2009 included 11 persons (7 persons at year
end 2009), of which one is the CEO. The
compensation should consist of a balanced
mix of base salary, variable salary, pensions,
a share-based incentive programme for the
employees and conditions for termination
and termination payments. Issues regarding
the terms of employment for the CEO will be
prepared by the Board of Directors’ Compensation Committee and will be resolved by
the Board of Directors. The CEO resolves
upon the terms of employment for the other
company management after consent from
the Compensation Committee. The Board
of Directors is authorised to deviate from
the principles if certain circumstances are
at hand in a specific case. The details of the
compensation principles approved at the last
general meeting can be studied in Note 10.
Note 10 also includes any agreements
between the company and employees regulating compensation in case of resignation, termination of employment contract
on wrongful grounds or if employment

contracts are terminated due to a public
takeover. As for the Board of Directors, no
such agreements exist. The members of the
Board of Directors are elected at the AGM
for a period until the end of the next AGM
and the articles of association do not include
any additional conditions compared to those
of the Swedish companies act regarding
appointment or dismissal of members of the
Board of Directors.
Proposal to AGM 2010
for Compensation to
Key Management
The Board of Director’s proposal for principles of compensation and other employment terms of the Company’s key management is, in essence that the compensation
shall be individual and based on inter
national market conditions and is set at a
level required to recruit and retain management with appropriate competence, international experience and capacity to meet the
Company’s financial and strategic object
ives. The Rezidor Hotel Group’s corporate
office is located in Brussels, Belgium, and key
management consists of a diverse group of
international executives. Key management
refers to a diverse group of international
executives. With key management means
the Company’s Executive Committee which
includes 7 persons, including the CEO.
The compensation shall consist of a
balanced mix of base salary, variable salary,
pension, a share-based incentive programme
and conditions for termination and termin
ation payments. The total compensation
considers inter alia competence, experience,
responsibility and performance.
Matters regarding the terms of employment for the CEO will be prepared by the
Board of Director’s compensation committee and will be resolved by the Board of
Directors. The CEO resolves upon the terms
of employment for the other Company key
management after consent from the Board’s
compensation committee.
It is proposed that the Board of Directors
shall be authorised to deviate from the principles for compensation of the Company key
management if certain circumstances are at
hand in a specific case.
Base Salary
The base salary is an appropriate portion
of the total remuneration package and is
reviewed each year and may be adjusted
based on personal performance, changes
in roles and responsibility, the Company’s
expected development and local directives
in terms of cost of living.

Board of directors’ report

Pension & Retirement
The Company’s retirement age depends on
local legislation. Three of the members of the
Executive Committee are paid, in addition to
the base salary, 10% in lieu of participation
in a group pension plan, except for the CEO
(see Note 10). The other Executive Committee members participate in a group pension
plan (defined contribution plans or defined
benefit plans).
Variable Salary
The basis for the annual variable salary
scheme for 2010 for the Executive Committee is based on components such as group
consolidated profitability, group consolidated cash flow, divisional profitability, the
company growth target in terms of opened
and contracted rooms and strategic object
ives. The combination and weighting of
these components depends on the executive’s role. The maximum variable salary for
the E xecutive Committee (other than for the
CEO, see Note 10) varies depending on target
achievement and may for 2010 amount to
between 45 and 75% of annual base salary
depending on the executive’s role.
Share-based Incentive Programmes
The Annual General Meetings in 2007, 2008
and 2009 have approved share-based incentive programmes to be offered the Executive
Committee and other key employees. The
details of these programmes are described
in Note 34.

The Board of Directors will propose to the
Annual General meeting to be held on April
16th, 2010 the adoption of a share based long
term incentive program (the “LTIP 2010”)
that is broadly consistent with the 2009
Programme. The programme shall comprise
of no more than 30 participants. Same as
2009, the allotments of Performance Shares
are conditional upon the company achieving
certain financial targets, linked to relative
Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) and Earnings per Share (“EPS”) during the three year
qualification period. The number of shares
that the participant can potentially receive at
the end of the three year period is based on a
percentage of annual gross salary dependent
on an executive’s role. For the majority of
the participants the percentage is 30% with
higher percentages applying for the Executive Committee members as follows:
■■
■■
■■

CEO and the CFO receive 100%
COO and the CDO receive 60%
Other Executive Committee members
receive 45%

The percentage applied in 2009 and 2010
reflect similar dilution given the change in
share price of the company.
Conditions for Termination and
Termination Payments
For members of the Executive Committee
the notice period for termination of their
agreements is between three and six months.
If their agreements are terminated by the
Company, the severance pay would amount
to between one and three years annual remuneration. Regarding termination of CEO, see
Note 10.

Other Benefits
Other benefits consist mainly of car and
housing benefits, according to the prevailing
policy as is revised the Board’s compensation
committee from time to time.
Remuneration to the CEO
The full details of this agreement and the
remuneration of the CEO are presented in
Note 10.
PARENT COMPANY
The Parent Company was registered in
early 2005 and the primary purpose of the
Company is to act as a holding company for
the Group’s investments in hotel operating
subsidiaries in various countries. In addition
to this main activity, the Parent Company
also serves as a Shared Service Centre for all
hotels in Sweden. The main revenues of the
Company are internal fees charged to the
hotels in Sweden for the related administrative services provided by the Shared Service
Centre. Apart from the costs related to the
activities of the Shared Service Centre, the
Parent Company also bears other listing and
corporate related costs.
Risks and uncertainties in the business
for the Group are described in the Board of
Director’s report for the Group. The financial
position of the Parent Company is dependant
on the financial position and development of
the subsidiaries.
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Financial Reports
FIVE YEAR SUMMARY
MEUR (except stated otherwise)

2009

2008

2007

2006

Income statement					
Revenue
677.2
784.8
785.2
707.3
EBITDA
4.9
70.9
86.5
61.0 1)
EBIT
(25.0)
42.9
63.2
34.7
Financial income & expense, net
(0.7)
0.7
0.7
(2.2)
Profit/loss for the year
(28.2)
26.1
45.7
29.0
		
Balance sheet		
Balance sheet total
357.1
384.0
412.6
402.6
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
166.5
184.1
201.3
176.2
		
Cash flow		
Cash flow from operating activities
(6.1)
61.9
75.7
41.1
Cash flow from investing activities
(23.5)
(36.4)
(28.9)
(18.4)
Cash flow from financing activities
7.9
(46.2)
(46.3)
4.9
		
Financial key figures		
EBITDAR
210.1
275.7
280.5
238.8
EBITDAR Margin, %
31.0
35.1
35.7
33.8
EBITDA
4.9
70.9
86.5
61.0 1)
EBITDA Margin, %
0.7
9.0
11.0
8.6 1)
Total investments (tangible and intangible investments)
31.3
37.3
45.8
32.6
					
Operational key figures					
Number of hotels 2)
286
260
237
225
Occupancy % 3)
60
65
70
69
RevPAR EUR 3)
58
74
77
72
Return on capital employed, %
Neg
20.8
27.1
18.1
Return on equity, %
Neg
13.5
27.2
18.5
		
Share related key figures 4)
Weighted average number of shares
146,307,540
147,502,253
149,836,224
149,979,887
Earnings per share, EUR
(0.19)
0.18
0.31
0.19
Proposed dividend per share, EUR
–
–
0.10
0.06
1) Before IPO related costs.
2) Includes leased, managed and franchised hotels in operation.
3) Including managed and leased hotels in operation.
4)	Share-related data has been calculated using 150,002,040 shares for 2005 and 2006 when Rezidor Hotel Group AB (publ) has been Rezidor’s Parent Company.
5) Definition of key figures are found on page 75.
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2005

587.0
43.7
30.5
0.5
23.2

354.3
88.9

27.6
32.3
(60.8)

183.4
31.2
43.7
7.4
34.6

219
67
67
12.2
22.6

149,942,456
0.15
–

Consolidated accounts

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
		

For the Year Ended December 31

TEUR (except for share related data)	Notes

2009

2008

677,236
(52,255)
(246,414)
(156,026)
(12,430)

784,819
(60,544)
(267,770)
(169,709)
(11,068)

210,111

275,728

(207,344)
2,087

(208,950)
4,102

4,854

70,880

(29,879)
0

(28,545)
544

Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT)
7
(25,025)
			
Financial income
15
1,188
Financial expense
15
(1,861)

42,879

Profit/(loss) before tax
		
Income tax expense
16

(25,698)

43,588

Revenue
Costs of goods sold for Food & Beverage and other related expenses
Personnel cost and contract labour
Other operating expenses
Insurance of properties and property tax

7, 8, 38
9
10
11
12

Operating profit before rental expense and share of income in
associates and before depreciation and amortisation and gain
on sale of shares and of tangible assets (EBITDAR)		
			
Rental expense
13
Share of income in associates and joint ventures
22,23
Operating profit before depreciation and amortisation
and gain on sale of shares and tangible assets (EBITDA)		
			
Depreciation, amortisation and write downs
19,20, 21
Gain on sale of shares and intangible and tangible assets
14

3,199
(2,489)

(2,469)

(17,452)

Profit/(loss) for the year
(28,167)
			
Attributable to:
		
Owners of the Company
(28,167)
Non-controlling interests
–

26,136

		
(28,167)
			
Average number of shares outstanding
18
146,307,540
		
Earnings per share (EUR)
		
Basic and diluted after allocation to minority interest
18
(0.19)

26,136

26,136
–

147,502,253

0.18

		

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 			
			
Profit/(loss) for the period 		
			
Other comprehensive income:		
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 		
Tax on exchange differences recognised directly in equity 		

(28,167)

26,136

8,134
1,628

(17,235)
(3,082)

9,762

(20,317)

(18,405)

5,819

			
Total comprehensive income attributable to:			
Owners of the Company		
(18,405)
Non-controlling interests 		
–

5,819
–

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax		
			
Total comprehensive income for the period		
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET STATEMENT
						As of December 31
TEUR	Notes

2009

2008

ASSETS			
Non-current assets			
Intangible assets			
Goodwill
19
13,628
Licenses and related rights
20
49,820
Other intangible assets
20
19,225
			
82,673
Tangible assets			
Fixed installations in leased properties
21
38,413
Machinery and equipment
21
66,619
Investments in progress
21
3,439
		
108,471
Financial assets
Investments in associated companies
22
3,148
Investments in joint ventures
23
966
Other shares and participations
24
8,398
Pension funds, net
25
10,861
Other long-term interest-bearing receivables
26
11,603
Other long-term non-interest-bearing receivables
26
548
		
35,524
Deferred tax asset
16
25,229
		
251,897

5,262
2,733
10,527
10,291
11,036
1,195
41,044
20,150
244,090

Current assets
		
Inventories
4,365
Accounts receivable
27
37,887
Current tax assets
16
3,534
Other current interest-bearing receivables
28
500
Other current non-interest-bearing receivables
29
42,925
Other short term investments
30
3,344
		
92,555

5,342
48,286
7,802
2,705
46,395
2,975
113,505

13,190
51,496
14,494
79,180
36,227
57,562
9,927
103,716

Cash and cash equivalents
31
		

5,238
5,238

26,379
26,379

Assets classified as held for sale
32
			
Total assets		

7,396
7,396
357,086

–
–
383,974

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES			
Capital and reserves			
Share capital
33
10,000
Translation reserves
3,080
Other paid in capital
120,302
Retained earnings including profit for the year
33,136
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
166,518
Non controlling interests
215
Total equity
166,733

10,000
(6,682)
120,302
60,502
184,122
215
184,337

Non-current liabilities
		
Deferred tax liabilities
16
27,529
Retirement benefit obligations
25
1,656
Provisions
35
823
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities
36
7,638
Other long-term non-interest-bearing liabilities		
2,285
		
39,931
Current liabilities
		
Accounts payable
32,732
Current tax liabilities
16
8,134
Bank overdraft
36
12,660
Other current interest-bearing liabilities
36
1,330
Other current non-interest-bearing liabilities
37
94,924
		
149,780

39,312
18,384
8,198
–
103,237
169,131

Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale
32
			
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

–
–
199,637
383,974

Contingent liabilities
Leasing commitments
Management contract commitments
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642
642
190,353
357,086

39		
40		
41		

25,783
1,510
1,007
1,431
775
30,506

Consolidated Accounts

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
					Equity
			
Foreign		 attributable
			
currency		
to equity-	Non	Share 	Other paid
translation
Retained
the owners
controlling	Total
TEUR
capital
in capital
reserve
earnings of the parent
interests	Equity

Equity as of Dec. 31, 2007
Long-term incentive plan
Dividend paid to shareholders
Cost of Share buy-back
Total comprehensive income for the period
Equity as of Dec. 31, 2008
Long-term incentive plan
Total comprehensive income for the period
Equity as of Dec. 31, 2009

10,000

135,105

13,635

42,522

201,262

215

201,477

–
–
–
–

–
(14,803)
–
–

–
–
–
(20,317)

225
–
(8,381)
26,136

225
(14,803)
(8,381)
5,819

–
–
–
–

225
(14,803)
(8,381)
5,819

10,000

120,302

(6,682)

60,502

184,122

215

184,337

–
–

–
–

–
9,762

801
(28,167)

801
(18,405)

–
–

801
(18,405)

10,000

120,302

3,080

33,136

166,518

215

166,733

The accumulated costs related to the equity-settled share-based incentive programmes amount to TEUR 1,261 (460) and are recognised in retained earnings.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
		

For the Year Ended December 31

TEUR	Notes

2009

2008

OPERATIONS
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT)		

(25,025)

42,879

Adjustments for non cash items:			
Depreciations, amortisations and write-downs
19,20, 21
29,880
Gain (loss) on sale of shares and tangible assets and disposals
14
–
Change in pension assets/liabilities
(424)
Share of income in associated companies and joint ventures
22,23
(2,087)
Exchange differences and other adjustments for non cash items
205

28,545
(544)
3,510
(4,102)
(974)

Interest received
15
Interest paid
15
Dividend from associated companies
22,23
Other financial items
15
Tax paid		

649
(961)
3,710
(715)
(10,614)

2,022
(1,715)
2,481
402
(15,677)

Cash flows from operations before change in working capital		

(5,382)

56,827

Change in:			
Inventories		
760
Current receivables		
11,182
Current liabilities		
(12,626)

383
5,117
(425)

Change in working capital		

(684)

5,075

Cash flow from operating activities		

(6,066)

61,902

INVESTMENTS			
Purchase of intangible assets
19, 20
(1,770)
Purchase related to investments in progress
21
(724)
Purchase of machinery and equipment
21
(19,083)
Purchase fixed installations
21
(1,507)
Purchase of shares and participations
17
(2,865)
Other investments and divestments of financial fixed assets		
(90)

(820)
(11,288)
(16,040)
(7,229)
(1,061)
120

Total investments		

(26,039)

(36,318)

Disposals of shares			
Net proceeds from sale of shares in subsidiaries
17
–
Proceeds from sale of other shares and participations
14,23, 24
2,500

(65)
–

Cash flow from investing activities		

(23,539)

(36,383)

FINANCING			
Overdraft facilities		
4,462
Lease incentives and other long term liabilities		
3,471
Loan repayment		
(1)

(23,375)
442
(76)

Total external financing		

7,932

(23,009)

Transations with shareholders			
Share buy back
33
–
Dividends paid to owners of the Company		
–

(8,361)
(14,803)

Cash flow from financing activities		

7,932

(46,173)

Cash flow for the year		

(21,673)

(20,654)

Translation difference in cash and cash equivalents		

532

(4,356)

Cash and cash equivalents, January 1		
Cash and cash equivalents, December 31		

26,379
5,238

51,389
26,379
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Consolidated Accounts

Notes to the Group accounts
Note 1 General Information
Note 2 	Adoption of New and Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards
Note 3 Accounting Principles
Note 4 Financial Risk Management
Note 5 Critical Judgements and Estimates
Note 6 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Note 7 Segment Disclosures
Note 8 Revenue
Note 9 Cost of Goods Sold Food & Beverage and Other Related Expenses
Note 10 Payroll Cost, Number of Employees, Etc
Note 11 Other Operating Expenses
Note 12 Insurance of Properties and Property Tax
Note 13 Rental Expense
Note 14 Gain on Sale of Shares and Intangible and Tangible Assets
Note 15 Financial Items
Note 16 Income Taxes
Note 17 Sold and Acquired Operation
Note 18 Earnings per Share
Note 19 Goodwill
Note 20 Other Intangible Assets
Note 21 Tangible Assets
Note 22 Investments in Associated Companies
Note 23 Investments in Joint Ventures
Note 24 Other Shares and participations
Note 25 Pension Funds, Net
Note 26 Other Long-Term Receivables
Note 27 Accounts Receivable
Note 28 Other Current Interest Bearing Receivables
Note 29 Other Current Non-Interest Bearing Receivables
Note 30 Other Short-Term Investments
Note 31 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Note 32 Assets classified as held for sale
Note 33 Share Capital
Note 34 Share-Based Payments
Note 35 Provisions
Note 36 Borrowings
Note 37 Other Current Non-Interest Bearing Liabilities
Note 38 Related Parties
Note 39	Assets Pledged, Contingent Liabilities and Committed Investments
Note 40 Leasing Commitments
Note 41 Management Contract Commitments
Note 42 Auditors’ Fees
Note 43 Post Balance Sheet Events
Note 44 Group Companies and Legal Structure

NOTE

1

 
GENERAL INFORMATION

Rezidor Hotel Group AB (publ), hereafter referred to as Rezidor or the Company, is a limited
company incorporated in Sweden. Its registered office and principal place of business is in
Sweden (Stockholm), address: Hemvärnsgatan 15, p.o. Box 6061, 171 06 Solna, Sweden.
The corporate head office is based in Brussels, Belgium.
Rezidor is an international hospitality company which currently has 389 hotels in oper
ation or under development in 60 countries. Rezidor operates under the brands Radisson
Blu Hotels & Resorts, Regent International Hotels, Park Inn and Country Inns & Suites.
Further information of the activities of the Company is described in Note 7.
The Annual Report as of December 31, 2009 was approved by the Board of Directors of
Rezidor Hotel Group AB (publ) on March 10, 2010. The Annual Report is subject to approval
by the Annual General Meeting on April 16, 2010.

NOTE

2

 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) and the
International Financial Reporting interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that
are relevant to its operations and effective for accounting periods beginning on January 1st
2009 and which were endorsed by the European Commission prior to the release of these
financial statements. The new or amended standards and the new or amended Interpre
tations are listed below:
IFRS Standards and IFRIC Interpretations effective for 2009
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS (Cost of an investment in a subsidiary,
Joint venture or Associate)
Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payments (Vesting Conditions and cancellations)
Amendments IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure (disclosure requirements
regarding fair values and liquidity risks)
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Instruments (amended presentation
formats)
Amendments to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (requirement to capitalise borrowing costs)
Amendments to IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Classification (Rights issues)
Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement
(reclassifications of embedded derivatives)
Improvements to IFRSs, 2008
Amendments to IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers
As from January 1st, 2009 the Group has adopted the new standard IFRS 8 Operating
Segments which replaces IAS 14 Segment Reporting. The new standard requires that
segment information is reported in the same way as it is reported internally. The implementation of IFRS 8 has not given rise to any new identified segments compared to the
segments presented in Note 7 to the Group’s annual report for the year ended December
31st, 2008. See Note 7 for a description of the company’s segment reporting under IFRS
8. The segment reporting has been prepared applying the same accounting principles as
for the Group.
The adoption of the amendments in IAS 1 has resulted in changes to the format and
content of the financial statements of the group. All income and expenses previously
recognised and presented directly in equity is now presented in a separate report, other
comprehensive income (OCI). In the Group’s Consolidated Statement of changes in equity
all transactions within OCI are separately presented from transactions with the share
holders of the group.
The amendments to IFRS 7 expand the disclosures required in respect of fair value
measurements and liquidity risks. The Group has elected not to provide comparative
information for these expanded disclosures in the current year in accordance with the
transitional reliefs offered in these amendments.
All other new, amended standards or Interpretations have been adopted but has not
had any significant impact on the amounts presented in these financial statements, but
may affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.
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Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted
The IASB and the IFRIC has issued the following new or amended standards,/Interpret
ations which are not yet adopted:
Standard

Date of adoption (fiscal year):

Improvements to IFRSs 2009*
Varies, at the earliest January 1, 2009
Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time adoption of IFRS
July 1, 2009
Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations
July 1, 2009
Amendments to IAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements
July 1, 2009
Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and measurement (clarification of
what constitutes a hedged item)
July 1, 2009
Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time adoption of IFRS
(Additional exemptions)*
January 1, 2010
Amendments to IFRS 2 Share Based Payment
January 1, 2010
Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Classifications (Rights issues)
January 1, 2010
Amendments to IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures
(Amended definitions)
January 1, 2011
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
January 1, 2013
IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners
July 1, 2009
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments*
July 1, 2010
Amendment to IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction
January 1, 2011
* Not yet endorsed by the EU.
The company is currently analysing the impact from the above new or amended standards
or interpretations.

NOTE

3

 
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The Rezidor Hotel Group’s Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with Inter
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)/International Accounting Standards
(IAS) as endorsed by EU and the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. In addition, RFR 1.1
Supplementary Rules for Groups has been applied, issued by the Swedish Financial
Accounting Standards Council.
Rezidor Hotel Group applies the historical cost method when preparing the financial
statements, except for valuation of certain financial instruments or as described below.
Reporting currency
EUR is the functional currency of the primary economic environment in which the Parent
Company and the majority of the entities within the Group operates and consequently the
financial statements are presented with EUR as the reporting currency. Any difference
between the functional currency and the currencies in which the Group companies reports
is recognised directly in the statement of shareholders equity.
General provision on recognition and measurement
Assets are recognised in the balance sheet when it is likely that future economic benefits
will flow to the Group as a result of past events and the value of the assets can be measured
reliably.
Liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is likely that future economic benefits will flow
out of the Group, and the value of the liabilities can be measured reliably.
At initial recognition, assets and liabilities are measured at cost. Measurement after
the initial recognition is effected as described below for each item.
Events or transactions occurring after the balance sheet date but before the financial
statements are issued, that provides evidence of conditions which existed at the balance
sheet, are used to adjust the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Revenue is recognised in the income statement as and when earned, whereas costs are
recognised at the amounts attributable to the financial period under review.
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company
and entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (directly or
indirectly owned subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.
The financial statements used for consolidation have been prepared applying the Group’s
accounting policies.
The results from subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate. That date is the date when the group effectively obtains or
looses control over the subsidiary.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other members of the Group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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For intra-group restructurings such as the formation of the new Parent Company, any
difference between the acquisition costs and the equity of the acquired companies are
adjusted against equity as such transactions are considered common control transactions
and should not have any impact on the consolidated balance sheet.
Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately
from the Group’s equity therein. Minority interests consist of the amount of those interests
at the date of the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes in
equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of
the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interest of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make
an additional investment to cover the losses.
Business combinations
The acquisition of companies or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method.
The cost acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that
meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 are recognised at their fair values at the
acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations, which are recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.
Goodwill arising from an acquisition is recognised as an asset being the excess of the
cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially
measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised.
Investments in associates and interest in joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or jointly
control over those policies. Significant influence is normally present in situations where
the company has more than 20% of the voting interests but less than 50%.
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control. That is when the strategic
financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control. Currently, where the shareholding and votes are less
than or equal to 50% of total (shareholding and votes), the Company accounts for these
related investments as investments in associated companies.
The results, assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures are incorporated in
the Group’s financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the
investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for under IFRS 5 NonCurrent Assets Held for Sale and discontinued operations.
The share of income represents the Company’s share in the net income (after tax) from
these associates and is directly accounted for in the income statement. No further income
tax expense is charged to the share of income as this kind of income is untaxed in the
countries of the related shareholding entities.
Under the equity method, investments in associates and joint ventures are carried in
the consolidated balance sheet at cost, adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s
share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual
investments. Losses of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate) are not recognised.
Any goodwill arising from the acquisition of the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled
entity or an associated company is accounted for in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary (see above).
Gains and losses from divestment of shares
Gains or losses from divestment of subsidiaries and associates are calculated as the difference between the selling price and the carrying amount of the net assets at the time of
divestment, including a proportionate share of related goodwill and estimated divestment
expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement under “Gains (loss) on
sale of shares and intangible and tangible assets”.
Foreign currency
Assets and liabilities in foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the reporting currency using average
monthly rates, which essentially reflect the rate of exchange at the date of transaction.
Receivables, liabilities and other monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that
have not been settled at the balance sheet date are translated using the rate of exchange
at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences that arise between the rate at the date of
transaction and the one in effect at the date of payment, or the rate at the balance sheet date,
are recognised in the income statement as financial income or expense
Translation of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries
The functional currency of the majority of the reporting entities is considered to be their
local currency. When consolidating, the reporting entities’ income statements are translated using the monthly average rates and the balance sheets are translated using the rates
at the balance sheet date. Any difference between the local currency and the functional
currency for the Group is recognised directly in the statement of shareholders’ equity.

Consolidated accounts
The main exchange rates affecting the financial statements are:
	Year-end rate 	Average rate
Dec. 31
Jan. 1 – Dec. 31
Country
Denmark
Sweden
Norway
United Kingdom

Currency

2009

2008

2009

2008

DKK
SEK
NOK
GBP

7.44
10.25
8.31
0.89

7.45
10.86
9.75
0.95

7.45
10.62
8.74
0.89

7.46
9.63
8.24
0.80

Income statement
Revenue recognition
Revenue consists of the value of goods and services sold in the leased properties, management fees, franchise fees and other revenues which are generated from the Group’s oper
ations.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and
represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes. The following is a description of the
composition of revenues of the Group.
Leased properties – primarily received from hotel operations, including all revenue
received from guests for accommodation, conferences, food and beverage or other services.
Revenue is recognised when the sale has been rendered.
Management fees – received from hotels managed by the Group under long-term
contracts with the hotel owner. Management fee is normally a percentage of hotel revenue
and/or profit and recognised in the income statement when earned and realised or realisable under the terms of the contract.
Franchise fees – received in connection with the licence of the Group’s brand names,
usually under long-term contracts with the hotel owner. Franchise fee is normally a percentage of hotel revenue and/or profit and recognised in the income statement based on the
underlying contract agreements.
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal out-standing
and at the effective interest rate applicable. Dividend from investments is recognised when
the shareholders rights to receive payment have been established.
Customer Loyalty programme
A Customer loyalty programme (named as goldpoints plusSM) is used by the Company to
provide customers with incentives to buy room nights. On 28th October 2007, Carlson
Group took over the responsibility for the goldpoints plusSM programme from Rezidor.
Rezidor is liable three years for points awarded before that date. Each time a customer
redeems points earned before the transfer of the programme to Carlson, the liability built
up during the period for which Rezidor administered the programme, is reduced. Rezidor
is not liable for points awarded under the loyalty programme after the date of transfer to
the Carlson Group.
The Company’s customers are awarded loyalty points under various third party loyalty
programs. The customers are entitled to utilise the awards as soon as they are granted.
Revenues for Rezidor’s portion of the award credits are recognised when the customer chooses to claim awards from the third party. Since Rezidor is not managing these
programs, only Rezidor’s portion of the fair value of the program is recognised as revenue.
The historical effect of not accounting for the cost of participating in the program as a
reduction of revenue is not significant.
Cost of goods sold
Cost of goods sold relates mainly to cost of goods in restaurants (Food & Beverage) incurred
to generate revenue.
Leasing
As a lessee, Rezidor has entered into lease contracts primarily related to fully furnished
hotel premises. Each lease contract is subject to a determination as to whether the lease
is a financial or an operating lease. The classification of leases as operating or financial
leases are determined based on the individual terms. Leasing contracts where virtually
all rights and obligations (which normally characterise ownership) are transferred from
the lessor to the lessee are defined as a financial leasing contract. At the beginning of the
leasing period, finance leasing contracts are reported at fair value. Assets held under
finance leasing contracts are recognised in the balance sheet as a fixed asset and future
commitment to the lessor as a liability.
Leasing contracts that are non-financial are classified as operational leasing contracts.
All of Rezidor’s leases are currently classified as operating leases. In all current leasing
arrangements regarding hotels, Rezidor only carries risks limited to operating the hotel.
The lease cost for operating lease contracts is recognised on a straight-line basis except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which the
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.
Assessment of the leased assets’ useful economic life corresponds to the principles
Rezidor applies to acquired assets. However, in certain exceptional cases, where Rezidor
accepts a hotel that requires a major renovation or has excess capacity or other capacity
limitation in the short-run (that is, until such time when the property builds up to its full
potential), Rezidor may agree to pay a lower minimum lease fee in the beginning of the
lease period, and account for it accordingly to better reflect the time pattern in which the
economic benefits from such leased hotels are derived.
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of any lease benefits, if any, are
recognised as a reduction of the leasing cost on a straight line basis over the lease term.
Based on the transitional provisions of IAS 17 (revised 1999), the classification of leases
entered into prior to 1999 have been retained.

Personnel cost
Personnel costs comprise salaries and wages as well as social security costs, pension contributions, etc. for employees employed by the legal entities of the Company.
Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses include royalty fees to Carlson Group and marketing expenses as
well as expenses related to operating the hotels such as energy costs, supplies, other external
fees, laundry and dry cleaning, contract services, administration costs, communication,
travel, transport, operating equipment, licences and maintenance contracts.
Rental expenses
Rental expense include the rental costs paid and to be paid to the lessors of the hotels. It
also includes all management guarantee payments (i.e. guarantee payments or shortfalls)
owed to or paid to the hotel owners based on the related management contracts. Rental
costs related to premises leased for administration purposes are recorded at cost in the
rental expenses in the line item ‘Fixed rent’ (see Note 13).
Financial income and expenses
Financial income and expenses items include interest income and expenses, realised and
unrealised foreign exchange gains, bank charges, write-downs of financial loans and
receivables and capital gains and losses on loans and receivables and on liabilities as well
as capital gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets.
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
The current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted in the respective tax jurisdictions on the balance
sheet date.
Deferred tax is recognised as the difference between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred
tax is generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates and interest in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when
the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or
loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Groups intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.
Current and deferred tax for the period are recognised as an expense or income in
profit or loss, except when they relate to items credited or debited directly to equity, in
which case the tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where they arise from the initial
accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect
is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquirea’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost.
Balance sheet
Goodwill
Goodwill, arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity, represents
the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or jointly controlled
entity recognised at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at
cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to
which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit prorate on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.
Licences and other rights and Other intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation. These
intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis. Licences and other rights primarily
relate to the contractual rights relating to the Carlson agreement which is being amortised
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over the length of the contract (expiring in 2052). Other intangible assets are normally the
result of intangible assets acquired as part of new lease or management agreements and
are amortised over the rental or management contract period.
If impaired, intangible assets are written down to the lower of recoverable amount and
carrying amount.
Property, plant and equipment
Fixed installations in leased properties as well as machinery and equipment (mainly related
to investments in leased hotels) are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
write-downs.
Cost includes the acquisition price, costs directly related to the acquisition and expenses
incurred to make the asset ready to be put into operation.
Interest and other finance costs relating to tangible assets during the manufacturing
period are recognised in the income statement.
The basis of depreciation is cost less the estimated residual value at the end of the assets
useful life. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis with the following percentages
based on an assessment of the assets’ estimated useful lives:
Fixed installations and technical improvements
Guest room Furniture, Fixture and Equipment (FF&E)
Other Furniture, Fixtures & Equipment and Machinery

10.00%
15.00%
20.00%

In case the remaining term of a lease agreement for a hotel is shorter than the estimated
useful life of the asset, the depreciation period is limited to the remainder of the lease
term.
Tangible assets are written down to the lower of recoverable amount if the recoverable
amount is lower than the carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the
net sale value and the value in use. Profits and losses from the sale of tangible assets are
calculated as the difference between the selling price less selling expenses and the carrying
amount at the time of sale.
Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of time value of money.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cashgenerating unit) is increased to the revised, estimated of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is immediately recognised in profit or loss.
Assets classified as held for sale
Non-current assets and disposals groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable
and the non-current asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling
interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their revious carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost (using the FIFO principle) and net realisable
value. Cost of goods for resale, raw materials and consumables consist of purchase price
plus handling cost.
Financial instruments
Financial instruments are stated at amortised cost or at fair value depending on their initial
classification according to IAS 39.
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active liquid markets is determined with reference to quoted market prices. Fair
value of other financial assets and liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis, using prices from observable current market transactions or dealer quotes for similar instruments.
Amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method, where any premiums
or discounts and directly attributable costs and revenues are capitalised over the contract
period using the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate is the rate that yields the
instrument’s cost when calculating the present value of future cash flows.
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Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other
short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. In order to be classified
as cash and cash equivalents, the maturity of the cash and cash equivalents instruments
is three months or less at the time of acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at
their nominal value.
Other shares and participations are classified as available-for-sale investments and
measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised
directly in equity, until the security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is included in the profit
or loss for the period. Impairment losses recognised in profit and loss for equity investments are not subsequently reversed through profit and loss. Investments where the fair
value cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost. In 2005, these investments were
accounted for in accordance with the fair value option. After that, no revaluation has been
made, as the fair value cannot be reliably measured.
Receivables
Receivables are classified as loans and receivables and measured at amortised cost, usually
equalling nominal value, less provisions for bad debts.
Other short-term investments
Other short term investments comprise cash on restricted accounts and are measured at
nominal value.
Accounts payable
Accounts payable are classified as other financial liabilities and recognised at amortised
cost, usually equalling nominal value.
Other interest- and non-interest-bearing liabilities
Other interest- and non-interest-bearing liabilities are classified as other financial liabil
ities and recognised at amortised cost, usually equalling nominal value.
Provisions
Provisions for obligations related to lease contracts and management contracts are made
if a contract is considered to be onerous. Other provisions are recognised and measured
as the best estimate of the expenses required for settling the liabilities at the balance sheet
date. Provisions that are estimated to mature in more than one year after the balance sheet
date are measured at their present value.
Retirement benefit obligations
Several companies within the Group have established pension plans for its employees.
These pension commitments are mainly secured through various pension plans. These
vary considerably due to different legislation and agreements on occupational pension
systems in the individual countries.
For pension plans where the employer has accepted responsibility for defined contribution solutions, the obligation to employees ceases when contractual premiums have
been paid. For other pension plans where defined benefit pensions have been agreed, the
commitments do not cease until the contractual pensions have been paid to the employee
on retirement.
The Group calculates its pension obligations for the defined benefit pension plans based
on estimated future final salary. An estimate of funded assets is made at the balance sheet
date. Pension costs for the year comprise the present value of pensions earned during the
year, plus interest on the obligation at the beginning of the year, less return on funded assets.
Amortisation of deviations from estimates and plan amendments is added to this total for
certain pension plans. Cumulative actuarial deviations from estimates of up to 10% of the
greater of pension obligations and pension assets are included in the so-called corridor and
are not amortised. When the accumulated actuarial deviations from estimates exceeds this
10% limit, the excess amount is amortised over the average remaining employment period
of the participants in the plan.
Share-based payment transactions
Fair value at grant date for the long-term equity-settled incentive programmes, in which
the participants of the plans receive a certain amount of shares in the Company if certain
performance criteria are met during the vesting period, is recognised as an expense over
the vesting period, adjusted for the number of participants that are expected to remain in
service. An amount equal to the expense is credited to equity. The current programmes
have two performance criteria: one related to earnings per share (EPS), a so called nonmarket condition, and one related to the share price and dividend (TSR), a so called market
condition. The non-market conditions are taken into consideration in the assessment
of the number of shares that will be vested at the end of the vesting period. For market
conditions no such assessment is made after the initial recognition at grant date. The
additional social security costs are reported as a liability, revalued at each balance sheet
date in accordance with UFR 7, issued by the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards
Council’s Emergency Task Force.
CAHS FLOW STATEMENT
The cash flow statement is presented using the indirect method. It shows cash flows from
operating activities, investing activities and financing activities as well as the cash and cash
equivalents at the beginning and at the end of the financial period.
Cash flows from the acquisition and divestment of enterprises are shown separately
under “Cash flow from investing activities”. Cash flows from acquired enterprises are
recognised in the cash flow statement from the time of their acquisition, and cash flows
from divested enterprises are recognised up to the time of sale.

Consolidated accounts
“Cash flow from operating activities” is calculated as operating income before tax adjusted
for non-cash operating items, increase or decrease in working capital and change in tax
position.
“Cash flow from investing activities” includes payments in connection with the acquisition and divestment of enterprises and activities as well as the purchase and sale of
intangible and tangible assets.
“Cash flow from financing activities” includes changes in the size or the composition of
the Group’s issued capital and related costs as well as the raising of loans, instalments on
interest-bearing debt, and payment of dividends.
Cash flows denominated in foreign currencies, including cash flows in foreign
subsidiaries, are translated to the Group reporting currency using average monthly rates,
which essentially reflect the rates at the date of payment. Cash at year end is translated to
the functional currency using the rates at the balance sheet date.

NOTE

4

 
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Rezidor’s financial risk management is governed by a finance policy approved by the
Board of Directors. According to the finance policy, the corporate treasury function of
the Company systematically monitors and evaluates the financial risks, such as foreign
exchange, interest rate, credit, liquidity and market risks. Measures aimed at managing
and handling these financial risks at the local hotel level are implemented in a finance
manual within the parameters and guidelines set forth in Rezidor’s finance policy. Oper
ating routines and delegation authorisation with regard to financial risk management are
documented in this finance manual.
According to the finance policy, the treasury function may use financial instruments,
such as FX forwards, FX swaps, FX options and interest rate swaps to hedge against
currency and interest rate risks. At year-end, the Company had not entered into any hedging
contracts. FX swaps have however been used to reduce the use of overdraft facilities as
described under ‘Liquidity risks’.
INTEREST RATE RISKS
Cash flow risks
Virtually all financial liabilities and receivables bear floating interest rates. It is the policy
of the Company that borrowings and investments should have short interest duration. The
effect on financial net in the income statement of a change in market interest rates with 100
basis points would be less than MEUR 0.1, based on the loans and receivables outstanding
on December 31, 2009.
Fair value risks
Since all interest-bearing receivables are measured at amortised cost, there is no impact
from changes in market interest rates on the carrying values of these receivables and
consequently no impact on the income statement or equity.
Off-balance sheet commitments
The main financing risk is related to Rezidor’s ability to control and meet the company’s
off-balance sheet commitments under leases with fixed rent payments and management
agreements with guarantees. Such fixed lease and guaranteed amounts have historically
been agreed on a fixed rate basis with indexation as a percent of change in the relevant
consumer price index, and are, therefore, not exposed to variations in the market interest
rates. In addition, these commitments are normally limited to an agreed maximum financial exposure, which is usually capped at 2–3 times the annual guaranteed result under a
contract or an annual minimum lease.
CURRENCY RISKS
The Company has operations in a vast number of countries with many different currencies
and is therefore exposed to currency exchange rate fluctuations. The most important foreign
currencies are the Swedish Krona (SEK), the Norwegian Krone (NOK), the Danish Krone
(DKK), the U.S. Dollar (USD) and Pound Sterling (GBP). The exposure from the DKK is
however limited as the currency is virtually pegged to the EUR.
Transaction exposure
When entities within the Group generate revenues and incur costs in different currencies,
they are subject to transaction exposure. In contrast to the leased business, where the
nature of the business normally is local and the exposure consequently also limited, the
fee business is generally subject to a relatively notable transaction exposure. This transaction exposure arises when fees are collected by entities located in another country than
that of the hotel from which the fee originates and is mainly related to fees from managed
and franchised hotels located outside the Nordics and the rest of Western Europe. Hotels
in these regions with a large international customer base however generally adjust their
room rates charged in the local currency to take into account volatile fluctuations in the
EUR, Rezidor’s reporting currency, or the USD. As a result, the exposure to exchange rate
fluctuations on fee revenue from Rezidor’s managed and franchised hotels is mitigated
through the Company’s policy to adjust prices based on fluctuations, except for food and
beverage where Rezidor do not adjust prices.
All hotels use a reservation system that is set up and managed by the Carlson Group,
for which the hotels pay a fee to the Carlson Group. The fees are collected centrally by
Rezidor and paid further on to the Carlson Group. As these fees are paid in USD, the Group
is exposed to fluctuations in the value of the USD, also affecting the leased hotels. As for
the managed and franchised hotels, this exposure is however limited as the fees collected
from these hotels in USD also are matched by an outflow in USD when the fees are paid
further on to the Carlson Group.

Rezidor also pays franchise fees to the Carlson Group for the use of the brand names as well
as a minor portion of the marketing fees collected. These fees are all paid in USD. However,
as the base for the calculation of the fees is the revenue of the hotels in local currency, the
transaction exposure is limited.
Translation exposure
The Company presents its financial statements in EUR. Since certain of Rezidor’s foreign
operations have a functional currency other than EUR, the consolidated financial statements and shareholders’ equity are exposed to exchange rate fluctuations when the income
statements and balance sheets in foreign currencies are translated into EUR. The exposure
on the consolidated equity is however lowered through the decision to not own any real
estate as this reduces the total assets denominated in foreign currencies.
A sensitivity analysis shows that if the EUR would fluctuate by 5% against other currencies in the Group, excluding DKK which is virtually pegged to the EUR, the effect on the
consolidated equity would be approximately MEUR 8.3, based on the equity at year-end
2008. If the EUR would fluctuate by 5% against all other currencies in the Group, also
excluding DKK; the effect would be MEUR 24.2 on total revenue, MEUR 0.7 on EBITDA
and MEUR 0.5 on net income, based on the income statement in 2009.
CREDIT RISKS
Credit risks are related to the financial receivables in the balance sheet, i.e. ‘Other longterm interest bearing receivables’, ‘Other long-term non-interest bearing receivables’,
‘Other current interest bearing receivables’ and ‘Accounts receivables’. Above that, the
Group is also exposed to credit risks related to ‘Other short-term investments’ and ‘Cash
and cash equivalents’.
At the local hotel level, the credit exposure is normally limited, as the accounts regularly
are settled in cash or by accepted credit cards. Credits are only offered to customers under
a contract and only to companies or registered organisations with a legal structure. Credit
terms must be described in the contract and comply with the central treasury guidelines
as described in the finance manual. As for managed and franchised hotels, a thorough
background check of the hotel owner is made before entering into a new contract, including
an investigation of the creditworthiness. The credit term is normally 30 days for both local
hotel customers and for fees. The central treasury guidelines set strict rules for the follow-up
of receivables overdue and for credit meetings. As sales in both the local hotels and the fee
invoicing to managed and franchised hotels, are dispersed among a large amount of different customers, the Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single
counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. Information
about accounts receivables overdue and impaired at year end is found under note 27.
In some cases Rezidor grants loans to owners of Rezidor’s hotels, or to joint venture
partners and associated companies in early stages of new projects. The terms for such
loans vary, but in principle there is an agreement on interest on the loans and the repayment schedule is based on the project opening and project progress. Based on market
conditions, interest rates, repayment schedules, security arrangements have been agreed
upon. Terms and conditions for such loans are decided upon centrally by Group financial
management. Information about these loans, maturity dates, security arrangements etc
is found under note 26 and 28.
Some entities within the Group have deposited money in restricted accounts to meet
liabilities arising from example payroll taxes and lease agreements. These deposits are
classified as ‘Other short-term investments’ in the balance sheet and only made in banks
already used in the current bank structure.
Cash not necessary for the normal course of business is deposited in a bank. Central
treasury is responsible to coordinate the handling of surplus liquidity and liquidity reserve,
and only central treasury or persons authorised by central treasury may engage in external
investment transactions. Individual hotels and administration units with excess liquidity which cannot be held on accounts within the cash pool structure can invest externally
only with a prior consent of central treasury and in accordance with the finance policy.
According to the finance policy, the investments of surplus liquidity can only be made in
creditworthy interest bearing securities, in securities with high liquidity, in investments/
securities/deposits with short-term maturity and as regards deposits only in financial
institutions with a rating of A-1/P1.
The carrying amount of these financial assets, as disclosed in the table below, represents
the maximum credit exposure for the Group.
TEUR	As of Dec.31
Carrying amount
Other long-term interest-bearing receivables
Other long-term non-interest-bearing receivables
Accounts receivables
Other current non-interest bearing receivables
Other current interest-bearing receivables
Other short-term investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Maximum credit exposure

2009

2008

11,603
548
37,887
119
500
3,344
5,238

11,036
1,195
48,286
–
2,705
2,975
26,379

59,239

92,576

LIQUIDITY RISKS
Liquidity risk is that the Company is unable to meet its payment obligations as a result of
insufficient liquidity or difficulty in raising external financing. Raising of capital and placement of excess liquidity is managed centrally by the central treasury function. The Group
has objectives for liquidity reserves, such as excess cash and irrevocable credit facilities,
that the Group should have available at any time. The central treasury function monitors
the cash position of the different entities within the Group on a daily basis to ensure an
efficient and adequate use of cash and overdraft facilities.
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Note 4 continued
Rezidor has secured appropriate overdraft and credit facilities through a long term agreement with a leading European Bank, with solid credit ratings. The banking structure
provides a cross-border cash pool in which a majority of the cash flows within the Group
is concentrated. Through this bank agreement, the Company has also secured combined
overdraft and guarantee facilities with varied terms for a total amount of MEUR 105. In
addition, the Group has credit facilities of MEUR 1.8 granted by other banks. The credit
facilities are not subject to any covenants and the Group has not pledged any assets or
given any guarantees to secure these facilities. At year-end, MEUR 12.6 (8.2) was used as
overdrafts and MEUR 2.4 (1.1) for bank guarantees. Cash and cash equivalents amounted
to MEUR 5.2 (26.4), of which 4.0 (25.3) was coming from bank deposits and MEUR 1.2
(1.1) form petty cash in the hotels.
In order to reduce the use of overdraft, Rezidor regularly enters into short term FX
swaps, in which currencies with deposits in the cash pool are swapped into currencies
with an overdraft in the cash pool. On December 31st, 2009, the Company had a MNOK
200 to EUR swap and a MSEK 40 to EUR swap outstanding, both with a maturity shorter
than a week.
The payment obligations of the Group at year-end, defined as the remaining maturity
for financial liabilities, is presented below:
TEUR 	As of Dec.31
Mature within 1 year
Accounts payables
Other current interest-bearing liabilities
Bank overdraft
		

2009

2008

32,732
1,330
12,660

39,312
–
8,198

45,392

47,510

TEUR		
Mature after 1 year 		

As of Dec. 31 2009	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss (held for trading)
Available-for-sale financial assets

–
–

119
–

–
8,398

119
8,398

Total

–

119

8,398

8,517

Assets measured at fair value 	Available-for-sale
based on Level 3
financial assets	Total
Opening balance as of Jan. 1 2009
In other comprehensive income (exchange differences)
Disposals
Investments
Closing balance as of Dec. 31 2009

10,527
22
(2,279)
128

10,527
22
(2,279)
128

8,398

8,398

For other financial assets and financial liabilities, measured at amortised cost in the balance
sheet, the carrying amounts in the financial statements approximate their fair values, as
they mature within one year, bear a floating interest or have other terms and conditions
considered to be equal or close to equal to market conditions.
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The carrying amounts of different categories, as defined in IAS 39, of financial assets and
liabilities, December 31 were as follows:
TEUR
Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss (held for trading)

As of Dec.31
2009

2008

Other current non-interest bearing receivables

119

–

Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities
Other long-term non-interest-bearing liabilities

101
2,285

182
775

		

119

–

		

2,386

957

Loans and receivables		
Other long-term interest-bearing receivables
11,603
Other long-term non-interest-bearing receivables
548
Accounts receivables
37,887
Other current interest-bearing receivables
500
Other short-term investments
3,344
Cash and cash equivalents
5,238

11,036
1,195
48,286
2,705
2,975
26,379

		

92,576

Undefined maturity		
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities
7,537

1,248

		

1,248

7,537

The long-term liability falling under ‘Undefined maturity’ is related to the financing of
investments in a German hotel under a management contract, where the repayment of
the loan is linked to the fees collected from this hotel.
MARKET RISKS
Apart from interest rate risks and currency risks, which are described above, the Company
is also subject to price risk related to changes in fair value of the investments in other
shares and participations. These investments, normally the result of equity financing in
early stages of certain hotel projects, are classified as available-for-sale investments with
changes in fair value recognised directly in equity. However, there is no active market for
these shares and the value is consequently not subject to changes in quoted market prices.
No relevant sensitivity analyses can be done. The Company is also subject to price risk from
changes in fair value on FX swaps, classified as held for trading, with fair value through
profit or loss. The fair value change on FX swaps outstanding on December 31st, 2009, was
MEUR 0.1. The real exposure to the Company is however limited as the contracts mature
within one week.
FAIR VALUE
FX swaps are classified as held for trading with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is obtained from banks which have derived the fair value through calculations based on market interest rates and market FX rates. Other shares and participations,
classified as available-for-sale investments with changes in fair value recognised directly in
equity, are measured at cost in accordance with IAS 39 as at December 31st, 2009 because
their fair value cannot be reliably measured. The fair value cannot be reliably measured as
there is no active market, there are no reliable transaction data for similar objects available
and the nature of these investments could make future cash flows projections difficult, for
example when the hotels owned by these entities are in their ramp-up phase. Consequently,
it has not been possible to carry out any sensitivity analyses on the available-for-sale financial assets classified as Level 3 financial instruments in the table below.
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable. Level 1 fair value measurements are those
derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). Level 3 fair value measurements are those
derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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59,120

Available-for-sale financial assets		
Other shares and participations
8,398

10,527

		

8,398

10,527

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 		
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities
7,638
Other long-term non-interest-bearing liabilities
2,285
Accounts payables
32,732
Bank overdrafts
12,660
Other current interest-bearing liabilities
1,330

1,430
775
39,312
8,198
–

		

49,715

56,645

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Rezidor defines its capital as equity and net cash, where net cash is cash and cash equivalents minus external borrowing, including the use of overdraft facilities. The objective is
to have an efficient capital structure, considering both the financing needs of the Group
and the shareholders’ return. In order to achieve this, the long-term policy is to distribute
approximately one third of the annual net income as dividend and to maintain a small
net cash position and sufficient credit facilities. Depending on the financing needs of the
Company, dividends may however be adjusted, shares bought back or new shares issued.
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – PARENT COMPANY
Joint risk management is applied to all units in the Group. The Parent Company forms
a relatively small part of the Group. There are no material differences between the risk
management applied for the Parent Company and that applied for the Group. Full application under IFRS 7 regarding qualitative and quantitative risk information is therefore
not presented.

Consolidated accounts
NOTE

5

 
CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements and application of accounting policies are often
based on the management’s assessments or on estimates and assumptions deemed reasonable and prudent at the time they are made. Below is an overall description of the accounting policies affected by such estimates or assumptions that are expected to have the most
significant impact on Rezidor Groups’ reported earnings and financial position.
Reporting of costs for defined benefit pensions are based on actuarial estimates derived
from assumptions about discount rate, expected return on managed assets, future pay
increases and inflation.
As a lessee, Rezidor has entered into lease contracts primarily related to fully furnished
hotel premises. Each lease contract is subject to a determination as to whether the lease
is a financial or an operating lease. The classification of leases as operating or financial
leases are determined based on the individual terms. Leasing contracts where virtually
all rights and obligations (which normally characterise ownership) are transferred from
the lessor to the lessee are defined as a financial leasing contract. Leasing contracts that
are non-financial are classified as operational leasing contracts. All of Rezidor’s leases
are currently classified as operating leases. In all current leasing arrangements regarding
hotels, Rezidor only carries risks limited to operating the hotel.

NOTE

6

 
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that could have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed here below.
Impairment testing
At each balance sheet date (closing date), a review is conducted assessing any indication that
the company’s tangible, intangible assets and contracts are impaired and if this is the case,
the recoverable amount of the individual assets and contracts (or the cash-generating unit
to which they belong) is calculated in order to determine whether impairment exists.
The method used for testing assets in use is the discounted cash flow technique (DCF)
using the internal discount rate (Weighted Average Cost of Capital) which is recalculated
regularly and per region. The cash flows discounted are based on long range plans. If the
net present value of these long range plans shows a net present value (NPV) that is below
the carrying value, then impairment is considered on the related tangible and intangible
group of assets.
When required, write-downs have been performed. During the year, write-downs
of TEUR 2,270 (2,198) were recognised as a result of impairment tests. A more severe
economic down-turn, affecting the markets in which Rezidor operates with major impli
cations on the performance of the company’s hotels, could trigger a need for further assessment of the carrying value of both tangible and intangible assets.
Assessment of onerous contracts in management and lease agreements
The same method as for impairment is applied to test if management contracts or lease
agreements are onerous and, if applicable, a provision is recorded. At year-end, no provision for loss-making contracts was made. Should the economic climate get even worse, a
renewed assessment might be needed.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax is recognised for temporary differences between stated and taxable income
and for deferred tax receivables attributable to unutilised tax losses carry forward. The
valuation of tax losses carry forward and ability to utilise tax losses carry forward is based
on estimates of future taxable income. The assumptions used in estimating the future
taxable income are the same as those used in the impairment tests. A more severe economic
down-turn, affecting the markets in which Rezidor operates with major implications
on the performance of Rezidor’s hotels, could trigger a need for further assessment of
the recoverability of tax losses carry forward and therefore also on the carrying value of
deferred tax assets.
Assessment of the off-balance sheet commitments
For leasing commitments, the Company estimates that the future leasing expense would
entail payment of at least the annual fixed rent under the lease agreements (Note 40).
For management contract commitments, the Company discloses its maximum capped
financial exposure related to all management agreements that carry a financial commitment. However of the maximum exposure presently disclosed (see Note 41), the annual
costs are just a small part of the maximum commitment.
Provisions
Provisions are made when any probable and quantifiable risk of loss attributable to disputes
is judged to exist. Provisions for claims due to known disputes are recorded whenever there
is a situation where it is more likely than not that the company will have an obligation to
settle the dispute and where a reliable estimate can be made regarding the outcome of
such dispute.

NOTE

7

 
SEGMENT DISCLOSURES

As from January 1st, 2009 the Group has adopted the new standard IFRS 8 Operating
Segments. The new standard requires segment information to be reported in the same
way as it is reviewed and analysed internally by the chief operating decision maker. The
implementation of IFRS 8 has not given rise to any new identified segments. In prior years,
segment information reported externally as well as internally was reviewed and analysed
on the basis of geographical markets and operating structures.
The Rezidor Group’s principal geographical markets, or regions, in which the Group operates its business consists of:
■■ The Nordics including Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway and Sweden;
■■ The Rest of Western Europe including Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, Ireland,

Italy, Luxemburg, Malta, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Switzerland and the United
Kingdom;
■■ Eastern Europe including Azerbaijan, Belarus, Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic,
Estonia, Georgia, Hungary, Kazakhstan, Latvia, Lithuania, Macedonia, Poland,
Romania, Russia, Slovakia, Turkey, Ukraine, and Uzbekistan; and
■■ Middle East, Africa and Other including Angola, Bahrain, Brazil, China, Egypt,
Ethiopia, Jordan, Kenya, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Mali, Morocco, Mozambique,
Nigeria, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Tunisia, the United Arab
Emirates and Zambia.
The Rezidor Group’s types of contractual arrangements (or operating structures), in which
the Rezidor hotels are operated consists of:
■■ Leased contractual arrangements:

	Under Rezidor’s lease agreements, Rezidor leases hotel buildings from property owners
and is entitled to the benefits and carries the risks associated with operating of the hotel.
The Company derives revenue primarily from room sales and food and beverage sales in
restaurants, bars and banqueting. The main costs arising under a lease agreement are
costs related to rent paid to the lessor, personnel costs and other operating expenses.
Rent payments to lessor typically include a variable rent (as % of hotel revenue) with an
underlying minimum fixed rent (for more details see Note 40). Under some lease agreements, the company also reimburses the owner of the hotel property for property taxes
and property insurance. Under Rezidor’s lease agreements, the company is responsible
for maintaining the hotels Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment (FFE) in good repair and
condition over the term of the lease agreement.
■■ Managed contractual arrangements:

	Under management agreements, the Company provides management services for thirdparty hotel proprietors. Revenue is primarily derived from base fees determined as a
percentage of total hotel revenue and incentive management fees defined as a percentage
of the gross operating profit or adjusted gross operating profit of the hotel operations. In
addition, the company collects marketing fees based on total rooms revenue for Regent
and Missoni branded hotels, marketing fees are based on total revenue, and reservation fees are based on the number of reservations made. Under some management
agreements, Rezidor may offer the hotel proprietor a minimum guaranteed result, as
further described in Note 41. Under a management agreement, the hotel proprietor is
responsible for all investments in and costs of the hotel, including the funding of periodic
maintenance and repair, as well as for insurance of the hotel property. The employees
that operate the hotels are in general employees of the hotel proprietor.
■■ Franchised contractual arrangements:

	Under franchise agreements, the company authorises a third-party hotel operator or
property owner to operate the hotel under one of the brands in the Company’s portfolio.
Accordingly, under such agreements, the Company neither owns, leases nor manages
the hotel. The Company derives revenue from brand royalties or from licensing fees
which, under most of the franchise agreements, are based on a percentage of total room
revenue generated by a hotel. In addition, the Company collects marketing fees based on
total room revenue and reservation fees based on the number of reservations made. In
order to gain access to different concepts and programmes associated with the brand,
the hotel owners normally have to pay additional fees. Currently, franchise agreements
for the Regent or Missoni brands are not allowed.
■■ Other represents complementary Group revenue from administrative activities, but

also includes the share of income from associates and joint ventures.
Revenue
The split made between the detailed segments is based on the location of the business activities and on the net contribution of each related entities in their respective regional place of
business, meaning that the segmental disclosure is made after elimination of intra-group
and intra-segment transactions (i.e. internal fees).
The line item ‘Leased’ represents, per region, the operating revenue (Room revenue,
F&B revenue and Other hotel revenue) from leased hotels.
The line item ‘Managed’ represents, per region, the fees from managed hotels.
The line item ‘Franchised’ represents, per region, the fees from franchised hotels.
The line item ‘Other’ represents complementary Group revenue from administrative
activities.
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Note 7 continued
EBITDA and EBIT
The line item ‘Leased’ represents, per region, the net operational contribution of leased
hotels per region, less related marketing costs.
The line item ‘Managed’ represents, per region, the fees from managed hotels less related
marketing costs, Royalty fees and reservation fees.
The line item ‘Franchised’ represents, per region, the fees from franchised hotels less
related marketing costs, Royalty fees and reservation fees.
Marketing costs are allocated to the operational units, i.e., Leased, Managed and Franchised per region, based on room revenue. Amortisation of intangible assets related to the
franchise agreements with the Carlson Group is allocated based on the same principle.
The line item ‘Central costs’ represents corporate and regional costs (excluding the
marketing costs which are allocated to the operational units) before depreciations and
amortisations.
The line item ‘Other’ represents the contribution of the rest of the administrative activities and includes also the share of income in associates (for EBITDA) and gain (loss) on
sale of shares and fixed assets (for EBIT). Depreciations and amortisations related to
administrative activities are included in ‘Other’ in EBIT.

Balance sheet, Investments, Key Performance Indicators
and Hotel Inventory
The chief operating decision maker monitors tangible, intangible and financial assets as
well as capital expenditure (investments) attributable to each segment for the purpose of
monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments. Assets
and capital expenditure include those used directly in the operation of each segment,
including intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and investments in associates. These assets are allocated according to their physical location. Key Performance
indicators like RevPAR (i.e. Rooms revenue in relation to the number of rooms available)
expressed in euro and Occupancy (i.e. number of rooms sold in relation to the numbers of
rooms available) expressed in rate are disclosed between major brands, Radisson Blu and
Park Inn. Number of hotels and rooms in operation are segmented by geographic market
and by operating structure.

SEGMENTATION – REVENUE
		
Rest of Western		
Middle East,
	Nordics	Europe	Eastern Europe	Africa and Other	Total
TEUR
For the year ended

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Leased
Managed
Franchised
Other

275,840
3,973
4,375
11,035

335,273
7,512
5,250
9,294

316,045
22,736
6,598
2,846

355,552
26,798
4,555
1,465

–
18,468
735
–

–
24,188
949
–

–
14,584
–
–

295,222

357,329

348,226

388,370

19,203

25,137

14,584

Total

Dec. 31,		
2009
%

Dec. 31,
2008

%

–
13,983
–
–

591,885
59,762
11,708
13,881

87.4%
8.9%
1.7%
2.0%

690,825
72,481
10,754
10,759

88.0%
9.2%
1.4%
1.4%

13,983

677,236

100.0%

784,819

100.0%

677,236			

784,819

Group’s total revenue									

SEGMENTATION – EBITDA
						
		
Rest of Western		
Middle East, 		
	Nordics	Europe	Eastern Europe	Africa and Other
Central costs	Total
TEUR
For the year ended

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Leased
Managed
Franchised
Other 1)
Central costs

32,264
2,544
2,190
4,808
–

54,410
6,149
3,060
4,664
–

(25,378)
(882)
3,935
(249)
–

1,476
12,400
1,736
(307)
–

–
12,000
405
(33)
–

–
17,094
592
18
–

–
10,446
–
657
–

(568)
10,547
–
2,231
–

–
–
–
–
(37,853)

–
–
–
–
(42,622)

6,886
24,108
6,530
5,183
(37,853)

55,318
46,190
5,388
6,606
(42,622)

Total

41,806

68,283

(22,574)

15,305

12,372

17,704

11,103

12,210

(37,853)

(42,622)

4,854

70,880

1) Other also includes share of income in associates.
SEGMENTATION – EBIT
			
Rest of Western		
		
Middle East, 		
	Nordics	Europe	Eastern Europe	Africa and Other
Central costs	Total
TEUR
For the year ended
Leased
Managed
Franchised
Other 1)
Central costs
Total

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

20,841
2,482
2,101
2,846
–

43,170
6,087
2,973
2,322
–

(40,056)
(1,094)
3,836
(1,449)
–

(11,663)
12,190
1,633
(1,367)
–

–
11,997
393
(33)
–

–
16,917
581
18
–

–
10,306
–
657
–

(568)
10,430
–
2,778
–

–
–
–
–
(37,853)

–
–
–
–
(42,622)

(19,215)
23,691
6,330
2,021
(37,853)

30,939
45,624
5,187
3,751
(42,622)

28,270

54,552

(38,763)

793

12,357

17,516

10,963

12,640

(37,853)

(42,622)

(25,026)

42,879

1) Other also includes share of income in associates and gain (loss) on sale of shares and fixed assets.
RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD
TEUR
For the year ended

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Total operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) for report able segments
Financial income
Financial expense

(25,025)
1,188
(1,861)

42,879
3,199
(2,489)

(25,698)

43,588

Group’s total profit/(loss) before tax
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SHARE OF INCOME AND GAIN (LOSS) ON SALE OF SHARES AND TANGIBLE ASSETS
					
		
Rest of Western		
Middle East,
	Nordics	Europe	Eastern Europe	Africa and Other	Total
TEUR
For the year ended

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Share of income in associates
Gain (loss) on sale of shares and tangible assets

1,463
–

1,854
–

–
–

–
–

(33)
–

18
–

657
–

2,231
544

2,087
–

4,103
544

Total

1,463

1,854

–

–

(33)

18

657

2,775

2,087

4,647

SEGMENTATION – BALANCE SHEET
		
Rest of Western		
Middle East,
	Nordics	Europe	Eastern Europe	Africa and Other	Total
TEUR
For the year ended

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

ASSETS
Leased
Managed
Franchised
Other

135,972
127,446
2,641
3,498
2,387

109,628
101,133
2,694
3,794
2,007

161,380
147,689
9,251
4,441
–

209,046
195,046
9,122
4,476
–

24,308
9,499
14,270
539
–

30,033
12,296
17,266
471
–

35,426
16,464
18,961
–
–

35,267
18,412
16,855
–
–

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

357,086
301,098
45,124
8,477
2,387

383,974
326,887
45,938
8,740
2,007

Group’s total assets									
357,086
										
LIABILITIES
101,156
154,061
78,476
34,090
2,521
2,005
8,200
9,482
190,353
										
Group’s total liabilities									
190,353

383,974
199,368
199,368

SEGMENTATION – INVESTMENTS 1)
		
Rest of Western		
Middle East,
	Nordics	Europe	Eastern Europe	Africa and Other	Total
TEUR
For the year ended
Leased
Managed
Franchised
Other

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

6,339
–
–
–

9,742
–
–
–

24,942
–
–
–

27,490
–
–
–

21
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

40
–
–
–

28
–
–
–

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

31,342
–
–
–

Total
6,339
9,742
24,942
27,490
21
–
40
28
31,342
										
Group’s total investments									
31,342

37,260
–
–
–
37,260
37,260

1) Excluding investments related to financial assets, see Note 20 and 21.
SEGMENTATION – SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH EXPENSES
		
Rest of Western		
Middle East,
	Nordics	Europe	Eastern Europe	Africa and Other	Total
TEUR
For the year ended

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Depreciation and amortisation
13,969
14,443
15,660
13,979
154
123
96
0
										
Group’s total depreciation and amortisation									

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

29,879

28,545

29,879

28,545

Revenue in Sweden, where the Parent Company has its place of business, amounted to TEUR 98,970 (121,130). Non-current assets in Sweden amounted to TEUR 790,467 (577,909).
SEGMENTATION – REVPAR AND OCCUPANCY 1)
Radisson Blu	Park Inn

				
For the year ended
RevPAR, EUR
Occupancy, %

Rezidor

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2009

Dec. 31,
2008

65.9
62.2

82.9
67.9

33.6
52.6

45.1
57.8

57.8
59.5

73.9
65.2

1) RevPAR (Revenue per Available Room) – is calculated as Rooms revenue in relation to the number of rooms available.
  Occupancy – is calculated as the number of rooms sold in relation to the number of rooms available.
SEGMENTATION – HOTEL INVENTORY (IN OPERATION)
Summary by geographic area and by operating structure
		
Rest of Western		
Middle East,
	Nordics	Europe	Eastern Europe	Africa and Other	Total
As of Dec. 31, 2009 – In operation

Hotels

Room

Hotels

Room

Hotels

Room

Hotels

Room

Hotels

Room

Leased
Managed
Franchised

24
7
23

6,319
1,934
4,172

48
61
44

9,889
10,217
8,308

–
37
7

–
9,720
1,258

–
35
–

–
8,829
–

72
140
74

16,208
30,700
13,738

Total Rezidor

54

12,425

153

28,414

44

10,978

35

8,829

286

60,646
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Rest of Western		
Middle East,
	Nordics	Europe	Eastern Europe	Africa and Other	Total
As of Dec. 31, 2008 – In operation

Hotels

Room

Hotels

Room

Hotels

Room

Hotels

Room

Hotels

Room

Leased
Managed
Franchised

23
8
24

6,129
2,106
4,272

44
61
37

9,161
10,106
7,450

–
32
7

–
8,386
1,258

–
24
–

–
5,832
–

67
125
68

15,290
26,430
12,980

Total Rezidor

55

12,507

142

26,717

39

9,644

24

5,832

260

54,700

NOTE

8

 
R Evenue

NOTE

9

 COST OF GOODS SOLD FOR FOOD & BEVERAGE
AND OTHER RELATED EXPENSES

Operating revenue per area of operation

For the Year Ended Dec. 31
For the Year Ended Dec. 31

TEUR

2009

2008

374,776
197,423
19,686

439,468
230,609
20,748

Cost of Food
Cost of Beverage
Cost of other income
Cost of other goods sold
Cost of tel, fax, internet

Hotel revenue
591,885
		
Fee revenue
71,472
Other revenue
13,879

690,825

Total

Total revenue
677,236
		
Specification of fee revenue		
Management fees
22,958
Incentive fees
18,576
Franchise fees
5,580
Other fees
24,358

784,819

TEUR
Rooms revenue
F&B Revenue
Other hotel revenue

Total

71,472

2009

2008

32,150
11,155
4,972
3,374
604

37,500
12,818
5,680
3,694
852

52,255

60,544

83,235
10,759

26,912
25,649
5,292
25,383
83,235

• T
 he line item ‘Other hotel revenue’ consists of complementary hotel revenue such as
revenue from parking, pool, laundry and gym.
• The line item ‘Other Revenue’ consists of complementary Group revenue such as administration revenue.

NOTE

10

 
PAYROLL COST, NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, ETC

Payroll cost

For the Year Ended Dec. 31

TEUR

2009

2008

176,093
31,155
7,331

194,344
33,629
6,466

Sub-total
Other personnel costs (other benefits in kind)

214,579
31,835

234,439
33,331

Total

246,414

267,770

Salaries
Social security
Pension costs

These costs are included in the line personnel cost and contract labour in the income statement.
TEUR 9,835 (9,605) of the total salaries in 2009 was related to board members, managing directors and other senior officers within the Group, of which TEUR 2,031 (2,538) was variable
salary. TEUR 422 (477) of the pension costs was related to board members, managing directors and other senior officers within the Group. Other senior officers are defined as General
Managers at hotels and area vice presidents. The salary specified for board members, managing directors and other senior officers relates to the remuneration they have received in their
capacity as board members, managing directors or area vice presidents.
For the Year ended					Other
Dec. 31,	Salaries	Social security	Pension costs	Subtotal
personnel costs 1)	Total
TEUR
Denmark
Norway
Sweden
United Kingdom
Germany
France
Belgium
Other
Total

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

14,333
50,718
15,917
21,087
24,424
13,287
22,311
14,016

15,338
60,377
17,658
26,473
26,960
13,276
21,314
12,948

533
7,265
5,098
1,353
4,706
4,479
6,049
1,672

902
8,545
5,925
1,436
5,334
4,501
5,329
1,655

919
3,832
903
425
–
–
1,109
143

691
3,151
826
396
–
–
1,236
166

15,785
61,815
21,918
22,865
29,130
17,766
29,469
15,831

16,931
72,074
24,409
28,305
32,294
17,778
27,879
14,769

1,626
3,877
1,591
5,926
8,749
2,265
4,135
3,666

1,580
4,770
2,471
4,012
8,965
2,120
6,675
2,738

17,412
65,693
23,509
28,790
37,878
20,031
33,604
19,467

18,510
76,844
26,881
32,317
41,259
19,898
34,553
17,508

176,093

194,344

31,155

33,629

7,331

6,466

214,579

234,439

31,835

33,331

246,414

267,770

1) To provide consistent classification between years and to improve comparability there has been a reclassification of TEUR 8,816 related to consultancy costs in Belgium from Other
personnel costs to Other operating expenses in the 2008 numbers compared to what was presented in the annual report for 2008.
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The average number of employees in Rezidor’s companies during 2009 was 5,007 (5,592)
and is split as follows:
For the Year Ended Dec. 31
2009

Denmark
Norway
Sweden
United Kingdom
Germany
France
Belgium
Other
Total

2008

Men

Women

Men

Women

133
483
184
518
447
222
151
180

144
670
285
577
518
233
120
143

161
535
210
555
505
252
136
172

141
822
339
632
546
263
173
151

2,318

2,689

2,526

3,066

5,007		

5,592

Total men and women		

For the Year Ended Dec. 31
2009

2008

Men

Women

Men

Women

7
Members of the Board of Directors 1)
Executive Committee (including CEO) 2) 8

2
2

7
9

2
2

1) These numbers of members relate only to the members of the Board of Directors of the
Parent Company elected at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders on 23 April
2009.
2) These numbers of members are average number for the year ended Dec 31. The Executive
Committee had 11 members until 31 March 2009, 10 members until 31 August 2009, eight
members until 30 November 2009 and from 1 December 2009 seven members.
Remuneration to the external members of
the Board of Directors of the Parent Company 1)
For the Year Ended Dec. 31
TEUR			

2009

2008

Urban Jansson			
Hubert Joly			
Ulla Litzén			
Benny Zakrisson			
Harald Einsmann			
Trudy Rautio			
Jay S. Witzel			
Barry W. Wilson			
Göte Dahlin			
Marilyn Carlson Nelson			

67
41
43
41
38
39
39
40
40
–

67
27
43
41
38
39
38
38
39
12

			
388
382
1) TEUR 259 of the total remuneration to members of the Board of Directors in 2009 is
attributableto the remuneration approved by the Annual General Meeting on April 23rd,
2009 for the period beginning after that Meeting and ending on the next Annual General
Meeting on April 16th, 2010.
Remuneration of the Executive Committee (incl the ceo) 1)
For the Year Ended Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Base salaries
4,507
Variable salaries
738
1,239
Post employment compensation2)
		
Pension costs to Executive Committee:		
Defined contribution plan
480
Defined benefit plan
39
		
Housing and company cars for the Executive Committee
655

4,662
640
–
582
39
618

1) The table above shows the gross amounts. The Executive Committtee members are remunerated on a net basis. Due to special tax treatment rules in Belgium, the gross salary
may differ from year to year. Regarding number of persons in the Executive Committee,
see above.
2) As regards the post employment compensation, see comments to the table for the CEO.

The variable salaries of the members of the Executive Committee are subject to accruals
each year. The basis for the annual variable salary scheme for 2009 for the members of the
Executive Committee is based on components such as group consolidated profitability,
group consolidated cash flow, divisional profitability, the company growth target in terms of
opened rooms and contracted rooms and strategic objectives. The combination of weighting
of these components depends on the executive’s role. They are capped to between 40% and
75% of the annual base salary. The related variable salary costs recorded in the P&L as of
the end of the year represent the best estimate made at the balance sheet dates. The final
variable salary payment is dependent on certain factors that will finally be known at a date
subsequent to the release of the financial statements. Therefore, variable salaries accrued
in a specific year may be adjusted in subsequent periods as a result of the final parameters
(like the final profitability of the company) deviating from the assumptions made at the
balance sheet dates. For members of the Executive Committee (excl. the CEO) the notice
period for termination of their agreements is between 3 and 6 months. If their agreements
are terminated by Rezidor, the severance pay would amount to between one and three
years annual remuneration. Remuneration to the CFO (Deputy President) was comprised
in 2009 (2008) of: salary TEUR 559 (600), variable salary TEUR 156 (62), pension TEUR
156 (168), housing and company car TEUR 74 (77).
The basis for the proposed annual variable salary scheme for 2010 for the Executive
Committee is based on components such as group consolidated profitability, group
consolidated cash flow, divisional profitability, the company growth target in terms of
opened rooms and contracted rooms and strategic objectives. The combination and weighting of these components depends on the executive’s role. They are capped to between 45%
to 75% of annual base salary.
The remuneration for the CEO is as follows:
Remuneration – CEO	

For the Year Ended Dec. 31

TEUR

2009

2008

Base salaries 1)
Variable salaries 2)
Post employment compensation 3)
Pension
Housing and company cars

1,057
242
1,239
208
158

834
144
–
299
139

1) The net base salary for the CEO amounted to TCHF 1,046 (951). The gross salary differs
from year to year due to special tax treatment rules in Belgium. The gross salary in EUR
is also dependant on the exchange rate between EUR and CHF.
   The amount includes the portion of the salary paid out by Rezidor Hotel Group AB
(as described below), amounting to TEUR 106 (108). In the annual report for 2008, that
portion was not included in the table above, which it rightly should have been. The 2008
number above has been corrected accordingly.
2) TEUR 79 of the variable salary costs in 2008 is related to the provision made for the bonus
entitlement for 2008. As further described below, the CEO in March 2009 agreed to forego
his bonus for 2008 and the amount is consequently reversed in 2009.
3) As further outlined below, the CEO is entitled to a post employment compensation upon
retirement corresponding to three times the annual base salary for 2010 plus a fixed
amount of TEUR 422. The costs for this post employment compensation are expensed
over the remaining term of his employment.
This remuneration of the CEO is mainly paid by ‘The Rezidor Hotel Group S.A.’ (Belgium),
but due to a dual agreement, a portion amounting to TEUR 106 (108) is paid by Rezidor
Hotel Group AB (Sweden). See also Note 3 hereafter in the Parent Company Accounts.
These figures are excluding social costs. The CEO’s employment agreement was due to
expire on February 28th, 2009 when the CEO reached his pension age of 62. Pursuant to the
original employment agreement executed prior to the listing in November 2006 the CEO
had the following entitlement. On February 28th, 2009 or in the event of the CEO’s previous
death or non temporary incapacity to fulfil his duties by reason of sickness or injury, the
CEO was entitled to receive an amount, net of taxes, corresponding the three (3) times the
then applicable base salary (for 2009) plus a fixed amount of 422,000 Euro.
On September 17th, 2008 the Board secured an extension of the term of the CEO’s
employment until February 28th, 2012. The remuneration of the CEO which from 1st
January 2008 consisted of an annual net salary of CHF 950.796 (905,520) was according
to the contract for the extended term increased as of January 1st 2009 to 1.045.875 CHF.
The minimum annual increase in the contracted net base salary of the CEO remained at
5% and with January 1st 2010 as the first annual revision. For 2008 the CEO is entitled to a
variable salary of maximum of 50% of his annual base salary based on pre-set targets for
the consolidated profitability of Rezidor, the company growth target and strategic object
ives. Based on pre-set targets the variable salary as from January 1st 2009 75% of annual
base salary if targets are achieved. The variable salary may reach 150% of the CEO’s annual
base salary if higher targets are achieved and 200% of such salary if stretched goals are
achieved. The annual variable salary shall be earned and paid in two portions: (i) 50% paid
latest by 1st May each year, and (ii) 50% to be contingent upon that the CEO on February
28th, 2012 retires with pension from the Company and will become due and payable on
March 1st, 2012. However if the CEO’s employment is terminated by the Company without
reasons or in the event of the CEO’s death or non temporary incapacity to fulfil his duties by
reason of sickness or injury prior to said date then the CEO shall nevertheless be entitled to
receive the payment of the second portion of the variable salary. In addition, he is entitled
to certain benefits such as housing, car and travel allowances. Either the Company or the
CEO may terminate the agreement upon six months’ written notice. The CEO participates
in a contribution pension scheme to which the Company makes annual contributions in
an amount equal to 41% of his annual net base salary until the termination of his employment. Under the contract which was signed in September 2008, the CEO’s pension age
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Note 10 continued
is 65. Pursuant to the contract for the extended term it was agreed to divide the payment
owed to the CEO pursuant to the original employment agreement and which fell due on
February 28th, 2009 into three (3) equal instalments to be made on February 28th, 2009,
February 28th 2010 and February 28th, 2011.This notwithstanding if the employment of the
CEO is terminated by either the CEO or the Company after February 28th 2009 any amounts
then unpaid of this sum shall be paid to the CEO upon the effective date of termination.
The same shall apply in the event of his death or non temporary incapacity. Subject to the
aforementioned the Company will be under no obligation to the CEO other than to provide
all employment benefits during the period of notice and in such case the CEO shall not
be entitled to any severance payment or any other kind of compensation as a result of the
termination of his employment.
In light of the current market conditions a further amendment to the CEO’s contract
was made in March 2009 pursuant to which the CEO agreed to forego his entitlement to
the variable salary for 2008 and further defer the payment of the total amount owed to him
until February 28th, 2012 when a lump sum payment will be due to him corresponding to
three (3) times the annual base salary for 2010 plus a fixed amount of EUR 422,000. This
notwithstanding if the employment of the CEO is terminated by either the CEO or the
Company after February 28th, 2009 this sum shall be paid to the CEO upon the effective date
of termination. The same shall apply in the event of his death or non temporary incapacity.
Subject to the aforementioned the Company will be under no obligation to the CEO other
than to provide all employment benefits during the term of notice and such case the CEO
shall not be entitled to any severance payment or any other kind of compensation as a result
of the termination of his employment.
LONG-TERM EQUITY-SETTLED PERFORMANCE BASED
INCENTIVE PROGRAMME
In addition to the remuneration outlined above, the CEO and the Executive Committee
participate in a long-term equity settled incentive programme. The details of this incentive programme are described in Note 34. The table below shows the maximum number
of shares that can be awarded to the CEO and the rest of the Executive Committee under
the two incentive programmes decided on the Annual General Meetings in 2008 and
2009. In addition, the CEO and the rest of the Executive Committee would have been
awarded 43,336 and 108,227 shares respectively in the 2007 programme. By December
31st, 2009, it was clear that the 2007 plan would not vest. As one of the vesting conditions
is continued employment until the end of the vesting period (May 1st, 2010), the shares are
not yet formally forfeited.
Maximum number of shares that can be awarded to the Executive Committee
	As of Dec. 31
CEO
The rest of the Executive Committee
Total

NOTE

2009

2008

646,793
936,603

363,343
389,564

1,583,396

752,907

11

 
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
For the Year Ended Dec. 31

TEUR
Royalty fees and other costs to Carlson Group
Energy costs
Supplies
Marketing expenses
External fees
Laundry and dry cleaning
Contract services and maintenance
Administration costs
Communication, travel and transport
Insurance costs
Operating equipment
Rentals and licences
Property operating expenses
Other Expenses 1)

2009

2008

8,555
25,658
12,871
36,737
8,814
13,311
10,067
7,876
7,256
49
2,610
3,551
6,455
12,216

8,023
23,771
16,724
35,892
11,894
13,633
10,668
10,094
9,396
25
2,504
3,819
6,373
16,893

Total
156,026
169,709
1) To provide consistent classification between years and to improve comparability there has
been a reclassification of TEUR 8,816 from Other personnel costs to Other operating expenses
in the 2008 numbers compared to what was presented in the annual report 2008.

NOTE

12

 
INSURANCE OF PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY TAX
For the Year Ended Dec. 31

TEUR

2009

2008

Property & Miscellaneous taxes
Building insurance

10,875
1,555

9,504
1,564

12,430

11,068

Total

34
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R ENTAL EXPENSE
For the Year Ended Dec. 31

TEUR
Fixed rent 1)
Variable rent 2)
Guarantee payments 3)

2009

2008

166,742
21,191
19,411

164,501
33,743
10,706

Total
207,344
208,950
1) Fixed rent represent all fixed lease payments (or minimum lease payments) made to the
owners of the leased hotels. This line item also includes rental costs of premises which are
leased for administration purposes.
2) Variable rent represent all variable lease payments (or contingent lease payments)
made to the owners of the leased hotels (based on the underlying contract type) which are
primarily based on the revenue of the leased hotels.
3) Guarantee payments are payments (or shortfalls payments) made to the owners of the
managed hotels (based on the underlying contract type) when Rezidor has guaranteed
a certain annual result to the property owner. The guarantee payments represent the
difference between the guaranteed and achieved result.

NOTE

14

 
GAIN ON SALE OF SHARES AND INTANGIBLE
AND TANGIBLE ASSETS

Gain on sale of shares and intangible and tangible assets are split as follows:
For the Year Ended Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Sales price of shares
Net assets of sold entity
Net gain on sales of shares

–
–
–

0
(544)
544

Total net gain on sale of shares and intangible and
tangible assets

–

544

The gain on sale of shares in 2008 was related to the sale of the shares in a company that held
a lease contract in South Africa, which was converted into a managed contract in 2008.

NOTE

15

 
F INANCIAL ITEMS
For the Year Ended Dec. 31

TEUR

2009

2008

232
417
119
234
186
–

1,661
361
–
–
390
787

Financial income
1,188
		
Interest expense to external financial institutions
(305)
Interest expense from other loans and payables
(655)
Other financial expense
(572)
Foreign currency exchange losses
(329)

3,199

Interest income from external financial institutions
Interest income from other loans and receivables
Fair value change derivatives
Gain on sale of other shares and participations
Other financial income
Foreign currency exchange gains

Financial expense
(1,861)
		
Financial income and expenses, net

(673)

(1,636)
(79)
(774)
–
(2,489)
710

Other financial expenses are related to bank charges and similar items.
Net gain/loss per category of financial assets and liabilities
For the Year Ended Dec. 31
TEUR
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
(held for trading)
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables and financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost

2009

2008

119
234

–
–

(1,026)

710

(673)

710

All interest income and expense in 2009 and 2008 is related to financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost. No interest income in 2009 and 2008 was recongnised
on impaired financial assets.

Consolidated accounts
NOTE

16

 
INCOME TAXES

Income tax recognised in profit or loss

For the Year Ended Dec. 31

TEUR
Tax expense/(income) comprises:
Current tax expense/(income)
 Adjustments recognised in the current year
in relation to the current tax of prior years
 Deffered tax expense/(income) relating to the
origination and reversal of temporary differences
Effects of changes in tax rates and laws
Write-downs of deferred tax assets
Total tax expense/(income)

2009

The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

2008

7,280

14,763

162

(847)

(5,458)
–
485

4,339
(803)
–

2,469

17,452

For the Year Ended Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Profit from continuing operations
(25,698)
		
Income tax expense calculated at the local tax rate
(7,856)
		
Effect of revenue that is exempt from taxation
(1,372)
Effect of expenses that are not deductible in
determining taxable profit
1,496
Effect of changes in the expected manner of recovery of assets
–
Effect of revaluations of assets for taxation purposes
(1,804)
Effect of unused tax losses and tax offsets
not recognised as deferred tax assets
7,323
Effect of previously unrecognised deferred tax attributable to
tax losses, tax credits or temporary differences of prior years
–
Effect on deferred tax balances due to the change in income tax rate
–
Write-downs of deferred tax assets
485
Effect of withholding taxes
3,594
Other
441

45,786
12,037
(1,823)
737
67
90
5,076
(237)
(781)
–
3,023
110

Sub total
Adjustments recoginised in the current year
related to the curren tax of prior years

2,307

18,299

162

(847)

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss
		
Tax expense recognised directly in equity:
Translation of foreign operations

2,469

17,452

(1,628)

3,082

Total

(1,628)

3,082

The average effective tax rate was –9.6% (38.1). The change in the effective tax rate to last
year is mainly due to higher tax losses incurred during the year in countries where not all
losses are capitalised as deferred tax assets.
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) ARISE FROM THE FOLLOWING:
	Opening
2009
balance
Temporary differences
Property, plant & equipment
Intangible assets
Provisions
Doubtful debts
Untaxed reserves
Pensions
Other liabilities
Long term non-interest-bearing receivables
Other current non-interest-bearing liabilities
Other

Charged to
Charged to	Acquisitions/	Exchange
income	Equity
disposal
differences

Changes in
tax rates

Closing
balance

(3,416)
(12,226)
(8)
(593)
(1,711)
(3,192)
(2,083)
3,242
(1,051)
143

(18)
(3,150)
(3)
2,209
743
792
(4,114)
(1,653)
854
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(355)
10
11
(185)
(242)
(514)
(31)
–
(53)
(143)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(3,789)
(15,366)
–
1,431
(1,210)
(2,914)
(6,228)
1,589
(250)
–

(20,895)

(4,340)

–

–

(1,502)

–

(26,739)

Unused tax losses and credits							
Tax losses
15,262
9,313
–
–
22
–

24,597

15,262

9,313

–

–

22

4,973

–

–

(1,480)

–

(2,140)

Charged to
Charged to	Acquisitions/	Exchange
income	Equity
disposal
differences

Changes in
tax rates

Closing
balance

95
678
1
(1)
30
–
–
–
–
–

(3,416)
(12,226)
(8)
(593)
(1,711)
(3,192)
(2,083)
3,242
(1,051)
143

(23,955)
647
–
(347)
1,957
803
							
Unused tax losses and credits							
Tax losses
20,266
(4,986)
–
–
(18)
–

(20,895)

20,266
(4,986)
–
(347)
(18)
803
							
Total
(3,689)
(4,339)
–
(347)
1,939
803

15,262

Total

(5,633)

	Opening
2008
balance
Temporary differences
Property, plant & equipment
Intangible assets
Provisions
Doubtful debts
Untaxed reserves
Pensions
Other liabilities
Long term non-interest-bearing receivables
Other current non-interest-bearing liabilities
Other

(4,570)
(9,219)
1
504
(2,027)
(3,331)
(3,837)
(866)
(196)
(414)

290
(3,337)
(12)
(1,488)
(53)
(505)
1,988
4,106
(899)
557

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
(347)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

769
(1)
2
392
339
644
(234)
2
44
–

–

24,597

15,262

(5,633)
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Note 16 continued
Deferred tax balances are presented in the balance sheet as follows:
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

25,389
(27,529)

20,150
(25,783)

Total
Less assets held for sale

(2,140)
(160)

(5,633)
–

(2,300)

(5,633)

UNRECOGNISED DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
The following deferred tax assets have not been recognised
at the balance sheet date
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Tax losses
Temporary differences

27,087
–

19,690
721

Total

27,087

20,401

NOTE

17

The unrecognised tax losses have no expiry date.
Capital gains and losses on sale of shares in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
are normally not subject to any taxation and there are consequently no temporary differences associated with these assets.
Deferred tax assets attributable to tax losses carry forward are recognised to the extent
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax
losses can be utilised. When assessing the probability of utilisation, the amount of taxable
temporary differences relating to the same taxation authority as the tax losses carry forward
are taken into account as well as the projected future taxable profits. The projected future
taxable profits are estimated based on budgets and long range plans, taking into account
the expiry of contracts. The deferred tax assets attributable to tax losses carry forward are
mainly found in Germany, France, UK and Sweden. A more severe economic down-turn,
affecting these markets, with major implications on the performance of Rezidor’s hotels
there, could trigger a need for further assessment of the recoverability of tax losses carry
forward and therefore also on the carrying value of deferred tax assets.

 
SOLD AND ACQUIRED OPERATIONS

Disposed subsidiaries
TEUR

For the Year Ended Dec. 31
2009

2008

Fixed assets
Current assets
Cash and bank
Long-term intra-group liabilities
Current liabilities

–
–
–
–
–

241
432
65
–
(1,282)

Net assets disposed of

–

(544)

Capital gain
Sales price
Cash and bank in disposed operations

–
–
–

544
–
65

Total cash flow from disposed operations

–

(65)

In 2008 all shares in the wholly owned subsidiary holding the lease for a hotel in South
Africa were sold as the contract was converted into a management contract.

Acquired subsidiaries

For the Year Ended Dec. 31

TEUR

2009

2008

Non-current assets
Current assets
Cash and bank
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

–
–
–
–
–

1,159
29
–
(347)
(108)

Net assets in acquired operations

–

733

Acquired share of net assets

–

733

Acquisition price

–

733

Acquisition price paid prior years
Acquisition price not yet paid
Cash and bank in acquired operations

–
–
–

(33)
–
–

Cash flow from acquired operations during the year

–

700

474
–
2,391

636
(636)
–

Cash flow from acquisitions prior years

2,865

–

Total cash flow during the year from acquired operations

2,865

700

Additional purchase price related to acquisitions prior years
Additional purchase price related to prior years not paid
Payment of acquisitions from prior years

The additional purchase price of TEUR 474 in 2009 is related to the acquisition in 2007
of the remaining 49% of the shares in the joint venture in Middle East, Rezidor SAS
Hotels & Resorts Middle East WLL. This additional purchase price has in its entirety
been classified as goodwill in 2009.
Investments in shares in associated companies
TEUR
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For the Year Ended Dec. 31
2009

2008

Al Quesir Hotel Company S.A.E

–

361

Total

–

361

Consolidated accounts
NOTE
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EARNINGS PER SHARE

Note 19 continued

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of
basic earnings per share are as follows:
For the Year Ended Dec. 31
TEUR
Profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the parent (TEUR)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purposes of basic earnings per share
Total basic and diluted earnings per share

2009

2008

(28,167)

26,136

146,307,540

147,502,253

(0.19)

0.18

The basic earnings per share calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to the equity
holders of the parent company by a weighted average number of ordinary shares during the
period, excluding those shares bought back and held by the parent company.
The participants of the equity-settled incentive programmes, approved by the Annual
general Meetings in 2007, 2008 and 2009, are entitled to a certain amount of shares at the
end of the vesting periods (further described in Note 34 Share Based Payments) if certain
performance criteria are met, including growth in earnings per share and total shareholder
return relative to a defined peer group. These criteria were not met as of December 31st,
2009 and in accordance with IAS 33 there was no dilution at year end.

NOTE
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GOODWILL

TEUR
Cost
		
Balance as of Jan. 31
Additions through business combinations
Effects of foreign currency exchange differences

NOTE
2009

2008

16,497
474
(36)

15,935
636
(74)

Balance as of Dec. 31
16,935
		
Accumulated impairment losses		
		
Balance at the beginning of the year
(3,307)

16,497

Balance as of Dec. 31
(3,307)
		
Carrying amount		
		
As of Jan. 1
13,190
As of Dec. 31
13,628

(3,307)
(3,307)

12,628
13,190

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units that are expected to benefit from that business combination. The net carrying
amount of goodwill was as follows:
Cash Generating Units (CGU)
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Radisson Blu Hotel, Amsterdam
Country Inns & Suites FRG Hotelmanagement Gmbh
Radisson Blu Hotel, Nice
Rezidor Hotels & Resorts Middle East WLL
Others

1,867
3,822
6,338
1,110
491

1,867
3,818
6,329
636
540

13,628

13,190

Total net carrying amount

Present value of expected cash flows have been estimated using a discount rate based on
the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) that reflects current market assessments for
the time value of money and the risks specific to the contract.
Changes in selling prices and occupancy and direct costs are based on past practices
and expectations of future changes in the market. The Group prepares cash flow forecasts
derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management over the related
length of each respective contracts normally ranging from 15 to 20 years.
A discount rate of approximately 9%, driven by the primary economic environment
in which the cash generating units are located, has been used when discounting future
cash flows. Each individual hotel contract to which goodwill has been allocated has been
valued separately, taking into account the remaining contract term and the applicable
commercial terms.
The expected cash flows for each unit take into account the budgeted figures for 2010–
2012, as prepared by Rezidor as part of its overall annual budget process, which are also
the base for the long-range projections. The long term growth in revenues, costs and
profit margins follow similar development pattern as the change in local consumer price
index in line with the historical growth rates experienced in those regions except justified
otherwise by other factors. Such factors include ongoing higher than inflation improvement in market RevPAR, building up of revenues due to renovation works already carried
out, revenue turnaround and cost restructuring programmes, and impact of re-branding
of one or more properties.
In light of the foregoing assumptions and expectations and the respective contract
valuations, the carrying values of the stated goodwill are not impaired.

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill may be impaired. The recoverable amounts for all cash generating units
have been estimated based on value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value
in use calculations are discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in occupancy
and room rates and direct costs during the period.
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OTHER INTAGIBLE ASSETS

		Other 	Licences
		
intangible
and related
TEUR
assets
rights	Total
Cost
Balance as of Jan. 1, 2008
Investments
Additions through business combinations
Reclassification
Translation differences

16,574
2,067
1,041
703
(764)

55,406
20
–
–
–

71,980
2,087
1,041
703
(764)

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2009
19,621
			
Investments
7,927
Disposals
(7)
Assets held for sale
(2,126)
Reclassification
25
Translation differences
98

55,426

75,047

1
–
(550)
–
1

7,928
(7)
(2,676)
25
99

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009
25,538
54,878
			
Accumulated amortisation and impairment			
			
Balance as of Jan. 1, 2008
(3,868)
(2,960)
Amortisation expense
(1,238)
(966)
Impairment write-down
(64)
(4)
Translation differences
43
–

80,416

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2009
(5,127)
			
Amortisation expense
(1,660)
Eliminated on disposals of assets
6
Assets held for sale
503
Translation differences
(35)

(6,828)
(2,204)
(68)
43

(3,930)

(9,057)

(1,183)
–
53
2

(2,843)
6
556
(33)

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009
(6,313)
(5,058)
			
Carrying amount			
			
As of Dec. 31, 2008
14,494
51,496
As of Dec. 31, 2009
19,225
49,820

(11,371)

65,990
69,045

TEUR 49,237 (50,904), adjusted for assets held for sale, of the carrying amount of ‘Licences
and other related rights’ is related to the contractual rights associated with the master
franchise agreements with the Carlson Group. These rights were renegotiated in 2005 and
in exchange for the new terms, the Carlson Group received 25% of the shares in Rezidor.
This was achieved through a contribution in kind, where the value of the renegotiated terms
was estimated to be TEUR 55,000. This amount is being amortised over the length of the
contract, which expires in 2052.
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TANGIBLE ASSETS

		
TEUR

Fixed
installations

Machinery and	Investments in
equipment
progress	Total

Cost
Balance as of Jan 1, 2008
Investments
Additions through business combinations
Disposals
Reclassification
Translation differences

112,109
7,229
113
(76)
3,537
(13,352)

185,136
16,040
12
(5,058)
5,510
(20,434)

8,849
11,288
–
–
(9,750)
(460)

306,094
34,557
125
(5,134)
(703)
(34,246)

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2009
109,560
181,206
				
Investments
1,507
21,183
Classified as held for sale
–
(3,134)
Disposals
(466)
(4,689)
Reclassification
5,675
2,490
Translation differences
9,335
14,741

9,927

300,693

724
–
(45)
(8,190)
1,023

23,414
(3,134)
(5,200)
(25)
25,099

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

3,439

340,847

125,611

211,797

Accumulated depreciations and impairment				
Balance as of Jan 1, 2008
Eliminated on disposals of assets
Depreciation expense
Impairment write-down
Additions through business combinations
Translation differences

(74,213)
76
(6,176)
–
(62)
7,042

(124,015)
–
5,058
–
(17,967)
–
(2,130)
–
(7)		
15,417
–

(198,228)
5,134
(24,143)
(2,130)
(69)
22,459

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2009
(73,333)
(123,644)
–
				
Eliminated on disposals of assets
467
4,648
–
3,107		
–
Classified as held for sale
Depreciation expense
(7,094)
(17,837)
–
Impairment write-down
(1,763)
(500)
–
Translation differences
(5,475)
(10,952)
–

(196,977)

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

(232,378)

(87,198)

(145,178)		

5,115
3,107
(24,931)
(2,263)
(16,429)

Carrying amount
As of Dec. 31, 2008
As of Dec. 31, 2009

NOTE
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36,227
38,413

57,562
66,619

9,927
3,439

103,716
108,469

Carrying				
value as of	Share of		Exchange
Dec. 31, 2008
income
Dividends
difference

Carrying
value as of
Dec. 31, 2009

 
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

	Ownership (%)	Ownership (%)
as of
as of
TEUR
Dec. 31, 2008
Dec. 31, 2009
Nordrus Hotel Holding A/S
Al Quesir Hotel Company S.A.E
Afrinord Hotel Investment A/S

26.08%
20.00%
20.00%

26.08%
20.00%
20.00%

2,286
2,912
64

(33)
115
(8)

(2,031)
–
–

–
(157)
–

222
2,870
56

Total 			

5,262

74

(2,031)

(157)

3,148

Summarised financial information for associated companies	As of and for the Year Ended Dec. 31
TEUR
Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets
Group’s share in net assets
		
Revenue
Profit after tax
Group’s share in net profit
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2009

2008

20,837
9,026
11,811
3,148

34,790
15,904
18,886
5,262

6,233
1,128
224

5,360
541
175

Consolidated accounts
NOTE
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INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

	Ownership (%)	Ownership (%)
as of
as of
TEUR
Dec. 31, 2008
Dec. 31, 2009
Casino Denmark A/S
Casino Denmark K/S
RHW JV Southern Africa (P) Ltd

50.00%
50.00%
50.00%

Carrying				
value as of	Share of		Exchange
Dec. 31, 2008
income
Dividends
difference

Carrying
value as of
Dec. 31, 2009

50.00%
50.00%
50.00%

–
2,027
706

–
1,463
89

–
(1,679)
–

–
–
171

–
1,811
966

Total 			

2,733

1,552

(1,679)

171

2,777

Less assets classified as held for sale							

(1,811)

Total reported as investments in joint ventures							

966

Rezidor’s share of negative equity in the 50% (50%) owned Rezidor Royal Hotel Beijing Co Ltd and the long-term receivable from that company (Note 26) are seen as a net investment.
The net investment is presented as receivable on the face of the balance sheet, and therefore not included in the table above.
Summarised financial information for joint ventures	As of and for the Year Ended Dec. 31
2009

2008

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets
Group’s share in net assets

TEUR

33,836
9,483
24,352
12,493

35,503
10,503
25,000
12,500

Revenue
Profit after tax
Group’s share in net profit

23,818
3,294
1,647

31,526
7,856
3,928

TEUR 9,716 (9,767) of the Group’s share of net assets and TEUR 461 (1,820) of Group’s share of net profit in the table above is related to Rezidor Royal Hotel Beijing Co Ltd.

NOTE
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OTHER SHARES AND PARTICIPATIONS

	Ownership 	Ownership
as of
as of
TEUR
Dec. 31, 2008
Dec. 31, 2009
Feri Otelcilik ve Turizm A.S
Doriscus Enterprise Ltd
First Hotels Co K.S.C.C
Timmendorf mbH & Co Beteiligungs KG
Others

10.00%
14.39%
1.82%
18.67%
–

Carrying			Exchange
value as of			
rate
Dec. 31, 2008
Disposals	Investments
difference

Carrying
value as of
Dec. 31, 2009

–
14.39%
1.82%
18.67%
–

2,279
5,859
2,017
307
65

(2,279)
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
128

–
7
3
–
12

–
5,866
2,020
307
205

Total			

10,527

(2,279)

128

22

8,398
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PENSION FUNDS, NET

Pension obligations recognised in the Group balance sheet
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Pension funds over funded
Pension funds under funded

10.861
(1,656)

10,291
(1,510)

Total

9,205

8,781

Defined Benefit Pension Plans
These mainly cover retirement pensions and widow pensions where the employer has an
obligation to pay a lifelong pension corresponding to a certain guaranteed percentage of
wages or a certain annual sum. Retirement pensions are based on the number of years a
person is employed. The employee must be registered in the plan for a certain number of
years in order to receive full retirement pension.
For each year at work the employee earns an increasing right to pension, which is
recorded as pension earned during the period as well as an increase in pension obligations.
Rezidor pension plans for salaried employees in Sweden, Norway and Belgium are funded
through defined benefit pensions plans with insurance companies.
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Discount rate		
   Norway
4.40%
   Belgium
5.25%
   Sweden
3.75%
Expected return on Plan assets
4.33%
Expected rate of salary increase
4.00%
Other (local government rate in Norway)
4.25%

4.30%
6.25%
3.75%
4.56%
3.83%
4.25%

Net expenses recognised in the income statement regarding defined benefit
pension plans are as follows:
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Current service cost
Interest on obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial (losses)/gains recognised in the year
(Losses)/gains arising from curtailments or settlements

(3,625)
(2,293)
2,165
(1,596)
–

(1,661)
(1,774)
1,661
(1,605)
(16)

Pension costs for defined benefit plans

(5,349)

(3,395)

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the entity’s obligation in
respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows:
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR
Present value of funded defined benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

2009

2008

53,171
(43,268)

45,732
(35,433)

Sub total
		
Deficit/(Surplus)
Net actuarial gains and losses not recognised

9,903

10,299

9,903
(19,108)

10,299
(19,080)

Net asset arising from defined benefit obligation

(9,205)

(8,781)
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Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations in the current
period were as follows:
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Opening defined benefit obligation
Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions from plan participants
Actuarial losses/(gains)
Exchange differences on foreign plans
Benefits paid

45,732
3,625
2,293
74
(4,413)
7,380
(1,520)

42,630
1,661
1,774
75
8,237
(7,347)
(1,298)

Closing defined benefit obligation

53,171

45,732

Movements in the present value of the plan assets in the current period were as
follows:
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR
Opening fair value of plan assets
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial gains/losses
Exchange differences on foreign plans
Contributions from the employer
Contributions from plan participants
Benefits paid – premium payments
Closing fair value of plan assets

2009

2008

35,433
2,166
(2,071)
5,739
3,222
142
(1,363)

36,520
1,661
2,419
(6,671)
2,509
139
(1,144)

43,268

35,433

Historic information:
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR
Total present value of defined
benefit obligations
Fair value of plan assets
Deficit

2009

2008

2007

2006

53,171
(43,268)

45,732
(35,433)

42,630
(36,520)

39,190
(35,925)

9,903

10,299

6,110

3,265

The major categories of plan assets at the balance sheet
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR
Equity instruments
Debt instruments
Property
Other

2009

2008

4%
68%
16%
12%

6%
67%
15%
12%

In 2009 the experience adjustments on plan liabilities and plan assets amounted to TEUR
534 (2,546) and TEUR (2,247) (–2,439) respectively. The expected contributions by the
employer in 2010 amount to TEUR 3,605 (2,204).
Defined Contribution Pension Plans
These plans mainly cover retirement, sick and family pensions. The premiums are paid
regularly during the year by group companies to different insurance companies. The size
of the premium is based on wages. Pension costs for the period are included in the income
statement and amount to TEUR 1,982 (3,071).
The obligations for retirement and sick pensions for employees in Swedish companies
have been safeguarded through insurance in Alecta. According to a statement from the
Swedish Accounting Standards Council, UFR 3, this is a defined benefit multi-employer
plan. The Group has no access to the information necessary to report these plans as defined
benefit plans for the financial year 2009. Pension plans that are safeguarded through insurance in Alecta according to ITP are therefore reported as a defined contribution plan under
the alternative rules in IAS 19 paragraph 30. Premiums during the year to Alecta amounted
to TEUR 610 (462) Alecta’s surplus can be passed on to the insurance-takers and/or the
insured. At the end of 2009 Alecta’s surplus in the form of the collective consolidation level
was 141% (112). The collective consolidation level is the market value of Alecta’s assets as a
percentage of insurance obligations measured according to Alecta’s actuarial assumptions,
which are not in agreement with IAS 19.

Consolidated accounts
NOTE
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OTHER LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES

In some cases Rezidor grants loans to owners of the company’s hotels, or to the company’s joint venture and associated companies in early stages of new projects. The terms for such loans
vary, but in principle there is an agreement on interest on the loans and the repayment schedule is based on the project opening and project progress. These related parties and terms
concerning these loans are presented below. No collateral was held as security for these receivables and no receivables were past due at the end of the reporting periods. Non-interest
bearing receivables in the tables below include various items, such as VAT claims and certain prepayments.
As of Dec. 31, 2009
	Nominal loan 			Impairment		
			
amount in 		Nominal
and exchange	Amortised
Loan from
Counterpart
thousands
Currency
value in TEUR
losses in TEUR
cost in TEUR

Duration and
interest rates

Rezidor Riga Hotel A/S
Polar Bek Daugave
1,225
USD
904
–
904
		
Ltd. Riga Hotel						
								

Undefined
duration
– 10.08%

SIHSKA A/S
		

Rezidor Royal Hotel
17,677
USD
12,125
(2,409)
9,716
Beijing Co. Ltd						

Undefinded
duration

Rezidor Hotel Grouop NV
Orchard Hotels A.S
200
EUR
200
–
200
								

15/10/2011 –
Euribor 3M +1.5%

676

13.88%

Rezidor Group
Other
107
EUR
107
–
107
								

Rezidor Hotels UK Ltd

New Hotel JSC

676

EUR

676

–

Various interest
bearing deposits

Total of interest-bearing				
14,012
(2,409)
11,603
							
Rezidor Group
Other			
548
–
548
								

Non-interest
bearing

Total of non-interest-bearing				

548

–

548

Total long-term receivables				

14,560

(2,409)

12,151

As of Dec. 31, 2008
	Nominal loan 			Impairment		
			
amount in 		Nominal
and exchange	Amortised
Loan from
Counterpart
thousands
Currency
value in TEUR
losses in TEUR
cost in TEUR

Duration and
interest rates

Rezidor Riga Hotel A/S
Polar Bek Daugave
1,225
USD
962
–
962
		
Ltd. Riga Hotel						
								

Undefined
duration,
10,08%

SIHSKA A/S
		

Rezidor Royal Hotel
17,677
USD
12,650
(2,883)
9,767
Beijing Co. Ltd						

Undefined
duration

Rezidor Hotel Grouop NV
Orchard Hotels A.S
200
EUR
200
–
200
								

3 months
Euribor +1.5%

Rezidor Group
Other
107
EUR
107
–
107
								

Various interest
bering deposits

Total of interest-bearing				
13,919
(2,883)
11,036
							
Rezidor Group
Other			
1,195
–
1,195
								

Non-interest
bearing

Total of non-interest-bearing				

1,195

–

1,195

Total long-term receivables				

15,114

(2,883)

12,231
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ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

NOTE

28

 OTHER CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING
R ECEIVABLES

	As of Dec. 31

	As of Dec. 31 2009

TEUR

			Amortised
Loan from
Counterpart
cost in TEUR

Accounts receivables before allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivables net of allowance for
doubtful accounts
		
Less assets held for sale
Total reported accounts receivables net of
allowance for doubtful accounts

2009

2008

43,698
(5,470)

54,150
(5,864)

38,228

48,286

(341)

–

37,887

48,286

		Accounts 		Accounts
		
receivables		
receivables
		
before		
net of
		
allowance	Allowance
allowance
As of Dec. 31,
for doubtful
for doubtful
for doubtful
2009
accounts
accounts
accounts
Accounts receivables not overdue
15,856
(138)
			
Accounts receivables overdue			
1–30 days
14,431
–
31–60 days
4,695
(190)
61–90 days
2,174
(151)
More than 90 days
6,542
(4,991)

15,718
14,431
4,505
2,023
1,551

Total overdue

27,842

(5,332)

22,510

Total ledger

43,698

(5,470)

38,228

		Accounts 		Accounts
		
receivables		
receivables
		
before		
net of
		
allowance	Allowance
allowance
As of Dec. 31,
for doubtful
for doubtful
for doubtful
2008
accounts
accounts
accounts
Accounts receivables not overdue
18,317
(430)
			
Accounts receivables overdue			
1–30 days
20,092
(837)
31–60 days
4,955
(90)
61–90 days
3,521
(513)
More than 90 days
7,265
(3,992)

17,885
19,255
4,865
3,008
3,273

Total overdue

35,833

(5,432)

30,401

Total ledger

54,150

(5,864)

48,286

Movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Balance at the beginning of the year
Amounts written off during the year
Amounts recovered during the year
Increase/Decrease in allowance recognised in profit or loss
Translation difference

5,864
185
(559)
92
(112)

5,311
(391)
(124)
1,247
(179)

Balance at the end of the year

5,470

5,864

No collaterals are held as security for accounts receivables outstanding.

Rezidor Hotel ApS
		
Africa Joint Venture
Holding A/S

Interest rates

SNC Paris		
Le Havre
1,943
Afrinord Hotel		
Investments A/S
500

Total of current
interest-bearing receivables		
			
Less assets held for sale		

(1,943)

Total reported current
interest-bearing receivables		

500

6 months
Euribor + 1%
Fixed rate –
11.5%

2,443

	As of Dec. 31 2008
			Amortised
Loan from
Counterpart
cost in TEUR
Rezidor Hotel ApS
		
Africa Joint Venture
Holding A/S

Interest rates

SNC Paris
1,903
Le Havre		
Afrinord Hotel		
Investments A/S
802

Total of current
interest-bearing receivables		

6 months
Euribor + 1%
Fixed rate –
11.5%

2,705

No collateral was held as security for these receivables. TEUR 1,345 (695) was past due
at year-end, but not impaired as the terms for the repayment schedule have been renego
tiated.
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 OTHER CURRENT NON-INTEREST-BEARING
RECEIVABLES

	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Prepaid expenses		
Prepaid Rent
14,740
Prepaid Heating
115
Prepaid Other
6,651

12,302
187
10,347

		
21,506
		
Accrued Income		
Accrued Income – Fees
3,244
Accrued Income – Other
3,986
		
		
FX swaps
Other current non-interest-bearing receivables
Total
		
Less assets held for sale
Total reported other current non-interestbearing receivables

NOTE
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22,836
6,102
1,543

7,230

7,645

119
14,551

–
15,914

43,406

46,395

(481)

–

42,925

46,395

 
OTHER SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Other short-term investments relate to cash in restricted accounts. These restricted
accounts are cash at bank restricted to meet the liability arising from payroll taxes withheld (Norway), energy purchases (Sweden) and cash pool arrangement (France).

NOTE

31

 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement can be reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Bank accounts
Cash on hand

4,015
1,223

25,317
1,062

5,238

26,379

Total cash and cash equivalents

There are no restrictions in the use of the cash and cash equivalents recognised.
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Consolidated accounts
NOTE
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ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

	As of Dec. 31

	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Shares in Casino Denmark K/S
Other hotel asset groups held for sale

1,811
5,585

–
–

Total assets

7,396

–

Following an increased focus on portfolio management, certain hotel assets and liabilities
primarily related to operations in Rezidor’s segment “Rest of Western Europe “ have been
classified as held for sale. The sale of these asset groups are expected to occur during the
first half of 2010. A further specification of the carrying values of these assets and liabilities
isare presented in the adjacent table.

NOTE
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TEUR

2009

2008

Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Deferred tax asset
Inventories
Accounts receivables
Current tax assets
Other current interest-bearing receivables
Other current non-interest-bearing receivables

2,119
27
160
217
341
297
1,943
481

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Total assets

5,585

–

	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

2008

Accounts payables
Other current non-interest-bearing liabilities

46
596

–
–

Total liabilities

642

–

 
SHARE CAPITAL

Issued capital 		Other paid		Other paid
		Share capital
in capital	Share capital
in capital
TEUR
2009
2009
2008
2008
Opening balance as of Jan. 1,
Dividend paid
Closing balance as of Dec. 31,
			
Fully paid ordinary share
Date of resolution
The company is registered
Share split of ordinary shares
Share issue of ordinary shares
Share issue of ordinary shares
Share split of ordinary shares
Bonus issue, without new share issue

SHARE BUY-BACK
Following the authorisation at the Annual General Meeting in May 2007, Rezidor bought
back 1,025,000 shares in 2007 at an average price of SEK 45.00 and 945,200 shares in
2008 at an average price of SEK 33.51 per share. On 23rd April, 2008, the Annual General
Meeting gave the Board of Directors a renewed authorisation to decide on the acquisition of
the Company’s own shares on the NASDAQ OMX Stockholm until the next Annual General
Meeting. Following this new authorisation, the Company bought back 1,724,300 shares
in 2008 at an average price of SEK 27.36. The weighted number of own shares held by the
company in 2009 and 2008 was 3,694,500 and 2,499,787 respectively. The authorisations
at the two Annual General Meetings to buy back shares have been given to secure delivery
of shares to the participants in the two share based incentive programmes decided in 2007
and 2008 and to cover social security costs pertaining to these programmes as well as to
ensure that the Group has a more efficient capital structure. A total of 1,089,207 shares
has been bought back to secure delivery of shares in the incentive programmes and the
related social security costs. On 23rd April, 2009, the Annual General Meeting authorised
the Board of Directors to decide on the acquisition of a maximum of 1,700,000 shares to
secure delivery of shares in the 2009 incentive programme and to cover social security
costs pertaining to the programme. In addition, the Board of Directors was authorised
to decide on the acquisition and transfer of the Company’s own shares with the purpose
of giving the Board of Directors an increased capacity to act in respect of organising the
capital structure of the Company. At the end of 2009, the authorisations had not been used
and no shares were consequently bought back in 2009.

120,302
–

10,000
–

135,105
(14,803)

10,000

120,302

10,000

120,302

Change in
number of shares

Mar. 8, 2005
Mar. 22, 2005
Mar. 22, 2005
Oct. 10, 2006
Oct. 10, 2006
May. 4, 2007

The total share capital at year end was EUR 10,000,000, corresponding to 150,002,040
shares, giving a quota value per share of EUR 0.067. All issued shares are fully paid. There
are no differences in classes of shares. Each owner of shares in the Company is entitled to
vote for the full amount of such shares at a general meeting, without any voting limitations.
Shares held by the company or any of its subsidiaries do not entitle the owner to any of the
rights associated with ownership of shares.

10,000
–

Change in	Total number	Total
share capital
of shares
share capital

1,000
10,000
89,000
26,584
149,875,456
–

11,000
–
89,000
26,584
–
9,873,416

1,000
11,000
100,000
126,584
150,002,040
150,002,040

11,000
11,000
100,000
126,584
126,584
10,000,000

					Per cent of
		Number	Investment Quota value registered
		
of shares
(TEUR)
(TEUR)
shares
Own shares held at
December 31, 2007
Own shares bought back
in 2008

1,025,000

4,911

68,3

0.68%

2,669,500

8,381

178,0

1.78%

Own shares held at
December 31, 2008

3,694,500

13,292

246,3

2.46%

Own shares held at
December 31, 2009

3,694,500

13,292

246,3

2.46%

	As of Dec. 31
TEUR

2009

Number of registered shares
Number of own shares held by the company
Number of shares outstanding

2008

150,002,040 150,002,040
(3,694,500) (3,694,500)
146,307,540 146,307,540

DIVIDEND PER SHARE
In accordance with the recommendation from the Board of Directors to the Annual General
Meeting in 2009 to suspend the dividend in context of the economic uncertainty, the
Annual General Meeting decided to not pay any dividend to the shareholders in 2009.
The Board of Directors recommends the Annual General Meeting 2010 no dividend to be
paid for the financial year 2009.
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NOTE

34

 
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

LONG-TERM EQUITY-SETTLED PERFORMANCE-BASED
INCENTIVE PROGRAMMES
The purpose of the programmes is to ensure that remuneration within the Group helps
align executives with shareholder interests, that the proportion of remuneration linked
to company performance increases and that it encourages executive share ownership. In
order to implement the performance based share programme in a cost efficient and flexible
manner, the Board of Directors was authorised by the AGMs in 2007, 2008 and in 2009 to
decide on acquisitions of own shares on the stock exchange.
THE 2007 PROGRAMME
On May 4th, 2007, the Annual General Meeting approved a long-term equity settled performance-based incentive programme to be offered to approximately 25 executives within the
Rezidor Group. The programme was launched on 15th June 2007 with the vesting period
ending on 1st May, 2010. It contained two different award elements, a bonus based award
and a savings based award.
The “bonus based award” entitled the participants to a certain number of shares equal
in value to the participant’s 2006 annual bonus payout. Shares would have been awarded
at no cost for the participants. As of December 31st, 2009, the maximum number of shares
that could have been awarded under the bonus based award after the full vesting period was
125,116. By that date it was however clear that the shares in the 2007 programme would not
vest as the targets in the programme had not been met, but as one of the vesting conditions
is continued employment until the end of the vesting period (May 1st, 2010), the shares in
the plan are not yet formally forfeited.
The “savings based award” was a matching share award equal to that number of Rezidor
shares the participants have purchased and hold for a 3-year savings period, up to a value
of 25% of the participants’ 2007 salary. Shares would have been awarded at no cost for the
participant. As of December 31st, 2009, the maximum number of savings based shares
that could have been awarded after the full vesting period was 100,685. By that date it was
however clear that the shares in the 2007 programme would not vest as the targets in the
programme had not been met, but as one of the vesting conditions is continued employment until the end of the vesting period (May 1st, 2010), the shares in the plan are not yet
formally forfeited.
All 11 members of the Executive Committee participated in the programme which would
have entitled them to a maximum total of 151,563 shares had the programme vested, of
which the CEO was entitled to a maximum of 43,336 shares. 14 other members of management remained in the programme until the end of 2009, which had entitled them to a
maximum of 74,238 shares had the programme vested.
The award was dependent on an achievement of certain performance criteria during
the financial years 2007 to 2009, of which 50% was related to growth in earnings per
share (EPS) and 50% to total shareholder return (TSR) relative to a defined peer group of
hotel companies. As for the EPS part, the participants were entitled to a 20% allotment
if the three year annualised EPS growth had been equal to or above 20%. The allotment
increased proportionally based on the growth in EPS with a 100% allotment if the three
year EPS growth had been 174.4% (equal to 40% per year) or above. As for the TSR part,
the participants were entitled to a 20% allotment if the three year TSR had been equal to
or above 0% (i.e. Rezidor TSR compared to Index TSR for the peer group). The allotment
increased proportionally based on outperformance of Index TSR with a 100% allotment if
the three year TSR had been 26% (equal to 8% per year) or above Index TSR.
Fair value at grant date for incentive programme is recognised as an expense over the
vesting period, adjusted for the number of participants that are expected to remain in
service. An amount equal to the expense is credited to equity. The fair value at grant date
of the EPS based awards was the share price at grant date, i.e. SEK 60 (EUR 6.36). The fair
value at grant date of the TSR based awards was calculated as approximately 56% of the
share price at grant date, i.e. SEK 33.47 (EUR 3.55). This value was calculated in a Monte
Carlo simulation, in which the following parameters were used: share price volatility of
35.5% (Rezidor’s share price volatility since the IPO to the grant date), risk-free interest
rate of 3.79% (Swedish government 3 year interest at grant date), dividend yield of 1.18%
(estimated using a 12 month trailing dividend yield), an average market correlation of 22.1%
(the average correlation of Rezidor with the peer group).
THE 2008 PROGRAMME
On April 23rd, 2008, the Annual General Meeting approved a long-term equity settled
performance-based incentive programme to be offered to not more than 30 executives
within the Rezidor Group. Grant date was set to June 30th, 2008, and the vesting period
ends in connection with the release of the first quarterly report in 2011.
Based on the outcome of certain performance criteria, the participants of the programme
may at the end of the vesting period, at no cost, be awarded a certain number of so called
performance shares in the Company relative their number of savings shares. The total
value of savings shares is limited to 40% of the 2008 base salary before taxes for the CEO,
the CFO and three other senior executives and to 20% of the 2008 base salary before taxes
for other participants. As of December 31st, 2009, the maximum number of performance
shares that may be awarded after the full vesting period was 667,691.
With the exception for the CEO, the CFO and three other senior executives, the participants are entitled to receive a certain number of so called matching shares conditional
upon continuous employment during the vesting period. As of December 31st, 2008, the
maximum number of matching shares that may be awarded after the full vesting period
was 31,085.
6 members of the Executive Committee participated in the programme entitling them to
a maximum total of 601,344 shares, of which the CEO is entitled to a maximum of 320,007
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shares. Above that, 13 other members of management participated in the programme,
entitling them to 66,347 shares.
The award is dependent on certain performance criteria for the financial years 2008 to
2010, of which 25% is related to growth in earnings per share (EPS) and 75% to total shareholder return (TSR) relative to a defined peer group of hotel companies. As for the EPS part,
the participants are entitled to a 20% allotment if the three year annualised EPS growth is
equal to or above 15%. The allotment increases proportionally based on the growth in EPS
with a 100% allotment if the three year EPS growth is 119.7% (equal to 30% per year) or
above. As for the TSR part, the participants are entitled to a 20% allotment if the three year
TSR is equal to or above 0% (i.e. Rezidor TSR compared to Index TSR for the peer group).
The allotment increases proportionally based on outperformance of Index TSR with a 100%
allotment if the three year TSR is 26% (equal to 8% per year) or above Index TSR.
Fair value at grant date for incentive programme is recognised as an expense over the
vesting period, adjusted for the number of participants that are expected to remain in
service. An amount equal to the expense is credited to equity. The fair value at grant date
of the EPS based awards was the share price at grant date, i.e. SEK 25.50 (EUR 2.69). The
fair value at grant date of the TSR based awards was calculated as approximately 56% of the
share price at grant date, i.e. SEK 14.29 (EUR 1.51). This value was calculated in a Monte
Carlo simulation, in which the following parameters were used: share price volatility of
39% (Rezidor’s share price volatility since the IPO to grant date), risk-free interest rate of
4.7% (Swedish government 3 year interest at grant date), dividend yield of 3.7% (estimated
using a 12 month trailing dividend yield), an average market correlation of 26% (the average
correlation of Rezidor with the peer group).
THE 2009 PROGRAMME
On April 23rd, 2009, the Annual General Meeting approved a long-term equity settled
performance-based incentive programme to be offered to no more than 30 executives
within the Rezidor Group. Grant date was set to July 23rd, 2009, and the vesting period
ends in connection with the release of the first quarterly report in 2012.
Based on the outcome of certain performance criteria, the participants of the programme
may at the end of the vesting period, at no cost, be awarded a certain number of so called
performance shares in the Company. The total value of the performance shares is limited
to 50% of the 2009 base salary before taxes (base salary) for the CEO and the CFO, to 35%
of the base salary for the COO’s, the Chief Development Officer and the EVP of Brands, to
25% of the base salary for other participants within top management and to 15% of the base
salary for the rest of the participants. As of December 31st, 2009, the maximum number of
performance shares that may be awarded after the full vesting period was 1.229,526.
10 members of the Executive Committee participated in the programme entitling
them to a maximum total of 982,052 shares, of which the CEO is entitled to a maximum of 326,786 shares. Above that, 16 other members of management participated in the
programme, entitling them to 247,474 shares.
The award is dependent on certain performance criteria for the financial years 2009
to 2011, of which 25% is related to the development in earnings per share (EPS) and 75%
to total shareholder return (TSR) of which 75% will vest subject to the Company’s outperformance of a defined peer group of hotel companies and 25% will vest subject to the
Company’s outperformance of the constituents of the OMXS 30 Index. As for the EPS part,
the participants are entitled to a 20% allotment if the three year annualised EPS growth is
equal to or above 0%. The allotment increases proportionally based on the growth in EPS
with a 100% allotment if the three year EPS growth is 73% (equal to 20% per year) or above.
As for the TSR part, the participants are entitled to a 20% allotment if the three year TSR
is equal to or above 0% (i.e. Rezidor TSR compared to Index TSR for the peer group and to
Index TSR for OMXS 30 respectively). The allotment increases proportionally based on
outperformance of Index TSR with a 100% allotment if the three year TSR is 26% (equal
to 8% per year) or above Index TSR.
Fair value at grant date for the incentive programme is recognised as an expense over
the vesting period, adjusted for the number of participants that are expected to remain in
service. An amount equal to the expense is credited to equity. The fair value at grant date
of the EPS based awards was the share price at grant date, i.e. SEK 17.44 (EUR 1.62). The
fair value at grant date of the TSR based awards was calculated to be approximately 49%
of the share price at grant date, i.e. SEK 8.63 (EUR 0.80). This value was calculated in a
Monte Carlo simulation, in which the following parameters were used: share price volatility
of 36% (Rezidor’s share price volatility since the IPO to grant date adjusted for the period
with extreme financial turmoil), risk-free interest rate of 1.59% (Swedish government 3
year interest at grant date) and an average share price correlation of 35% compared to the
peer group and of 52% compared to the OMXS 30 Index group. The participants will be
entitled to a cash amount equivalent to any cash dividend attributable to the performance
shares during the vesting period. Hence, the expected dividend has not been taken into
account in the valuation of the performance shares.
Summary of maximum number of shares that can be awarded
The table below shows the maximum number of shares that may be awarded.
		At the end
Plan
of 2009
2007 plan
2008 plan
2009 plan
Total

Granted
of 2008

Forfeited	At the end
during 2009 during 2009

225,801
667,691
–

–
–
1,229,526

–
–
–

225,801
667.691
1,229,526

893,492

1,229,526

–

2,123,018

Consolidated accounts
Note 34 continued
Neither at the end of 2008, nor at the end of 2009, have the EPS and TSR performance
criteria been met. Consequently, no shares would have been awarded had the vesting
periods ended these years. By December 31st, 2009, it was clear that the 2007 plan would
not vest, but as one of the vesting conditions is continued employment until the end of
the vesting period (May 1st, 2010), the shares are not yet formally forfeited. The incentive
programmes have not yet given rise to any dilution.

NOTE

Total costs
The net costs recognised in the income statement during the period in accordance with
IFRS 2 amounted to TEUR 801 (225). TEUR 351 of the costs related to the EPS part of the
2007 plan were reversed in the income statement in Q4 2008. The costs for social security
recognised in the income statement in amounted to TEUR 271 (TEUR 35).

35

 
PROVISIONS

		Provisions				
		
for employee		Provisions	Other
provisions	Total
TEUR
benefits and payroll		
for legal case1)
Balance as of Jan. 1, 2008
Additional provisions recognised
Reductions arising from payments

127		
47		
(37)		

300
323
–

61
247
(61)

488
617
(98)

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2008
Additional provisions recognised
Reductions arising from payments
Reclassification

137		
181		
–		
(7)		

623
(283)
(40)
–

247
69
(105)
–

1,007
(33)
(145)
(7)

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

312		

300

211

823

NOTE
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BORROWINGS

Current	Non-current
	As of Dec. 31	As of Dec. 31

	As of Dec. 31, 2008

TEUR

2009

		TCHF	TEUR	TDKK	Total

2009

2008

Unsecured – at amortised cost				
Bank overdrafts
12,660
8,198
–
Other loans
1,330
–
7,638

Bank overdrafts
Other loans

–
18

–
1,412

8,198
–

8,198
1,430

–
1,430

Total

18

1,412

8,198

9,628

Total

1,430

The average interest rates paid were as follows:

13,990

2008

8,198

7,638

TEUR 7,537 (1,248) of non-current other loans and TEUR 1,330 (0) of current other loans
are related to the financing of renovation investments in a German hotel under a management contract. Rezidor has not received any cash in connection with this loan, but has
assumed an obligation for the financing of a portion of the renovation works as part of the
management agreement. An intangible asset corresponding to the rights granted through
the management agreement has been recognised at the same time. Interest costs amounting to TEUR 406 (interest rate 5.8%), incurred during the renovation period, have been
capitalised. The repayment of the non-current part of the loan is linked to the amount of
fees collected from this hotel.
No borrowing costs other than those described above have been capitalised.
These borrowings are not subject to any covenants and the Group has not pledged any
assets as collateral to secure the borrowings.
The carrying amounts in EUR of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:
	As of Dec. 31, 2009
		TCHF	TEUR	TDKK	Total
Bank overdrafts
Other loans

–
1

12,660
8,967

–
–

12,660
8,968

Total

1

21,627

–

21,628

NOTE
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For the Year Ended Dec. 31
TEUR
Bank overdraft
Other loans

2009

2008

1.03%
5.80%

4.54%
6.99%

All liabilities to financial institutions are repayable within one year
SPLIT OF BANK OVERDRAFT
	As of Dec. 31
TEUR
Bank overdraft facilities granted
Utilisation of bank overdraft: in guarantees
Utilisation of bank overdraft: in cash
Bank overdraft facilities unutilised

2009

2008

106,800
(2,381)
(12,660)

106,800
(1,139)
(8,198)

91,759

97,463

In 2008 Rezidor signed a long-term agreement with a leading European bank, securing
combined overdraft and guarantee facilities with varied terms and no covenants for a
total amount of TEUR 105,000. In addition, the Group has credit facilities of TEUR 1,800
granted by other banks.

 OTHER CURRENT NON-INTEREST-BEARING 
LIABILITIES

	As of Dec. 31
TEUR
Prepayments from customers
Accrued expenses & prepaid income
Other short term non-interest-bearing liabilities
Total
		
Less assets held for sale
Total reported other current non-interestbearing liabilities

2009

2008

6,249
67,539
21,732

5,984
77,494
19,795

95,520

103,237

(596)

–

94,924

103,237
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Note 37 continued

SPECIFICATION OF ACCRUED EXPENSES AND PREPAID INCOME
		Opening Balance as					 Closing balance as
TEUR
of Jan. 1, 2009	Utilisation	Additions
Release	Translation
of Dec. 31, 2009
Vacation pay including social costs
Accrual for overtime including social costs
Accrual for bonus including social costs
Accrual for energy costs
Accrued rent
Other accrued expenses
Prepaid income

13,854
379
3,564
3,110
–
52,372
4,215

(13,620)
(369)
(3,064)
(2,838)
–
(41,566)
(1,045)

12,191
473
5,360
2,700
3,647
29,547
861

(161)
–
(302)
1
–
(5,458)
–

1,069
4
5
61
–
2,496
53

13,333
487
5,563
3,034
3,647
37,391
4,084

Total

77,494

(62,502)

54,779

(5,921)

3,688

67,539

NOTE

38

 
RELATED PARTIES

Related parties with significant influence are: The Carlson Group (Carlson) owning
45.5% of shares outstanding, Key Management of Rezidor, joint ventures and associated
companies.

CARLSON
The business relationship with Carlson mainly consists of operating costs related to the use
of the brands and for the use of the reservation system of Carlson. Rezidor is also paying
commissions towards the travel agencies network of Carlson.

The related party transactions with Carlson are split as follows:
			Amonts owed by 	Amounts owed to
Revenue	Operating cost
the related parties
the related parties
TEUR
Carlson Inc,
Carlson Travel Agencies

Dec. 31, 2009

Dec. 31, 2008

Dec. 31, 2009

Dec. 31, 2008

Dec. 31, 2009

Dec. 31, 2008

Dec. 31, 2009

Dec. 31, 2008

2,130
–

–
–

8,555
504

8,029
657

157
–

753
–

912
41

959
180

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have
been given or received. No expense has been recognised in the period for bad or doubtful
debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.
In December 08, Rezidor entered into an agreement with Carlson, whereby Carlson
acquired the right to use certain brand tools, concepts, manuals and intellectual property
developed by Rezidor for the Radisson brand. Carlson paid MEUR 1.8, equal to the estimated fair value for the products which were delivered in January 2009. The revenue from
this transaction has consequently been recognised in 2009. In September and October
2009, similar agreements were entered into between Rezidor and Carlson regarding an
F&B concept (for which Carlson paid MUER 0.2) and graphic standards and an operating
equipment list for the Park Inn Brand (for which Carlson paid total MEUR 0.2).

NOTE
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TEUR		2009

2008

Loans due from joint ventures and associated companies		9,716
Revenue (Management Fees) from joint ventures
and associated companies		1,293

9,766
1,482

More information about shares in joint ventures and associates and the loans to the entities
is disclosed in Note 22, 23 and 26.

 
ASSETS PLEDGED, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITTED INVESTMENTS

	As of Dec. 31
TEUR		2009

2008

Assets pledged
Securities on deposit		3,344

2,977

Total assets pledged		3,344

2,977

Contingent liabilities
Miscellaneous guarantees provided		2,381

1,139

Total guarantees provided		2,381

1,139

Under the lease agreements, Rezidor is responsible for maintaining the hotel building
in good repair and condition over the term of the lease agreement. Under certain lease
agreements, Rezidor is required to invest an agreed percentage of the hotel revenue in
maintenance of the particular property. If renovation works for a period have been lower
than what is required for in the lease agreements, the renovation works will have to be
carried out at a later stage. The total investments carried out by Rezidor may therefore vary
from year to year, but normally amount to 4–5% of leased hotel revenue.
The Company has a 20.0% associate, Afrinord Hotel Investment A/S (“Afrinord”), to
develop/acquire projects in Africa. With respect to Afrinord, the total investment commitment as of December 31, 2009 was TEUR 7,000 and the Company made a capital contribution of TEUR 50 during 2006. Afrinord has partly financed a hotel in Adis Ababa, Ethiopia,
through a loan agreement of TEUR 2,500 in 2009, of which the Company’s contribution
was TEUR 500. The remaining commitment is consequently in TEUR 6,450. A decision to
invest in a project through Afrinord requires an approval by four out of five shareholders.

46

JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
	As of Dec. 31
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Litigation
Rezidor Hotel Group operates in a number of countries around the world and is always
involved in several complex projects and business relationships where there can be professional disputes on various issues. Most often these situations find its solution through
negotiations and discussions. In some rare situations these disputes can lead to major
disagreements or claims of violation of law. Provisions for claims due to known disputes
are recorded whenever there is a situation where it is more likely than not that the company
will have an obligation to settle the dispute and where a reliable estimate can be made
regarding the outcome of such dispute. Rezidor is not engaged in any legal or arbitration
proceedings, including those which are pending and described below or known to be
contemplated, which, in Rezidor’s judgement, may have or have a material effect on the
company’s financial position or profitability during 2009. The members of the Board of
Directors have no knowledge of any proceedings pending or threatened against Rezidor
or any of the subsidiaries or any facts likely to give rise to any litigation, claims or proceedings which might materially affect the financial position or business of the Company as at
December 31st, 2009.
Below is a description of pending material legal proceedings:
In May 2006, Stonehaven Trust Limited (“Stonehaven”) submitted a claim against
Rezidor’s subsidiary Rezidor Hotels ApS Danmark (previously SAS Hotels A/S Danmark)
before the Brussels Commercial Court. Stonehaven is claiming MEUR 35.4 as compensation
for the alleged wrongful termination of negotiations in 2001 of a management agreement to
be entered into upon finalisation of the acquisition as well as after the completion of the full
renovation of a hotel in Bruges, Belgium. The claim is in respect of wasted time, costs and the
profit Stonehaven would have obtained from the management agreement had it been entered
into. On October 30th, 2009 the Commercial Court of Brussels dismissed all of Stonehaven’s
claims. On December 28th, 2009 Stonehaven appealed the decision. In its appeal it has simply
restated its claims as already presented before the Commercial Court of Brussels. Rezidor
believe, based on legal advice and opinions provided by the company’s external legal counsel,
that the claim is without merit. Accordingly Rezidor have not included any provision in the
accounts to cover this claim, neither for the costs of defence.

Consolidated accounts
Note 39 continued

Note 40 continued

In November 2005, the Radisson Blu hotel in Amman, Jordan was a target of a terrorist bomb attack which killed or injured a number of people and damaged the Radisson
Blu hotel building. The hotel owner has received notice of 42 claims. The majority of the
claims do not have amounts specified and Rezidor have been informed by the company’s
insurers that are handling the cases that the Jordanian court will appoint an expert for
the determination of reasonable damages. The Jordanian court of first instance has ruled
in four of the cases. The first one with a decision that the hotel owner was not liable for the
loss and in the other three cases the court ruled against the hotel owner and ordering the
hotel owner to pay damages in total of 82.188 JOD, 290.253 JOD and 80.000 JOD. All
the four court decisions have been appealed and in the cases the hotel owner lost, all the
points of the decision have been contested. The Radisson Blu hotel in Amman was trading
under a franchise agreement which was terminated by Rezidor per 31 May 2007. Per 31
December 2008 no formal claim for compensation originating from the terrorist attack
has been made against Rezidor or any of Rezidor’s subsidiaries. Rezidor believe that as the
company did not operate the hotel, and based on legal advice provided by the company’s
external legal counsel, that Rezidor are not liable for damages to third parties caused by
the terrorist bomb attack. Rezidor has also initiated a trademark infringement claim
against the former franchisee (hotel owner) before Jordanian courts since the franchisee
has continued to operate the hotel using the Radisson Blu name after the termination date.
Rezidor obtained an interim court ruling in November 2008 for the immediate removal
of the trademarks from the hotel. The franchisee alleges that the franchise agreement was
not lawfully terminated and has initiated a wrongful termination claim against Rezidor
before Jordanian courts claiming damages of JD 10 million. A judgement was issued by
the Court of First Instance on December 14th, 2009 to dismiss the lawsuit. The hotel owner
has appealed the decision to the Court of Appeal. Rezidor believes based on legal advice
and opinions provided by the company’s external counsel that the claim is without merit.
Accordingly Rezidor has not included any provision in the accounts to cover this claim,
neither for the costs of defence.
In April 2000 Rezidor Hotels ApS Danmark was awarded damages with approximately
MUSD 5.35 in an arbitration concerning wrongful termination of a management agreement in respect of a resort in Sharm el Sheikh, Egypt. During the enforcement proceedings the hotel owner, an Egyptian partnership, was declared bankrupt. Also on Rezidor’s
applications the individual partners and the joint stock company to which the hotel assets
were transferred were declared bankrupt. Rezidor have initiated debt collection cases
against all parties which were partners or has/have had assets formerly owned by the
bankrupt partnership. A criminal court in Egypt has sentenced the owners of the partnership to three years imprisonment for fraudulent bankruptcy and appeals are pending at the
highest criminal court. In the course of asserting and locating assets Rezidor were during
2007 informed that the resort that was the subject of arbitration proceedings was offered
for sale by an investment bank on behalf of some of the respondents in the debt collection
cases. Rezidor’s Egyptian external counsel served legal notice on the investment bank, on
the bankruptcy trustee and the stock exchange authority that the hotel assets are subject
to collection claims. This has lead to a counterclaim being filed against Rezidor Hotels ApS
Danmark with MEGP 200 by the joint stock company and its individual shareholders for
the damage to their investment/divestment opportunities. Rezidor’s Egyptian external
counsel has advised that Rezidor are within the company’s legal rights in making the
notifications and that they consider the claims to be without legal merits. Accordingly
Rezidor have not included any provisions in the accounts to cover this claim, nether for
the costs of defence.
In August 2003, Carestel NV and Carestel Motorway Services NV (together “Carestel”)
initiated legal proceedings against Rezidor’s subsidiaries, The Rezidor Hotel Group NV/SA
(previously Rezidor SAS Hospitality NV), Rezidor Hotels ApS Danmark (previously SAS
Hotels A/S Danmark) and GH Holding NV, claiming damages for breach of the company’s
obligation under Belgian law to negotiate with Carestel in good faith. The claim relates to
certain aborted acquisition negotiations held in 2002 and 2003 regarding the proposed
acquisition of certain subsidiaries of Carestel that owned a Belgian hotel portfolio. The
amount claimed by Carestel is approximately MEUR 9.7, representing legal costs, lost
management time, loss of reputation, misuse of confidential information and the difference between the price obtained by Carestel from the sale of the relevant subsidiaries to
a third party and the price proposed to be paid by Rezidor SAS Hospitality NV. Rezidor
have submitted pleadings in defence of the claim and the case is currently pending before
the Commercial Court of Brussels. Rezidor believes, based on legal advice and opinions
provided by the company’s external legal counsel, that the claim is without merit and, in any
event, that the amount of the damages claimed is overstated. Accordingly Rezidor have not
included any provision in the accounts to cover this claim or for the costs of defence.

two to three years’ aggregate fixed rent payment obligations (“cap”). If cumulative shortfall
payments reach this cap, the fixed rent payment obligation ceases and the lessor receives
only the variable rent. At year end 2009, Rezidor had 80 leasing contracts for hotels in
operation and under development that had some financial commitments, compared to
80 such contracts in 2008. The following provides an overview of the expiry of those
contracts – both in operation and under development. The leasing agreements expire in
the following years:
		
2009		
2008
	Number of leasing
	Number of leasing
Year
agreements expiring	Year
agreements expiring

NOTE

40

 
LEASING COMMITMENTS

Under Rezidor’s lease agreements, Rezidor lease hotel buildings from property owners or
other partners and are entitled to the benefits and carry the risks associated with operating
the hotel. Typically, Rezidor’s lease agreements include a variable rent clause under which
Rezidor are obligated to pay a variable rent based on a percentage of the total revenue generated by a hotel (“variable rent”). The majority of Rezidor’s lease agreements also include
a minimum rent payment obligation which is independent of the revenue generated by
the hotel (“fixed rent”). The fixed rent is typically adjusted annually to take into account
changes in a defined consumer price index. Generally, under contracts containing variable
and fixed rent clauses, Rezidor pay the higher of the two to the lessor. To limit Rezidor’s
financial exposure in the company’s lease contracts, Rezidor typically limit the “shortfall”
amount by which the fixed rent exceeds the variable rent to an amount corresponding to

2010
2011–2014
2015–2019
2020–2024
2025–2029
2030–2034
2035–2039
2040–2045

0
5
10
25
15
22
2
1

2009
2010–2014
2015–2019
2020–2024
2025–2029
2030–2034
2035–2039
2040–2045

1
5
12
22
19
19
1
1

The future leasing expense would entail payment of at least the annual fixed rent under
Rezidor’s lease agreements. The future minimum leasing expenses for all lease agreements
with a fixed rent effective on December 31, 2009 are shown in the following table. For
further information regarding rent payments, please refer to Note 13.
FUTURE MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS
TEUR
Within 1 year
1–5 years
After 5 years
Total

2009

2008

184,294
963,882
1,992,760

159,288
868,779
1,983,607

3,140,936

3,011,674

Revenue from sub leases recognised in 2009 amounted to TEUR 3,386 (3,398). The
expected future sub lease payments to be received from all fixed rent agreements are
shown in the table below:
FUTURE MINIMUM SUB LEASE INCOME
TEUR

2009

2008

Within 1 year
1–5 years
After 5 years

3,278
6,375
–

3,374
11,727
–

Total

9,653

15,101

NOTE

41

 
MANAGEMENT CONTRACT COMMITMENTS

Under Rezidor’s management agreements, Rezidor provide management services to thirdparty hotel proprietors. Rezidor derive revenue primarily from base fees determined as a
percentage of total hotel revenue and incentive management fees defined as percentage of
the gross operating profit or adjusted gross operating profit of the hotel operations.
In certain circumstances, Rezidor guarantee the hotel proprietor a minimum result
measured by adjusted gross operating profit or some other financial measure (a “guarantee).
Under such contracts, in the event that the actual result of a hotel is less than the guaranteed
amount, Rezidor compensate the hotel proprietor for the shortfall. However, in most agreements with such clauses, Rezidor’s obligation to compensate for such shortfall amount is
typically limited to two to three times the annual guarantee (the “guarantee cap”).
As at the end of the year, Rezidor had granted a certain level of financial commitment in
47 management contracts in 2009, as compared to 50 in 2008. The management contracts
containing such financial risk for the group will expire as presented in the table below:
		
		
Year
2010
2011–2014
2015–2019
2020–2024
2025–2029
2030–2034
2035–2039
2040–2045

2009		
2008
Number of management
	Number of management
agreements expiring	Year
agreements expiring
0
5
5
9
15
8
5
0

2009
2010–2014
2015–2019
2020–2024
2025–2029
2030–2034
2035–2039
2040–2045

0
5
4
11
17
11
1
1

The following table presents the Company’s capped contractual obligations under all
management contracts with financial guarantees and shows the maximum capped financial exposure.
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Note 41 continued

NOTE

TOTAL MAXIMUM FUTURE CAPPED GUARANTEE PAYMENTS

Group

TEUR
Within 1 year
1–5 years
After 5 years
Total

42

 
AUDITORS’ FEES
For the Year Ended Dec. 31

TEUR

2009

2008

72,682
94,239
19,173

77,758
118,754
25,564

186,094

222,076

The capped guarantee payment includes the contingent liabilities as disclosed in Note 39
(i.e. Guarantees provided for management contracts). For the full fiscal year 2009, Rezidor
paid TEUR 19,411 (10,706 in 2008) as shortfalls under its management agreements with
guarantees (see Note 13).

2009

2008

Deloitte		
Audit assignments
1,567
Other assignments
437

1,910
351

Total Deloitte
2,004
		
Other audit firms		
Audit assignments
40
Other assignments
731
Total other audit firms
Grand Total

2,261
61
441

771

502

2,775

2,763

Fees paid to Deloitte for audit assignments include fees related to support in Rezidor’s
internal audit work. These fees amounted to TEUR 52 (TEUR 292).

NOTE

43

 
POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

There are no post balance sheet events to report.

NOTE

44

 
GROUP COMPANIES AND LEGAL STRUCTURE

Rezidor Hotel Group AB has the following subsidiaries, joint-ventures, associated companies and other investments:
	As of Dec. 31 2009	As of Dec. 31 2008
Registered in	Ownership %	Share capital	Ownership %	Share capital
Belgium
Rezidor Finance S.A.
The Rezidor Hotel Group S.A.
Rezidor Hotel Brussels EU SPRL
GH Holding S.A. (dormant)
Rezidor Hotel Brussels S.A.
Rezidor Park Belgium S.A.
Cyprus
Doriscus Enterprises Limited
China
Rezidor Royal Hotel, Beijing, Co., Ltd
Denmark
Rezidor Hotels ApS Danmark
Rezidor Falconer Center A/S
Rezidor International Hotels Management A/S
SIHSKA A/S
Rezidor Scandinavia Hotel Aarhus A/S
Rezidor Riga Hotel A/S
Hotel Development S. Africa A/S
Rezidor Hotel Kiev A/S
Rezidor Hotel investment Egypt A/S
Rezidor Hotel investment France ApS
Hotel Investment Turkey A/S
Nordrus Joint Venture ApS
Rezidor Hotel Investment A/S
Rezidor Russia A/S
Rezidor Regent A/S
Rezidor Loyalty Management A/S
Rezidor Cornerstone A/S
Rezidor Hotel Management & Development A/S
Rezidor Hospitality A/S
Casino Denmark A/S
Casino Copenhagen K/S
Nordrus Hotels Holdings A/S
Africa Joint Venture Holding A/S
Afrinord Hotel Investments A/S
Egypt
Al Quesir Hotel Company S.A.E
France
Rezidor Resort France S.A.S.
Rezidor Hospitality France S.A.S.
Rezidor Hotels France S.A.S.
Royal Scandinavia Hotel Nice S.A.S.
Royal Scandinavia Hotel Marseille S.A.S.
Rezidor Park France S.A.S.

48

REZIDOR ANNUAL REPORT 2009

Brussels
Brussels
Brussels
Brussels
Brussels
Brussels

100
100
100
100
100
100

MEUR 0.1
MEUR 0.1
MEUR 4.5
MEUR 0.1
MEUR 7.3
MEUR 0.1

100
100
100
100
100
100

MEUR 0.1
MEUR 0.1
MEUR 4.5
MEUR 0.1
MEUR 15.5
MEUR 0.1

14.39

MEUR 19.8

14.39

MEUR 19.8

50

MUSD 9.0

50

MUSD 9.0

Copenhagen
Frederiksberg
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Aarhus
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
51
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
50
50
26.08
100
20

MDKK 210.0
MDKK1.2
MDKK 2.0
MDKK 3.0
MDKK 0.5
MDKK 1.5
MDKK 1.0
MDKK 1.0
MDKK1.0
MDKK2.5
MDKK 1.0
MDKK 0.6
MDKK 1.0
MDKK5.0
MDKK 4.0
MDKK 1.0
MDKK 2.4
MDKK 2.5
MEUR 83.0
MDKK1.0
MDKK 1.0
MDKK 5.7
MDKK 0.5
MEUR 0.3

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
51
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
50
50
26.08
100
20

MDKK 210.0
MDKK 1.2
MDKK 2.0
MDKK 3.0
MDKK 0.5
MDKK 1.5
MDKK 1.0
MDKK 1.0
MDKK 1.0
MDKK 2.5
MDKK 1.0
MDKK 0.6
MDKK 1.0
MDKK 5.0
MDKK 4.0
MDKK 1.0
MDKK 2.4
MDKK 2.5
MEUR 83.0
MDKK 1.0
MDKK 1.0
MDKK 5.7
MDKK 0.5
MEUR 0.3

Al Quesir City

20

MEGP 68

20

MEGP 68

100
100
100
100
100
100

MEUR 0.0
MEUR 2.4
MEUR 2.5
MEUR 2.4
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0

100
100
100
100
100
100

MEUR 0.0
MEUR 2.4
MEUR 2.5
MEUR 2.4
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0

Limassol
Beijing

Nice
Nice
Nice
Nice
Marseille
Nice

Consolidated accounts
Note 44 continued
	As of Dec. 31 2009	As of Dec. 31 2008
Registered in	Ownership %	Share capital	Ownership %	Share capital
Rezidor Lyon S.A.S.
Lyon
Rezidor Aix Les Bains S.A.S.
Aix Les Bains
Rezidor Park Nancy S.A.S.
Nancy
Rezidor Park Mâcon S.A.S.
Mâcon
Rezidor Park Lyon-Ouest S.A.S.
La Tour de Salvagny
Rezidor Park Arcachon S.A.S.
Arcachon
Rezidor Park Orange S.A.S.
Orange
Rezidor Les Loges S.A.S.
Aix Les Bains
SARL Régence Plage
Nice
Germany
Rezidor Hotels Deutschland GmbH
Hamburg
Rezidor Hotel Dresden GmbH
Hamburg
Rezidor Hotel Rügen GmbH
Hamburg
Rezidor Hotel Hannover GmbH
Hamburg
Rezidor Hotel Hamburg Airport GmbH
Hamburg
Rezidor Hotel Köln GmbH
Hamburg
Rezidor Hotel Wiesbaden GmbH
Hamburg
Rezidor Hotel Berlin GmbH
Hamburg
Rezidor Regent Berlin GmbH
Hamburg
Rezidor Hotel Karlsruhe GmbH
Hamburg
Rezidor Hotel Frankfurt am Main GmbH
Hamburg
Rezidor Shared Services Centre Deutschland GmbH
Duisburg
Park Inn München Frankfurter Ring GmbH
Munich
Park Inn München Ost GmbH
Munich
Rezidor Düsseldorf Media Harbour Hotel GmbH
Hamburg
Rezidor Park Deutschland GmbH
Duisburg
Rezidor Park Nürnberg GmbH
Duisburg
Timmendorf mbH & Co Beteiligungs KG
Timmendorfer Strand
Italy
Rezidor Hotel Milan S.r.l.
Milan
Kuwait
First Hotels Company KSCC
Safat
Netherlands
Rezidor Hotel Amsterdam B.V.
Amsterdam
Norway
Rezidor Hospitality Norway AS
Oslo
Rezidor Hotels Norway AS
Oslo
Rezidor Shared Service Center AS
Oslo
Rezidor Park Norway AS
Oslo
Russian federation
Nordrus Hotels Limited Liability Company
Moscow
South Africa
RHW Joint Venture Southern Africa (Pty) Ltd
Cape Town
RHW Management Southern Africa (Pty) Ltd
Cape Town
Spain
Rezidor Hotel Madrid S.L.U
Madrid
Sweden
Solna
Rezidor Hotel Holdings AB
Rezidor Hotel AB
Solna
Rezidor Sweden AB
Stockholm
Rezidor Hospitality Sweden AB
Solna
Rezidor Hotel & Congress AB
Solna
AB Strand Hotel
Stockholm
Royal Viking Hotel AB
Stockholm
Hotel AB Bastionen
Gothenburg
Rezidor Arlandia Hotel AB
Stockholm
Rezidor SkyCity Hotel AB
Stockholm
Rezidor Royal Hotel AB
Malmö
Rezidor Park AB
Solna
Switzerland
Rezidor Park Switzerland AG
Zug
Rezidor Hotels Switzerland AG
Basel
The Rezidor Bar & Restaurant Company AG
Basel
Turkey
Maçka Otelcilik Anonim Sirketi
Istanbul
United Kingdom
Rezidor Hotels UK Ltd.
Manchester
Rezidor Portman (Holdings) Ltd.
Manchester
Rezidor Hotel Manchester Ltd.
Manchester
Rezidor Hotel Leeds Ltd.
Manchester
Rezidor Hotel Edinburgh Ltd.
Manchester
Rezidor Hotel Stansted Airport Ltd.
Manchester
Rezidor Lifestyle Glasgow Ltd.
Manchester
Rezidor Hotel Management Ltd.
Manchester
Rezidor Park UK Ltd.
Manchester
Park Hotel Heathrow Ltd.
Manchester
Park Hotels Management Ltd.
Manchester
Rezidor Lifestyle Edinburgh Ltd.
Manchester
United States of America
RC International Marketing Services, Inc.
Minnesota
		

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
18.67

MEUR 0.2
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.8
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
18.67

MEUR 0.2
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.8
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 0.0
MEUR 3.1

100

MEUR 0.0

–

–

1.82

MKWD 40.0

1.82

MKWD 40.0

100

MEUR 0.0

100

MEUR 0.0

100
100
100
100

MNOK 102.0
MNOK 11.0
MNOK 0.1
MNOK 0.1

100
100
100
100

MNOK 102.0
MNOK 11.0
MNOK 0.1
MNOK 0.1

100

MRUB 0.0

26.08

MRUB 0.0

50
50

MRAND 10.3
MRAND 0.0

50
50

MRAND 12.0
MRAND 0.0

100

MEUR 0.0

–

–

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

MEUR 0.1
MSEK 5.2
MSEK 0.1
MSEK 18.0
MSEK 0.1
MSEK 0.3
MSEK 8.0
MSEK 1.0
MSEK 1.0
MSEK 1.0
MSEK 1.0
MSEK 0.1

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

MEUR 0.1
MSEK 5.2
MSEK 0.1
MSEK 18.0
MSEK 0.1
MSEK 0.3
MSEK 8.0
MSEK 1.0
MSEK 1.0
MSEK 1.0
MSEK 1.0
MSEK 0.1

100
99.7
99.7

MCHF 0.1
MCHF 0.1
MCHF 0.1

100
99.7
99.7

MCHF 0.1
MCHF 0.1
MCHF 0.1

56

BTL 50

56

BTL 50

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

MGBP 32.2
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

MGBP 32.2
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0
MGBP 0.0

100

MUSD 0.0

100

MUSD 0.0
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PARENT COMPANY, STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
		

For the Year Ended December 31

TEUR (except for share related data)	Notes

2009

2008

2
3
4,5

3,029
(2,571)
(9,152)

3,728
(2,882)
(9,494)

Operating loss before depreciation and amortisation
			
Depreciation and amortisation expense
8

(8,694)

(8,648)

(121)

(70)

Operating loss
			
Financial income
6
Financial expense
6

(8,815)

(8,718)

–
(1,848)

3,475
(1,632)

Loss before tax
		
Income tax
7

(10,663)

(6,875)

Revenue
Personnel cost
Other operating expenses

Loss for the period
Proposed dividend per share (in Euro)

2,620

1,907

(8,043)
0.00

(4,968)
0.00

PARENT COMPANY, BALANCE SHEET STATEMENTS
	As of December 31
TEUR	Notes

2009

2008

8
8
9
7

254
–
232,361
2,735

245
6
231,560
–

		
Current assets
Inventories
Accounts receivable
Receivables group companies
10
Income tax receivable
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and accrued income
11
Cash and cash equivalents

235,350

231,811

1
18
136
45
16
252
1

1
7
16,190
28
12
222
1

		

469

16,461

Total assets
235,819
			
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES			
Equity
Restricted equity
Share capital
10,000

248,272

ASSETS			
Fixed assets			
Machinery and equipment
Investments in progress
Shares in subsidiaries
Deferred tax asset

		
Non-restricted equity 		
Share premium reserve
Retained earnings
Net loss for the year
		
Total equity

10,000

10,000

10,000

197,297
(12,199)
(8,043)

197,297
(8,032)
(4,968)

177,055

184,297

187,055

194,297

191
46,985
1,468
120

82
52,435
1,295
163

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Liabilities group companies
Accrued expenses and prepaid income
Other liabilities

12
14

		

48,764

53,975

Total liabilities		

48,764

53,975

235,819
None
None

248,272
None
None

Total equity and liabilities
Contingent liabilities
Pledged assets

50
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PARENT COMPANY, STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
		Share			
	Share
premium
Retained	Net loss for	Total
TEUR
capital
reserve
earnings
the year	Equity
Equity as of Dec. 31, 2007

Allocation of last year’s result
Dividends paid
Share buy back
Long term incentive plan
Group contribution
Tax effect on group contribution
Net loss for the period
Equity as of Dec. 31, 2008
Allocation of last year’s result
Long term incentive plan
Net loss for the period
Equity as of Dec. 31, 2009

10,000

212,100

(4,893)

(1,887)

215,320

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
(14,803)
–
–
–
–
–

(1,887)
–
(8,381)
225
9,589
(2,685)
–

1,887
–
–
–
–
–
(4,968)

–
(14,803)
(8,381)
225
9,589
(2,685)
(4,968)

10,000

197,297

(8,032)

(4,968)

194,297

–
–
–

–
–
–

(4,968)
801
–

4,968
–
(8,043)

–
801
(8,043)

10,000

197,297

(12,199)

(8,043)

187,055

For information on share capital, please see Note 33 of the consolidated financial statements.

PARENT COMPANY, STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
For the Year Ended December 31
TEUR	Notes

2009

2008

OPERATIONS
Loss Before Interest and Taxes		

(8,815)

(8,718)

Adjustments for non cash items:			
Depreciation and amortisation
8
121

70

Interest received
6
Interest paid
6
Other financial items		
Tax paid		

–
(470)
(1,378)
(132)

255
(1,632)
3,220
(15)

Cash flows from operations before change in working capital		

(10,674)

(6,820)

Change in:			
Current receivables		
9,530
Current liabilities		
(102)

4,369
(232)

Change in working capital		

9,428

4,137

Cash flow from operating activities		

(1,246)

(2,683)

INVESTMENTS			
Purchase of machinery and equipment
8
(125)

(58)

Cash flow from investing activities		

(125)

(58)

FINANCING			
Dividend paid
–
Share buy-back
–
Change in interest bearing liabilities and cash pool accounts		
1,371

(14,803)
(8,381)
20,148

Cash flow from financing activities

1,371

(3,036)

Cash flow for the year

0

(5,777)

Cash and cash equivalents, January 1
Cash and cash equivalents, December 31

1
1

5,778
1
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Notes to the Parent Company
Average number of employees	As of Dec. 31

Note 1 General Information
Note 2 	Revenue Distribution
Note 3 Personnel
Note 4 Other Operating Expenses
Note 5 Auditors’ Fees
Note 6 Financial Income and Expenses
Note 7 Tax
Note 8 Tangible Fixed Assets
Note 9 Shares in Subsidiaries
Note 10 Receivables Group Companies
Note 11 Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Note 12 Liabilities Group Companies
Note 13 Credit Facilities
Note 14 Accrued Expenses

NOTE

2009

NOTE

2

 
REVENUE DISTRIBUTION

27

As of Dec. 31
2009

2008

3.37

4.73

0.00
4.61
0.86
4.42
5.43
0.36

24.49
5.91
2.01
3.85
5.37
4.76

4

 
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
For the Year Ended Dec 31.

TEUR

2009

2008

External service fees
Other external expenses
Expenses from group companies
Rent

1,085
1,622
6,226
219

855
1,103
7,328
208

Total

9,152

9,494

NOTE

5

 
AUDITOR’S FEES
For the Year Ended Dec 31.

TEUR
2009

2008

External revenue
Revenue from group companies

232
2,797

354
3,374

3,029

3,728

3

 
PERSONNEL
For the Year Ended Dec 31.

TEUR

2009

2008

Salaries
Social security
Pension costs
Other personnel costs (other benefits in kind)

1,545
746
208
72

1,811
760
144
167

Total

2,571

2,882

These costs are included in the line personnel cost in the income statement and are related
to compensation to persons with employment in the company, including remuneration to
the CEO of Rezidor Group, Mr Ritter, of TEUR 106 (TEUR 108) (excluding social costs).
The remainder of its remuneration is paid by the ‘Rezidor Hotel Group S.A.’ in Belgium.
Also refer to Note 10 of the Group Accounts for complete information regarding his employment agreement.
In addition, total remuneration to the Board of Directors amounted to TEUR 388
(TEUR 382). See also Note 10 of the Group accounts for further information regarding
remuneration to the Board of Directors and senior management. The average number of
employees in Rezidor Hotel Group AB 2009 was 32 (38).
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Sick-leave as a proportion of regular working hours
Proportion of total sick-leave relating to continous
absence for 60 days or more
Sick-leave women
Sick-leave men
Sick-leave employees aged 29 or younger
Sick-leave employees aged 30–49
Sick-leave employees aged 50 or older

TEUR

52

22

Sick-leave

 
GENERAL INFORMATION

Payroll cost

Women

10

%

For the Year Ended Dec 31.

NOTE

Men

The number of Board members is also disclosed in Note 10 of the Group accounts.

1

Total Revenue

Women

Sweden

The Parent Company has prepared its Annual Report in accordance with the Swedish
Annual Accounts Act, RFR 2.2 (Accounting for legal entities) of the Swedish Financial
Accounting Standards Council and applicable statements from its emerging issues
Committee. Pursuant to RFR 2.2, in preparing the Annual Accounts for the legal entity,
the Parent Company shall apply all international Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
and statements, as approved by the European union, as far as this is possible within the
framework of the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and the Act on Safeguarding of pension
obligations (Tryggandelagen) taking into account the relationship between reporting and
taxation. The Parent Company has Euro as presentation currency.
The Parent Company mainly applies the principles explained in the present Note 3 to
the Group accounts as in the consolidated accounts.

NOTE

2008

Men

2009

2008

Deloitte		
Audit assignments
299
Other assignments
46

506
37

Total Deloitte

543

345

Other audit firms		
Other assignments
237

14

Total other audit firms

237

14

Grand total

582

557

NOTE

6

 
FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
For the Year Ended Dec 31.

TEUR

2009

2008

Interest income from financial institutions
Foregin currency exchange gains

–
–

255
3,220

Financial income

–

3,475

(470)
(1,372)
(6)

(1,632)
–
–

Financial expense

(1,848)

(1,632)

Financial income and expenses, net

(1,848)

1,843

Interest expenses to group companies
Foregin currency exchange losses
Other financial expenses

parent company Accounts
NOTE

7

 
tax

NOTE

10

 
RECEIVABLES GROUP COMPANIES

For the Year Ended Dec 31.

As of Dec 31.

TEUR

2009

2008

TEUR

2009

Deferred income

2,620

1,907

2008

Receivables group companies, cash pool
Other

–
136

Recorded tax

2,620

1,907

6,478
9,712

Total

136

16,190

Reconciliation of effective tax
%

2008

%

Loss before tax
(10,663)		
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 26.3%
2,804
26.3
Adjustments recognised in the current year in
relation to the current tax of prior years
(115)		
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 			
in determining taxable income
(69)		

TEUR

2009

(6,877)
1,926

28.0

Recorded tax

2,620

Deferred tax in the balance sheet
Attributable to tax losses carried forward

NOTE

(18)
1,907

–		

–

11

 
PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME
As of Dec 31.

TEUR

–

24.6

NOTE

27.7

2009

2008

Prepaid rent
Other

48
204

48
174

Total

252

222

NOTE

8

 
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

12

 
LIABILITIES GROUP COMPANIES
As of Dec 31.

TEUR

Machinery and equipment
TEUR

2009

2008

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2009
Investments
Disposals
Reclassification

382
125
(4)
6

207
52
–
123

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

509

382

Accumulated depreciations and impairment

2009

2008

Liabilities group companies, cash pool
Interest-bearing liabilities to group companies
Other

30,207
16,424
354

28,419
23,319
697

Total

46,985

52,435

NOTE

13

 
CREDIT FACILITIES

In 2008, the Group signed a long-term agreement with a leading European bank as part of
Rezidor’s efforts to streamline its banking structure and secure appropriate overdraft and
credit facilities. The banking structure provides a cross-border cash pool, which the Parent
Company is part of. The total credit facilities in this new credit structure are described in
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2009
Depreciations expense
Disposals

(138)
(121)
4

(68)
(70)
–

Closing accumulated depreciation

(255)

(138)

254

245

2009

2008

TEUR

6
–
(6)

123
6
(123)

Vacation pay including social costs
Salaries and remuneration
Other accrued expenses

–

6

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

NOTE

Investment in progress

 
ACCRUED EXPENSES
As of Dec 31.

TEUR
Acquisition value as of Jan. 1, 2009
Investments
Reclassification
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

NOTE

14

Total

2009

2008

369
248
851

352
267
676

1,468

1,295

9

 
SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES
As of Dec 31.

TEUR

2009

2008

Opening book value
Investments in subsidiaries (Rezidor Hotel Holdings AB)

231,560
801

231,335
225

Closing book value

232,361

231,560

The increase in the book value in 2009 and 2008 is attributable to cost of the longterm incentive programme, further described in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.
Rezidor Hotel Group AB (publ) has the following subsidiaries:
			
		Owned
		
Registered	Identity	No. of
share Book
Sweden
in
no.
shares
in %
value
Rezidor Hotel Holdings AB Stockholm

556674-0972 106,667

100

232,361

See Note 44 in the Group Accounts for the List of Subsidiaries.
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Signatures of the Board
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and give a true and fair view of
the Group’s financial position and results of operations. The financial
statement of the Parent Company have been prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in Sweden and give a true
and fair view of the Parent Company’s financial position and results of
operations.

The Board of Directors’ report of the Group and the Parent Company
provides a fair review of the development of the Group’s and the Parent
Company’s operations, financial position and results of operations and
describes material risks and uncertainties facing the Parent Company
and companies included in the Group.

Stockholm 10 March 2010
Urban Jansson
Chairman of the Board

Hubert Joly
Vice Chairman of the Board

Trudy Rautio
Board Member

Göte Dahlin
Board Member

Benny Zakrisson
Board Member

Harald Einsmann
Board Member

Jay Witzel
Board Member

Ulla Litzén
Board Member

Barry Wilson
Board Member

Emil Bäckström
Union Representative

Kurt Ritter
President and CEO

Mats Hansson
Union Representative
Our audit report was submitted on 10 March 2010
Deloitte AB
Thomas Strömberg
Authorised public accountant
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Audit Report
To the annual general meeting of the shareholders of
Rezidor Hotel Group AB (publ)
Corporate identity number 556674-0964

We have audited the annual accounts, the consolidated accounts, the
accounting records and the administration of the board of directors and
the managing director of Rezidor Hotel Group AB for the financial year
2009. The Annual Report and consolidated accounts are included on
pages 10-54 of this document. The board of directors and the managing
director are responsible for these accounts and the administration of the
company as well as for the application of the Annual Accounts Act when
preparing the annual accounts and the application of international financial reporting standards IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the Annual
Accounts Act when preparing the consolidated accounts. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the annual accounts, the consolidated
accounts and the administration based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards in Sweden. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the annual
accounts and the consolidated accounts are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and their application by the
board of directors and the managing director and significant estimates
made by the board of directors and the managing director when preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of information in the annual accounts and the
consolidated accounts. As a basis for our opinion concerning discharge
from liability, we examined significant decisions, actions taken and
circumstances of the company in order to be able to determine the liability, if any, to the company of any board member or the managing director.

We also examined whether any board member or the managing director
has, in any other way, acted in contravention of the Companies Act, the
Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion set out below.
The annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with the
Annual Accounts Act and give a true and fair view of the company’s
financial position and results of operations in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in Sweden. The consolidated accounts
have been prepared in accordance with international financial reporting
standards IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the Annual Accounts Act and
give a true and fair view of the group’s financial position and results of
operations. The statutory administration report is consistent with the
other parts of the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts.
We recommend to the annual general meeting of shareholders that
the statements of operations and balance sheet statements of the parent
company and the group be adopted, that the profit of the parent company
be dealt with in accordance with the proposal in the administration
report and that the members of the board of directors and the managing
director be discharged from liability for the financial year.
Stockholm, March 10, 2010
Deloitte AB
Thomas Strömberg
Authorised Public Accountant

This document is a translation of the Swedish original.
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Corporate Governance Report
Rezidor Hotel Group AB is incorporated
under the laws of Sweden with a public listing
at Nasdaq OMX Stockholm (the “Stockholm
Stock Exchange”). The Company’s shares have
been listed since November 28th, 2006. Reflecting this, the corporate governance of Rezidor
Hotel Group AB is based on Swedish legislation and regulations, primarily the Swedish
Companies Act, but also the Listing Agreement with the Stockholm Stock Exchange,
the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance,
the Articles of A ssociation and other relevant
rules. This Corporate Governance Report for
the 2009 fiscal year has not been reviewed by
the Company’s auditors.
Annual General Meeting
Shareholders can exercise their right to decide
on the Company’s business at General Meetings
of Shareholders, which is Rezidor Hotel Group
AB’s highest decision-making body. These
meetings will be held in Stockholm. Rezidor’s
fourth Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) as a
listed company will be held in Stockholm on
April 16th, 2010. The notice convening the AGM
is required to be published not earlier than six
weeks, but not later than four weeks, before the
date of the AGM. All shareholders registered in
the shareholder’s register who have given timely
notification to the company of their intention
to attend and followed prescribed procedures
described in the notice convening the AGM,
may attend the meeting and vote for their total
share holdings. Shareholders who can not
participate personally may be represented by
proxy.

■■

■■

■■

■■
■■

■■

■■

Rezidor’s 2009 Annual General Meeting

Rezidor’s AGM in 2009 was held at the
R adisson Blu Royal Viking Hotel in Stockholm
on April 23rd, 2009. The AGM was attended by
124 shareholders, personally or by proxy, representing 112,135,436 shares and votes, comprising 76.64% of the total number of shares and
votes of the Company. The nine members of
the Board of Directors who were proposed for
re-election attended the AGM, as well as the
two ordinary employee representatives. Also
present were the CEO and key executives and
the Company’s auditor.
The minutes from the 2009 AGM have been
made available on Rezidor’s website in both
Swedish and English language versions. The
resolutions passed by the meeting included the
following:
■■ election of Mr. Dick Lundquist, attorney at
law, as Chairman of the AGM
■■ the annual accounts and the auditor’s
report, the consolidated accounts and the
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■■

■■

consolidated auditor’s report for the financial year 2008 were confirmed to have been
presented in the prescribed manner
it was decided that no dividend will be paid
for the year 2008 and that the distributable
funds are brought forward
Board members and the CEO were
discharged from liability for the 2008 fiscal
year
re-election of the Board members Mr. Göte
Dahlin, Mr. Urban Jansson, Dr. Harald
Einsmann, Mrs. Ulla Litzén, Mrs. Trudy
Rautio, Mr. Barry Wilson, Mr. Jay Witzel,
Mr. Benny Zakrisson and Mr. Hubert Joly
re-election of Mr. Urban Jansson as the
Chairman of the Board
it was resolved that the remuneration of
the Chairman of the Board shall amount
to EUR 65,000 and of each of the other
directors appointed by the AGM to EUR
36,000, and EUR 7,500 to the Chairman
of the Audit Committee, and EUR 5,000 to
the respective Chairman of the Compensation Committee and Finance Committee
and EUR 3,750 for each member of the
Audit Committee and EUR 2,500 for each
member of the Compensation and Finance
Committees and that the directors would
only receive remuneration for work in one
committee
re-election of Deloitte AB as the Company’s
auditor for an additional four year period
with Mr. Thomas Strömberg as the responsible partner and that the auditor’s fees
should be according to amounts invoiced
and approved
it was resolved to approve of the Board’s
proposal regarding the principles of remun
eration and other terms of employment for
key management for 2009
it was resolved to approve of the Board’s
proposal on a long term share related incentive programme for key management
the Board was given the authority to
decide on the purchase and transfer of the
Company’s own shares to give the Board
wider freedom of action in the work with the

Company’s capital structure and to secure
costs associated with the long term share
related incentive programme
■■ it was resolved to approve of the proposal
for a the procedure for appointment of the
Nominating Committee for the next AGM
■■ it was resolved to amend the Articles of
Association regarding time for and mode
of notices, which resolution was conditional
on that the Swedish Companies Act is first
amended accordingly
The AGM was held in Swedish. Due to Rezidor’s
international ownership and in order to allow
non-Swedish speaking shareholders to parti
cipate, the meeting was simultaneously interpreted to English and all of the information
materials for the meeting were also available
in English.
All requisite documents for the 2010 AGM,
will be published in Swedish and in English on
the website in advance of the AGM.
Decisions at an AGM usually require a
simple majority vote. However, for certain items
of business taken up at the AGM, the Swedish
Companies Act requires that a proposal be
approved by a higher percentage of the shares
and votes represented at the AGM.
Nominating Committee
The mission

The responsibility of the Nominating Committee is to nominate the persons to be elected by
the AGM as members of our Board of Directors.
The Nominating Committee makes recommendations for the election of members to the Board
of Directors and recommendations regarding
the allocation of remuneration to the Chairman
and other members of our Board of Directors
and the allocation of remuneration in respect
of committee work, if any. Such recommendations are presented at the AGM. The Nominating Committee also prepares a proposal for the
AGM regarding the election of auditors of the
Company, when applicable, and makes recommendations for remuneration of the auditors.
The Nominating Committee shall also make a

Representatives for the Nominating Committee for the 2010 AGM
		Share of votes
Member
Representing	August 31st, 2009	Position

William Van Brunt
Peter Rudman
Jan Andersson
Urban Jansson
Chairman

Carlson group
Nordea Investment Funds
Swedbank Robur Fonder AB
Chairman of the Board of Rezidor
Member

45.5%
10.0%
5.2%
–

Corporate Governance Report
recommendation regarding the procedure to be
used in appointing members of the Nominating
Committee for the next AGM.

Area, unless the Swedish Companies Registration Office grants an exemption from this
requirement.

Members

Mission and Responsibilities

In accordance with the decision made by the
AGM on April 23rd, 2009 the Nominating
Committee for the AGM on April 16th, 2010
was established.
Based on the list of shareholders per
August 31st, 2009 the Chairman of the Board
of Directors, Mr. Urban Jansson, contacted
the three largest shareholders, each of which
was offered the possibility to appoint one
representative of the Nominating Committee. The names of the committee members and
the shareholders they represented were made
public on October 14th, 2009.
In addition to Mr. Urban Jansson, the
committee representatives are Mr. William
Van Brunt representing the Carlson Group, Mr.
Jan Andersson representing Swedbank Robur
Fonder AB and Mr. Peter Rudman representing Nordea Investment Funds. Mr. William
Van Brunt is the Chairman of the committee.
The Committee has had two meetings in
2009, attended by all members, and during
which minutes were taken. The Nominating
Committee’s proposals will be presented in
the notice of the AGM and on the Company’s
website. Neither Mr. Urban Jansson nor the
other members of the Nominating Committee
received any compensation for their work in
the committee.

Each year, the Board of Directors establishes a
formal work plan clarifying the Board’s responsibilities. The work plan regulates the internal
division of duties between the Board and its
committees, including the role of the Chairman, the Board’s decision-making procedures,
its meeting schedule, procedures governing the
convening, agenda and minutes of meetings, as
well as the Board’s work on accounting, auditing
matters and financial reporting. In addition,
the Board of Directors has established separate
formal work plans for the Audit Committee,
the Compensation Committee and the Finance
Committee.
The work plan also governs how the Board
will receive information and documentation of
importance for its work to facilitate the making
of well-founded decisions. The Board has also
issued instructions for the CEO, as well for the
financial reporting to the Board. Moreover it
has adopted other special steering documents,
including a Finance Policy, a Communication
and Investor Relations Policy and a Code of
Business Ethics.
The responsibilities of the Board include
monitoring the work of the CEO through
ongoing reviews throughout the year. The
Board is further responsible for ensuring
that Rezidor’s organisation, management
and guidelines for the administration of the
Company’s interests are structured approp
riately and that there is satisfactory internal
control. The responsibilities of the Board also
include setting strategies and targets, establishing special control instruments, deciding on
larger acquisitions through business combinations and divestments of operations, deciding
on other large investments, deciding on deposits and loans in accordance with the Finance
Policy and issuing financial reports, as well as
evaluating the management of operations and
planning managerial succession.

The Board of Directors
Under the Swedish Companies Act, the Board
of Directors is ultimately responsible for the
organisation and the management of a company. The Articles of Association provide that
the Board of Directors shall be elected by the
shareholders and consist of not less than three –
and not more than fifteen – members. Further,
under the Swedish Companies Act, the CEO
and at least half of the members of the Board
of Directors of a company must be residents
of a country within the European Economic

Apart from the activities of the Audit, Compensation and Finance Committees, there has been
no allocation of work among the directors.
The Board shall be assisted by a Secretary,
who is not a member of the Board. The General
Counsel of Rezidor, Ms. Marianne Ruhngård,
was the Secretary at all Board meetings and all
committee meetings during 2009.
Activities of the Board 2009

According to current working procedures
adopted by the Board, the Board must convene
at least four times a year, in addition to the statutory Board meeting, and otherwise as necessary. In 2009 the Board held ten meetings. Four
of the Board meetings are coordinated with
the dates of the presentation of the external
financial reports. Additionally, in 2009, the
Board members attended a two-day meeting on strategic issues. Audit related matters
have been addressed as a special item during
a Board meeting at least once per year and in
conjunction therewith; the Board meets with
the Company’s auditor without the CEO or any
other member of management being present.
During 2009 the Board has been working in
accordance with the adopted working procedures. The main activities were as follows:
■■ keeping informed about the financial

■■

■■
■■
■■
■■
■■

 osition of the Company and the Group,
p
evaluating bank facilities and capital
requirements
adopting a budget and a business plan and
approving amendments to the finance
policy
evaluating internal control
discussing and approving of certain hotel
projects meeting defined criteria
development strategy and monitoring of
growth target fulfilment
investor relations matters, communication
policy & press communications
design and implementation of a share
related long term incentive programme for
key management and adopting a policy for

Composition of the Board in 2009							
						Independent of 	Independent of
						
the company and
the company’s
Elected
Position
Born
Nationality
Shareholding
its management
major owners

Urban Jansson
2006
Hubert Joly
2008
Göte Dahlin
2007
Harald Einsmann
2006
Ulla Litzén
2006
Trudy Rautio
2005
Barry W. Wilson
2007
Jay S. Witzel
2005
Benny Zakrisson
2005
2)
Mats Hansson 		
Emil Bäckström 2)		
Göran Larsson 2)		

1945
1959
1941
1934
1956
1952
1944
1947
1959
1953
1977
1960

Swedish
French
Swedish
German
Swedish
American
British
American
Swedish
Swedish
Swedish
Swedish

40,000
0
10,000 1)
65,780
10,000
0
50,000
0
30,000
0
0
0

Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes
n/a
n/a
n/a

Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes
n/a
n/a
n/a

1) Owned indirectly through an endowment insurance.
2) Mr. Hansson, Mr. Bäckström and Mr. Larsson are employee representatives and were appointed by the Swedish labour organisation “Hotell- och restaurangfacket”.			
				

Chairman
Vice Chairman
Member
Ordinary Employee representative
Deputy Employee representative		
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Attendance of the Board of Directors							
Board 	Audit
of Directors
Committee

Urban Jansson
Hubert Joly
Göte Dahlin
Harald Einsmann
Ulla Litzén
Trudy Rautio
Barry W. Wilson
Jay S. Witzel
Benny Zakrisson
Emil Bäckström
Mats Hansson 1)
Göran Larsson 1)

		
		
		

Compensation
Committee

Finance	Attendance
Committee
Board meetings

		
		
			
			
		

		
			
			
				
				
				

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
90%
90%
100%
89%
33%
56%

1) Mr. Hansson and Mr. Larsson together have an attendance of 89%.							

Chairman
Vice Chairman
Member
Ordinary Employee representative
Deputy Employee representative		
					

■■
■■
■■
■■

Board of Directors and Executive Committee shareholdings
adopting a sales and marketing plan
deciding upon the purchase of the Comp 
any’s own shares
analysing management’s plans for cost
savings
evaluating activities in relation to defined
focus hotels

The Board liaises with the auditors regarding plans for the audit procedure and reviews
what measures to take based on the auditors’
reporting. Major business areas are given an
opportunity to give an in-depth presentation
of their operations at a Board meeting at least
once a year.

be removed from office through a resolution
of shareholders, and vacancies on the Board
may likewise only be filled by a resolution of
shareholders.
At present, the Board of Directors is
composed of nine directors elected by the shareholders at the AGM, including the Chairman
and the Vice Chairman. As part of the Board’s
efforts to increase the efficiency and depth of
the Board’s work on certain issues the Board
has established three committees: the Audit
Committee, the Compensation Committee
and the Finance Committee. Each committee’s
work and areas of responsibility is described in
further detail under the respective heading in
this report.
Independence of Board members

The Chairman of the Board

At the AGM held on April 23rd, 2009 Mr. Urban
Jansson was elected as the Chairman of the
Board of Directors. At the statutory meeting
held by the Board of Directors immediately
after the AGM, the Board appointed Mr. Hubert
Joly as the Vice Chairman.
It is the responsibility of the Chairman to
monitor operations, in consultation with the
CEO, and ensure that the other Board members
receive the information necessary to maintain
a high level of quality in discussions and decisions. The Chairman is responsible for evaluating the Board’s work, including the work in the
Board committees and the efforts of individual
members, with regard to working procedures,
competences and the working climate. This
occurs annually in accordance with an established process and this evaluation is then shared
with the Nominating Committee. The Board’s
Compensation Committee participates in evaluation and development questions regarding
the Group’s Senior Executives.
Members of the Board of Directors

Pursuant to the articles of association, the
Board of Directors shall be elected at the AGM
and serve for a term expiring at the next AGM.
The members of the Board of Directors may
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None of the members of the Board of Directors elected by the shareholders at the AGM
are employed by Rezidor or any other company
within the Group. Based on the current version
of the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance,
the following assessment is made regarding the
independency of the members of the Board. Mr.
Urban Jansson, Mr. Göte Dahlin, Mrs. Ulla
Litzén, Mr Barry W. Wilson and Mr. Benny
Zakrisson are independent Directors in relation
to the Company and the Management as well as
in relation to major shareholders. Due to extensive business relations between Carlson Group
and Rezidor, Mr. Hubert Joly, Mr. Jay Witzel,
Mrs. Trudy Rautio and Dr. Harald Einsmann
are not independent Directors in relation to the
Company and the Management nor are they
independent in relation to major shareholders,
as they are related to Carlson Group.
Employee Board representatives

In accordance with the law (1987:1245) on board
representation for employees, the Swedish
labour organisation “Hotell- och restaurangfacket” have appointed two ordinary employee
representatives to the Board, Mr. Mats Hansson and Mr. Emil Bäckström and one deputy
employee Board representative, Mr. Göran
Larsson. The employee Board representatives

joined the Board in the 2009 fiscal year. The
term of their appointments will expire at the
AGM in 2011.
Audit Committee

The Board of Directors appoints the Chairman
and the members of the Audit Committee. The
members possess competence and experience
in the areas of accounting, auditing and/or
risk management. No decision-making power
has been bestowed on the Audit Committee.
The work procedures that apply for the Audit
Committee have been approved by the Board
of Directors.
The Audit Committee will convene at least
three times a year and otherwise when the
Chairman of the Board of Directors considers it suitable. Four of the Committee meetings are coordinated with the dates of the
presentation of the external financial reports.
Up until April 23rd, 2009, the Audit Committee consisted of Mrs. Ulla Litzén as the Chair,
Mr. Göte Dahlin and Mrs. Trudy Rautio. On
April 23rd, 2009 the Board decided at its statutory Board meeting following the AGM that
the Audit Committee should comprise of Mrs.
Ulla Litzén, Mrs. Trudy Rautio and Mr. Göte
Dahlin and appointed Mrs. Ulla Litzén as
Chairman. During 2009, the Audit Committee held eight meetings during which minutes
were taken. Mrs. Ulla Litzén, Mr. Göte Dahlin
and Mrs. Trudy Rautio had 100% attendance at
Audit Committee meetings during 2009. The
members have also continuously discussed
issues as needed. The auditors, Deloitte AB,
participated in three out of the eight meetings
that were held during 2009.
The Audit Committee is responsible for
ensuring the quality of the financial and operational reporting. The Audit Committee also
evaluates the procedures for internal control
and management of financial and operational
risks. The Audit Committee reviews the financial reports that are issued by the Board and
assesses that the information provided to the
market reflects the activities of the Company.
The Committee meets with the auditors at
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Remuneration of the Board of Directors							
Board of 	Audit
Directors fee
Committee
(EUR)
fee (EUR)

Urban Jansson
Hubert Joly
Göte Dahlin
Harald Einsmann
Ulla Litzén
Trudy Rautio
Barry W. Wilson
Jay S. Witzel
Benny Zakrisson
Total

Compensation
Committee
fee (EUR)

Finance
Committee fee
(EUR)	Total (EUR)

65,000		
2,500		
36,000		
5,000		
36 000
3,750			
36,000		
2,500
n/a
36,000
7,500			
36,000
3,750		
n/a
36,000		
2,500
n/a
36,000			
2,500
36,000			
5,000
353,000

regular intervals in order to inform itself
of the objectives and scope for the external
audit, it evaluates the external auditor’s work
and performance, including the extent of the
auditors possible non-audit related work for
Rezidor, and, where appropriate, it assists the
Nominating Committee in preparing proposals
for election of auditors and the remuneration of
the auditing work. The Chairman of the Audit
Committee is paid EUR 7,500 and each other
member of the Audit Committee is paid EUR
3,750.
Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee will consist of
at least three members of the Board of Directors who may not be employees of the Company. Up until April 23rd, 2009, the Compensation Committee comprised of Mr. Hubert
Joly as Chairman and Dr. Harald Einsmann,
Mr. Urban Jansson and Mr. Barry Wilson
as members. On April 23rd, 2009 the Board
decided at its statutory Board meeting that the
Compensation Committee should comprise
of Mr. Hubert Joly, Dr. Harald Einsmann,
Mr. Urban Jansson and Mr. Barry Wilson.
Mr. Hubert Joly was appointed Chairman.
The Swedish Code of Corporate Governance
requires that the members of the Compensation Committee should be independent in relation to the Company and the Management. Of
the current members, Mr. Hubert Joly and Dr.
Harald Einsmann are not considered to be
independent. Rezidor therefore deviates from
the rules of the Swedish Code of Corporate
Governance. However, in the opinion of the
Board it is important for the Compensation
Committee to have members with extensive
knowledge and experience of international
business and remuneration issues including
compensation packages for key executives in
the global hotel industry. No decision-making
power has been bestowed on the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee will convene at least twice a year, or as
often as the Board of Directors, the Chairman
or any member so requires. During 2009, the
Compensation Committee held six meetings
during which minutes were taken. Mr. Hubert
Joly, Dr. Harald Einsmann, Mr. Urban Jansson

15,000

12,500

and Mr. Barry Wilson had 100% attendance
at Compensation Committee meetings during
2009. In addition, members of the Compensation Committee have had informal contacts
about compensation issues throughout the
course of the year.
The Compensation Committee is responsible for preparing materials concerning
compensation and other employment benefits
for the Executive Committee and key officers of
the Group, and matters concerning the CEO are
submitted for final resolution by the Board of
Directors. The Compensation Committee also
takes the lead in the preparation of proposals
for the adoption of any share- or option-based
incentive programmes within the Group as
well as the preparation of the evaluation of the
CEO and his direct reports. The working procedures for the Compensation Committee have
been approved by the Board of Directors. The
Chairman of the Compensation Committee is
paid EUR 5,000 and each other member of the
Compensation Committee is paid EUR 2,500.
Finance Committee

The Finance Committee will consist of at least
three members of the Board of Directors. Up
until April 23rd, 2009, the Finance Committee comprised of Mr. Benny Zakrisson as the
Chairman and Mrs. Trudy Rautio and Mr. Jay
Witzel as members. On April 23rd, 2009 the
Board decided at the statutory Board meeting
that the Finance Committee should comprise
of Mr. Benny Zakrisson, Mrs. Trudy Rautio, Mr.
Jay Witzel, Mr Barry Wilson and Dr. Harald
Einsmann. Mr. Benny Zakrisson was appointed Chairman. No decision making power has
been bestowed on the Finance Committee. The
working procedures for the Finance Committee
have been approved by the Board of Directors.
During 2009, the Finance Committee held
eleven meetings during which minutes were
taken. Mr. Benny Zakrisson, Mrs. Trudy Rautio
Mr. Jay Witzel and Mr. Barry Wilson had 100%
attendance at Finance Committee meetings
during 2009, and Dr. Harald Einsmann 78%.
In addition, members of the Finance Committee have had informal contacts about risk and
compliance issues throughout the course of the
year.

7,500

67,500
41,000
39,750
38,500
43,500
39,750
38,500
38,500
41,000
388,000

The Finance Committee analyses financial
risks and also works with operational risks,
insurance, tax and compliance issues. The
Finance Committee is also responsible for the
execution of the Board’s decisions to repurchase
shares. The Chairman of the Finance Committee is paid EUR 5,000 and each other member
of the Finance Committee is paid EUR 2,500.
Remuneration of the Board of Directors

The amount of remuneration granted to the
Board of Directors, including the Chairman, is
determined by a resolution at the AGM.
Compensation for the work of the Board
of Directors elected by the shareholders was
taken by a resolution at the AGM of shareholders on April 23rd, 2009. The annual fee to the
Chairman should be EUR 65,000 and the
annual fee to other Board members should be
EUR 36,000. In addition, EUR 7,500 is paid
to the Chairman of the Audit Committee,
and EUR 5,000 to the respective Chairman
of the Compensation Committee and Finance
Committee and EUR 3,750 for each member of
the Audit Committee and EUR 2,500 for each
member of the Compensation and Finance
Committees. A Board member is only entitled
to remuneration for work in one committee.
The members of the Board are not entitled to
any benefits upon ceasing to serve as a member
of the Board.
The Executive Committee
In consultation with the Chairman of the
Board, the CEO prepares necessary information and basic documentation on the basis
of which, the Board can make well-founded
decisions. He presents matters and motivates
proposed decisions, as well as reporting to the
Board on the development of the Company.
The CEO is responsible for leading the work
conducted by the Executive Committee and
renders decisions in consultation with the
other members of the Executive Committee,
which consisted of eleven persons (including
the CEO) until March 31st, 2009 and thereafter
reduced to ten persons until August 31st, 2009,
eight persons until November 30th, 2009 and
thereafter seven persons.
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Remuneration of the executive committee 1)
		Variable	Post employment 		
TEUR	Salaries
salaries
compensation	Pension

Kurt Ritter (CEO)
The Executive Committee (incl. CEO) 2)

1,057
4,507

242
1,101

1,239
1,239

208
519

Housing and
company car	Total

158
655

2,904
8,021

1) The remuneration numbers exclude social security costs. Details on the compensation to the CEO and the other members of the Executive Committee can be found in Note 10.
2) Mr. Per Blixt left the Executive Committee on March 31, Mr. Gordon McKinnon and Mr. Thorsten Kirschke on August 31, Ms. Beathe-Jeanette Lunde on November 30.
					

Remuneration of
the Executive Committee

The remuneration granted to the CEO and
the other members of the Executive Committee consists of a fixed salary, a variable salary
based on the outcome of financial performance
objectives, a long term share based incentive
programme, a pension and other benefits.
Details on the compensation to the CEO and
the other members of the Executive Committee can be found in Note 10, but a summary is
presented in the table below.

releases with financial content and presentation material issued to the media, owners and
financial institutions.
With respect to the communication with
the auditors, the auditors are present at the
Board meeting where the Company’s year-end
Financial Report is approved. In addition, the
Board has met with the Company’s auditors
to review their audit of the Company for the
financial year 2009. The Board has also met
with the Company’s auditors without the CEO
or other members of the Company’s Executive
Committee or management being present.

Share-related Incentive Programmes

The AGM on May 4th, 2007, April 23rd, 2008
and on April 23rd, 2009 approved of proposals for a long-term share related performancebased incentive programme (“the performance
based share programmes”) to be offered to some
executives within Rezidor. The performance
based share programmes constitute a supplement to the annual variable salaries and each
programme runs for a three year period. The
purpose of the programmes is to offer a remun
eration component to ensure that remuneration
within the Group helps align executives with
shareholder interests; that the proportion of
remuneration linked to company performance
increases and that it encourages executive
share ownership. In order to implement the
performance based share programmes in a
cost efficient and flexible manner, the Board of
Directors was authorised by the AGMs in 2007,
2008 and 2009 to decide on acquisitions or sale
of its own shares on the Stock Exchange. More
detailed descriptions of the three share related
performance based incentive programmes can
be found in Note 34.
Financial Reporting
The Board monitors the quality of financial
reporting through instructions to the CEO and
reporting instructions regarding the reporting
via the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews all financial statements published
by the Company. The Board as a whole reviews
and approves of the Company’s quarterly
reports and year-end report prepared by the
management. The Board is also responsible
for the Company’s financial statements being
prepared in compliance with legislation, applicable accounting standards and other requirements for listed companies.
The CEO and the CFO must review and
assure the quality of all financial reporting
including financial statements, interim reports
and the annual financial statements, press
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Auditors
Auditors in Swedish limited companies are
elected by the AGM and tasked with scruti
nising the Company’s financial reporting and
management of the Company by the Board and
the CEO. Pursuant to the Swedish Companies
Act, the term for auditors in Swedish limited
companies is four years. Since the appointment
at the AGM 2005, and up until the AGM 2009,
the Group’s statutory auditor was Deloitte AB.
At the AGM 2009 Deloitte AB was re-elected
as auditor for the company for a period until the
end of the 2013 AGM with Mr. Thomas
Strömberg as the responsible partner. Deloitte
is part of Deloitte Touche Tomatsu, with global
operations in auditing and other consulting
services. Mr. Thomas Strömberg (born 1966) is
a member of FAR-SRS, the Swedish professional institute for authorised public accountants and approved public accountants. He has
been an authorised public accountant since
1998. In addition to Rezidor, Mr. Thomas
Strömberg has audit engagements with Avis,
Ovako and Projectplace.
The auditors follow an audit plan that
incorporates the comments and concerns of
the Board, and report their observations to
the Board during the course of the audit and
in conjunction with the establishment of the
2009 Annual Report in 2010. The auditor
attended three out of eight meetings of the
Audit Committee during the year. On one
occasion the Board met with the Company’s
auditor without the CEO or anyone else from
the Company management present. Deloitte
submits an audit report regarding Rezidor
Hotel Group AB, the Group and an overwhelming majority of subsidiaries. During the year
2009, the auditors have had consulting assignments outside the audit, mainly concerning
issues related to the interpretation of IFRS and
ad hoc tax advice.

Compensation

The auditors receive a fee based on approved
invoiced amounts for their work in accordance
with a decision of the AGM. For information
about the auditors’ fee in 2009, see Note 42.
Internal Control
The purpose of this report is to give share
holders and other stakeholders a better view
and understanding of how internal control over
financial reporting at Rezidor Hotel Group AB
is organised.
Internal control over financial reporting is
a process that involves the Board and in parti
cular the Audit Committee appointed by the
Board, company management and personnel.
It is designed to provide assurance of reliability
in external reporting.
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Swedish Code of Corporate
Governance and the guidelines compiled by
FAR-SRS and the Confederation of Swedish
Enterprise. It is therefore limited to internal
control over financial reporting. In accordance with the statement from the Council for
Swedish Corporate Governance in September
2006, this internal control report is restricted
to a description of how the internal control is
organised and makes no statement on how
well it functioned during the fiscal year 2009.
Rezidor Hotel Group AB applies the COSO
framework as a base for the internal control
structure.
The Board annually evaluates the need for
and organisation of an internal audit process.
The structure of the process for 2009 and 2010
has been approved by the Board. The process is
managed from the Rezidor corporate office in
Brussels with internal audit training. Accounting and control policies and procedures are also
prepared, updated and distributed from the
Rezidor corporate office.
This report supplements the Annual Report.
It has not been reviewed by the company’s
auditors. The Internal control over financial
reporting is described below in five components
that jointly form the basis of a sound control
structure.
Control Environment
The control environment forms the basis of
internal control. The control environment
includes the culture that the company communicates and operates from in a number of
areas. The company values include reliability
and openness. It is important that all actions,
internal as well as external, reflect these basic
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values. The company’s Code of Business Ethics
has been distributed to all employees and
describes the required attitudes in various situations. Compliance with the Code of Business
Ethics is followed up by regular visits to the
hotels by Area Vice Presidents, Regional and
District Directors, Regional Human Resources
Managers and Head Office Human Resources
Managers. In addition the General Managers
must certify that he/she is not engaged in any
conflict of interest. The whistleblower procedure, which was implemented in 2008, gives
the employees the possibility to report on issues
related to the Code of Business Ethics.
The company’s Board of Directors has
appointed an Audit Committee with the object
ive of ensuring the quality of the company’s
financial and operational reporting. In addition the Audit Committee evaluates the procedures for internal control and the management
of financial risks. The Board has also issued
specific instructions for the CEO.
The company has created a framework that
describes the compulsory internal control policies applicable to all brands, all legal entities
and all managed hotels within the Group. This
document is the core of the Group’s financial
management system, and it outlines the procedures for the planning, delegation and followup of internal control. The document is also a
tool for information and education.
One of the principal requirements of internal control is the necessity of written documentation to evidence compliance with the compulsory policies. Another principal purpose is to
establish responsibilities and authority within
the hotels and across all levels of the Group.
This is achieved through job descriptions for
the hotel General Managers and Financial
Controllers and regional and corporate reviews
and analyses of the individual hotels’ performance on a monthly basis.
The policy document and other guidelines
are accessible on the intranet and continuously
updated to comply with accounting and audit
regulations. The Company is also committed
to competence and ensures that employees,
including those in finance and accounting functions, receive the appropriate training. Other
control measures in effect are specific accounting procedures, human resources manual,
quality performance checks, mystery shoppers (cash integrity checks) and hotel reviews
performed regularly by regional operational
and financial management. For new hotel
contract partners, a system is in place to make
back-ground checks.

receivables, bank relations and processes, legal
requirements regarding operational licensing
and insurance. Within these processes, the
internal audits cover, as applicable, segregation
of duties, authorisation for payment, contract
handling, cost control, registration of revenues
and follow-up routines. The annual plan for
internal control is developed based on the risk
assessment.
The risk assessment can be adjusted during
the year to ensure that changes are managed
in the process. The Audit Committee and the
Board of Directors analyse and review the
previous year’s result from the internal audit
and approve the internal audit plan for the
following year.

Risk Assessment
Company management performs an annual
risk assessment with regard to financial reporting. The external auditors provide feedback
and may suggest additional considerations
for the risk assessment. The risk assessment
has identified a number of critical processes
such as revenue, purchasing, payroll, financial
reporting, IT, related party transactions, cash
handling procedures, stock and inventory,

Information and communicaion
Employees’ individual responsibilities for
maintaining internal control have been clearly
communicated in the Group. Every manager is
responsible for ensuring that employees have
received and understood the relevant information needed to perform their tasks.
Accounting principles and procedures for
operational and financial reporting are known
by those responsible for applying them, and

Control activities
Controls have been implemented throughout the organisation to ensure that risks are
managed as intended by the Board, including
financial reporting risk, IT risks and fraud
risks.
Managers and financial department
employees in the hotels perform controls as
part of their daily business to comply with
central as well as local policies and guidelines.
Regular internal audits are performed to evaluate whether controls operate as intended. These
audits are scheduled and performed based on
the company’s formal risk assessment. Action
plans are implemented and followed up to
improve control activities that are lacking or
found to be ineffective. The Company has established specific anti-fraud programmes and
controls, and these procedures are well known
throughout the company.
The specific internal audits of hotels and
administrative units are primarily aimed at
internal control within operation and administration with focus on processes that impact
financial reporting and risk of irregularities,
improper favouritism of another party at the
company’s expense, and the risk of losses. The
teams for the internal audits consist of independent persons of the audited units, supported
by external auditors and by risk management
consultants.
Separate IT audits are carried out, primarily in high risk hotels, by management consultants who are specialised in IT processes and
security. In addition a self assessment process
related to internal control have been developed
and completed by the hotels. A number of hotels
are also visited on a surprise basis in order to
follow up on implementation of the recommendations from the internal audit teams.

updates are communicated regularly. General
Managers, Regional Directors and Area Vice
Presidents report operations and financial
information on a monthly basis to the Executive
Committee. Management receives the operational and financial information they require
in a timely manner, and the Company has
procedures for adapting to changing information needs as the competitive and/or regulatory
environment evolves. The information systems
are continuously evaluated, and the company
has established strategic plans related to future
upgrades and information system needs.
The results from the internal audits are
communicated throughout the organisation
in order to benchmark and improve internal
control procedures. The yearly audit plans and
results of the audits are submitted periodically
to the Executive Committee of the Group and
to the Audit Committee.
Rezidor’s goal is that internal control policies are known and followed in the Group.
Policies and guidelines regarding the financial process are communicated to all affected
parties in the Group through direct distribution via electronic mail and via the Group’s
intranet, where all policies and guidelines are
available.
Regulations related to a public company’s
external information to investors and stakeholders are known by those responsible for
applying them. To ensure that the submission of
external information is correct and complete,
there is an information policy regarding
disclosures to the stock exchange – as well as
an investor relations policy – that have been
adopted by the Board of Directors of the Group.
These policies state what, in what form and how
information is to be dealt with.
A system, with the support of an external
company, allow employees to anonymously
(turn whistleblower) alert corporate management and the Audit Committee on ethical,
financial and other issues in the organisation
has been in place for the last two years.
Monitoring
Regular internal meetings are used on different
levels in the organisation for management and
employees. The Executive Committee and the
Board monitor the Company’s operations and
financial reporting on a continuous basis.
All recommendations and/or action plans
from external auditors, internal audits and
other internal control activities are reviewed
by the Audit Committee and the Board, and
the company – as well as the individual hotels
and administrative business units – respond to
such recommendations and/or action plans in
a timely manner. The resources and authority
of those responsible for performing internal
control reviews are adequate considering the
size and complexity of the organisation. Those
responsible for performing internal control
reviews adhere to the professional standards
established by the Institute.
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The Board of Directors
UR BAN JANSSON
Chairman of the Board since 2006
Nationality: Swedish
Born: 1945
Education: Higher Bank degree
(Skandinaviska Banken).
Shares: 40,000

Dr. Harald Einsmann is currently a member of
the Boards of Directors of Tesco PLC, Checkpoint
Systems, Inc., Harman International and Carlson
Companies. During the past five years, he has served
as a member of the Boards of Directors of Stora Enso
Corporation, EMI Group plc and British American
Tobacco plc.

JAY S WITZEL
Board Member since 2005
Nationality: American
Born: 1947
Education: Degrees in Economics and
Business Administration.
Shares: 0

Mr. Urban Jansson is the Chairman of the Boards
of Directors of Bergendahls, Global Health Partner
and HMS Networks, among other companies. He is a
member of the Boards of Directors of, SEB, Höganäs
and Claes Ohlson, among others.

ULLA LITZÉN
Board Member since 2006
Nationality: Swedish
Born: 1956
Education: Master of Science degree in Business
Administration from the Stockholm School of
Economics and a Masters in Business Administration
degree from Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
Shares: 10,000

Mr. Jay S. Witzel is the former President and Chief
Executive Officer of Carlson Hotels Worldwide Inc.
He is a member of the Board of Directors of the
A merican Hotel & Lodging Association (“AH&LA”)
and the AH&LA Educational Institute.

HUBERT JOLY
Vice Chairman of the Board since 2008
Nationality: French
Born: 1959
Education: Graduate of Business Administration
from HEC Paris, and a Public Administration
graduate of the Institut d’Etudes Politiques de Paris.
Shares: 0
Mr. Hubert Joly is the president and Chief Executive
Officer and a Director of Carlson. Prior to his appointment in 2008, he served as president and Chief
Executive Officer of Carlson Wagonlit Travel (CWT)
from 2004 to 2008. He is chair of the CWT Board
of Directors and a Director of Polo Ralph Lauren.
Hubert Joly is a member of the Executive Committee
of the World Travel and Tourism Council, serves on
the Board of Trustees of the Minneapolis Institute of
Arts, and is a member of the Executive Committee of
the Minnesota Business Partnership.
GÖTE DAHLIN
Board Member since 2007
Nationality: Swedish
Born: 1941
Education: B.S. in mathematics and physics from
the University of Stockholm, Sweden.
Shares: 10,000 (owned indirectly through an endowment insurance)
Mr. Göte Dahlin is Vice Chairman of the Board of
RBS Nordisk Renting AB. He is also a member of the
Board of Directors for Veidekke ASA, Fabege AB
and Svensk Inredning Viking AB. His previous
experience has seen him act as a board member for
AP Fastigheter AB, Merita Fastigheter Oy, Avantor
ASA and Oslo Areal ASA. Up until his retirement
in 2001, he was CEO of the real estate holding
company, Nordisk Renting AB that owned a property portfolio valued at approximately SEK 20 billion
and which included, amongst others, 12 Radisson
Blu Hotels.
DR. HA R ALD EINSM ANN
Board Member since 2006
Nationality: German
Born: 1934
Education: Doctor of Philosophy degree in
Economics, Business Administration & Law.
Shares: 65,780
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Ms. Ulla Litzén is currently a member of the Boards
of Directors of Alfa Laval AB, Atlas Copco AB,
Boliden AB, NCC AB and SKF AB. She was Managing Director and member of the Management Group
of Investor AB from 1996 to 2001 and President of
W Capital Management AB, wholly owned by the
Wallenberg Foundations, from 2001 to 2005.
TRUDY R AUTIO
Board Member since 2005
Nationality: American
Born: 1952
Education: Masters in Business Administration
degree from University of St. Thomas.
Shares: 0
Ms. Trudy Rautio is the Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Carlson Companies,
and is an officer of various subsidiaries within
Carlson. Prior to her appointment as the Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in 2005,
she held various other positions in Carlson from 1997
to 2005. She is currently a member of the Boards of
Directors of Securian (Minnesota Life Insurance
Company), and Carlson Wagonlit Travel.
BA R RY W WILSON
Board member since 2007
Nationality: British
Born: 1944
Education: B.A. (Hons), M.A. from Cambridge
University, England and an M.B.A. from the
Wharton School of Business, University of
Pennsylvania.
Shares: 50,000
Mr. Barry W. Wilson has served as President of
Medtronic International, President of Lederle
International, prior to its merger with Wyeth, and
President of Bristol Myers Squibb Europe. He had
nine international assignments with Pfizer. He
serves on the Board of Directors of Welch Allyn,
NextPharma Technologies and Anecova. He is a
member of the Scientific Advisory Board of the
Lombard Odier Golden Age Fund and serves as an
advisor to Solianis Monitoring AG. He also advises
Private Equity and Venture Capital organisations.

BENNY Z AKRISSON
Board Member since 2005
Nationality: Swedish
Born: 1959
Education: LL.M. from University of Stockholm.
Shares: 30,000
Mr Benny Zakrisson is Executive Vice President
Individual Holding of SAS AB and member of SAS
Group Management. He is the Chairman of the
Board of Directors of SAS Cargo Group AS. He is
also a member of the Board of Directors of Estonian
Air and Spanair.
M ATS HANSSON
Employee representative since 2009
Nationality: Swedish
Born: 1953
Shares: 0
Mr. Hansson is employed by the Swedish labour
organisation “Hotel- och restaurangfacket”.
EMIL BÄCKSTRÖM
Employee representative since 2009
Nationality: Swedish
Born: 1977
Shares: 0
Mr. Bäckström is employed by Radisson Blu
Arlandia Hotel, Stockholm.
GÖR AN LA RSSON
Deputy employee representative since 2009
Nationality: Swedish
Born: 1960
Shares: 0
Mr. Larsson is employed by Radisson Blu
Royal Viking Hotel, Stockholm.

The Board of Directors

URBAN JANSSON
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MATS HANSSON
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The Executive Committee
KURT RITTER
President and Chief Executive Officer

PUNEET CHH AT WAL
Senior Vice President and Chief Development Officer

Nationality: Swiss
Born: 1947
Year of Appointment: 1989
Year of Employment: 1976
Education: Ecole Hôtelière de Lausanne in
Switzerland and INSEAD Advanced Management
Programme at Fontainebleau in France.
Shares: 164,100

Nationality: German
Born: 1964
Year of Appointment: 2007
Year of Employment: 2002 
Education: Masters degree in International
Hospitality Management from IMHI (Essec), Paris.
Bachelor Degree from Delhi University. Fellow of the
Institute of Hospitality (FIH).
Shares: 20,000

Mr. Kurt Ritter joined the company in 1976 as the
General Manager of SAS Hotel, Luleå in Sweden,
and since held various executive management
positions in business development and operations in
Kuwait, Singapore, Vienna and Oslo in the company.
As a graduate of the Ecole Hôtelière de Lausanne, he
started his career at Bellevue Palace Hotel in Bern,
Switzerland and also held several executive positions at Ramada International Hotels in Belgium,
France, Germany and Sweden. Mr. Kurt Ritter was
appointed President & CEO in 1989 of the then SAS
International Hotels with a portfolio of 21 hotels.
He established the master franchise agreement for
the Radisson brand in 1994 and took the company
multi-brand in 2000. In the course of his leadership,
Rezidor has become one of the fastest growing hotel
companies in the world. Mr. Kurt Ritter was named
Corporate Hotelier of the World in 2002, in 2005,
he received the Lifetime Achievement Award at the
International Hotels Investment Conference, and in
2008 the MKG Lifetime Achievement Award.
KNUT KLEIVEN
Deputy President and Chief Financial Officer
Nationality: Norwegian
Born: 1954
Year of Appointment: 1994
Year of Employment: 1986
Education: Degree in Philosophy, Psychology and
Law from University of Oslo, Norway.
Shares: 125,000
Mr. Knut Kleiven joined Rezidor in 1986 as the
Group Accounting Manager and soon became the
Group’s Operational and Corporate Controller. In
1994, he was appointed as Rezidor’s Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer. He was then
promoted to Deputy President and Chief Financial
Officer of Rezidor, a role which would actively support the President and CEO in strategic development
of the Company and lead the Company s focus on
investments, joint ventures, investment funds, etc.
Prior to joining Rezidor, he held the position of
Internal Auditor for the SAS Group. 

Mr. Puneet Chhatwal joined Rezidor in 2002 as
Director Business Development, and was promoted
to Vice President Business Development in 2004
and to Senior Vice President in 2007. He oversees
growth and is responsible for Portfolio and Asset
Management. Prior to Rezidor he worked in hotel
consulting and acquisitions for the Feuring Group
in Germany, and, later served as the Director of
Development for EMEA for Carlson Hotels Worldwide.
JACQUES DUBOIS
Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
Nationality: Canadian/American
Born: 1956
Year of Appointment: 2006
Year of Employment: 1996
Shares: 0
Mr. Jacques Dubois joined Rezidor in 1996 as
Regional Director of Operations, and has since 1998
held the positions of Vice President Sales, Vice President Revenue & Channel Management, Vice President Distribution & CRM, and Senior Vice President
Marketing, Distribution & CRM. Prior to this, he
was active in hotel operations with Commonwealth
Holiday Inns of Canada before joining Carlson as a
District Director supporting hotels operated under
the Radisson brand including Rezidor.
OLIVIER JACQUIN
Senior Vice President of Sales, Marketing,
CRM and Distribution
Nationality: French
Born: 1966
Year of Appointment: 2006
Year of E
 mployment: 2003
Education: Sales and Marketing Degree from
Institut Supérieur Européen de Gestion in
Paris, Graduate of l’Ecole de Gestion Commerce de
Toulouse & INSEAD AMP Fontainebleau.
Shares: 0
Mr. Olivier Jacquin joined Rezidor in 2003 as Senior
Vice president of Sales, prior to which, he was the
Global Sales Director of Europcar International,
Director of Sales for Concorde Hotels Group and
Director of Sales & Marketing for Concorde La
Fayette hotel in Paris. Prior to that he held various
positions in operations in Africa & the Caribbean.
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M A RIANNE RUHNGÅ RD
Senior Vice President and General Counsel
and Secretary to the Board
Nationality: Swedish
Born: 1960
Year of Appointment: 2006
Year of Employment: 2000 
Education: LL.M. from University of Uppsala.
Diplomas in English, Russian and Natural 
Sciences from University of Uppsala, in European
Community Law from University of Lund and a
post-g raduate diploma in EC Competition Law
from King’s College in L ondon.
Shares: 0
Ms. Marianne Ruhngård joined Rezidor in 2000
and has since held the position as Vice President and
General Counsel. Prior to joining Rezidor, she was
employed from August 1992 to March 2000 by PLM
AB (publ.) in Sweden where she held the position of
Associate General Counsel. Prior to August 1992
she practised as a court clerk at the Uppsala County
Administrative Court and as a Junior Judge at the
Administrative Court of Appeal in Stockholm. 
EUGèNE STAAL
Senior Vice President Technical Development
Nationality: Dutch
Born: 1964
Year of Appointment: 2007
Year of Employment: 2006
Education: Bachelor Degree in Hotel Admini
stration from University of Hospitality Management
in Maastricht, The Netherlands.
Shares: 4,000
Mr. Eugène Staal joined Rezidor in 2006 as Vice
President Technical Development. In this role,
he heads the technical development of all Rezidor
hotels and plays a key role in construction, design
and architecture of our hotels – new builds, conversions and renovations. Working closely with Future
Openings and Operations team, he and his team are
also vital in ensuring the timely openings of our
hotels. Before joining Rezidor, he was in charge of
Technical Services for the Hyatt International
hotels. During his post with Hyatt from 1988 to
2006, Eugene Staal held various managerial
positions in the US, Asia and Europe.

* The Executive Committee, consisted of eleven
persons until March 31st, 2009 when Mr. Per Blixt
left and thereafter reduced to ten persons until
August 31st, 2009, when Mr. Thorsten Kirschke
and Mr. Gordon McKinnon left, thereafter reduced
to eight persons until November 30th, 2009 when
Ms. Beathe-Jeanette Lunde left and thereafter seven
persons.

The Executive Committee

KURT RITTER

Knut Kleiven

Puneet Chhatwal

Jacques Dubois

Olivier Jacquin

Marianne Ruhngård

Eugène Staal
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chairman statement

A global business with
Swedish roots
places great demands on leadership on a daily
basis – management must show innovation,
creativity, patience and the ability to adapt and
inspire. It is at times like this that our relationships are really put to the test – not least our
customer relationships. We must demonstrate
that we are always there for our customers and
that they can trust our brands.
Together with the Carlson Group, our main
shareholder, we are now working to create
global leverage by harmonising the brands we
both work with, in the best interests of both
companies. Our task is to create value for all
shareholders – our main shareholder as well as
all the others. This is of course done from the
basis of an independent Rezidor platform.
We don’t feel any pressure by having close
to a subsidiary status to the Carlson Group. The
market listing agreement, the code and very
clear governance principles in the company

“An industry like ours places great
demands on leadership on a daily
basis – management must show innovation, creativity, patience and
the ability to adapt and inspire.”
Urban Jansson, Chairman of the Board
The Board’s main focus during the year has been
to ensure the continued and long-term growth
of Rezidor while maintaining the company’s
financial flexibility and level of readiness.
Maintaining such a balancing act in a deep
recession with few reliable forecasts, which was
the situation faced during last year, is certainly
not an easy task, especially as the economic
crisis has been particularly tough for the travel
and hotel industry.

“In recent years, the company has
grown strongly while retaining a
low level of debt, mainly as a result
of the implementation of fee-based
revenues.”
We have made it clear that our top priority has
been the company’s cash position, with a focus
on the flows in both directions. Our company
has a very experienced management team with
members that have gone through a number of
recessions as well as periods of expansion.
This allowed us to recognise early signs of
the impending downturn and prepare a radical programme of measures that was quickly
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put in place at an early stage. This included
cost cutting measures as well as measures
for retaining revenues, with a strong focus on
productivity.
Rezidor has for many years prioritised
growth without putting an excessive load on
the balance sheet and without involving any
other sorts of heavy financial burdens. This is
what we call our “asset light” strategy, which is
an extension of our prime strategy of making
Rezidor a pure management company
In recent years, the company has grown
strongly while retaining a low level of debt,
mainly as a result of the implementation of
fee-based revenues. It is intended that this
approach will make us less sensitive to econo
mic cycles. However, this also reduces the
opportunities to take home the big bacon when
the good times roll.
We have a financial platform that makes
it possible for us to sustainably pursue our
long-term growth strategies. It is important
that we have a management team that always
retains the initiative – and that is exactly what
we have. Good leadership is especially important in hard times – particularly in a service
company such as Rezidor. We aren’t running
a nuclear power station that just stands there
and produces electricity. An industry like ours

ensure that our independent position is one
that really works. One of the many accolades
received by Rezidor in 2009 was that of Best
European Hotel Business in the Corporate
Governance category (HVS European Corporate Governance Report), ahead of twenty other
stock market listed hotel businesses.
It’s also interesting to note that a number of
the Rezidor management team are now working for the Carlson Group with responsibilites
such as brand harmonisation, thus demonstrating what a management incubator Rezidor is
and adding to the global linkage between the
companies.
Something that has pleased us during
the past year is the continuing increase in the
Swedish level of ownership in the company.
This has risen during the last twelve months
from just over 32% to just over 37%. We see this
as confirmation that we are a securely grounded and independent company. We are a global
business with Swedish roots – characteristics
we share with our majority shareholder the
Carlson Group.

Urban Jansson
Chariman of the Board

Responsible Business Review
Rezidor’s Responsible Business programme means it is not just the shoots of
recovery that are green. Rezidor has been green for 20 years and this was still the
case during the difficult year that was 2009
2009 may have been the year that Radisson
became Blu but The Rezidor Hotel Group has
in fact been green since as far back as 1989.
It was in this year that the company’s conscientious Scandinavian roots contributed to
the implementation of the first environmental policy. Rezidor was one of the first hotel
groups to consider its environmental impact
and there have been many other firsts along the
way. Indeed Rezidor’s Responsible Business
programme itself is unique in its scope: taking
responsibility for the health and safety of
employees and customers; respecting social and
ethical issues in the company, as well as in the
community; and reducing the negative impact
on the environment. In addition the programme
stands out from the crowd in that it is in place
across each of our brands and throughout all
the regions where Rezidor is present.
Taking a leading role
Rezidor took the lead in establishing its first
environmental policy 20 years ago and again
with the Responsible Business programme as
we now know it. Rezidor continues to take a
leadership role in the international hospitality industry; sharing our experience for the
greater good, and strives to achieve recognition and to reap the economic benefits of this
leading position. Thus Responsible Business

About the Full Report
The purpose of The Rezidor
Hotel Group Responsible
Business Report (available at
responsiblebusiness.rezidor.
com) – in combination with
the financial accounts – is to
help shareholders and other
important stakeholders to
value, assess and understand the operations of
The Rezidor Hotel Group. It describes the most
material and relevant sustainability aspects of
Rezidor’s operations to the company’s key stake
holders: shareholders, customers, employees,
property owners, suppliers, authorities, envir
onment and community and society. In addition
to some of the fundamental issues addressed in
these Responsible Business pages of the Annual
Report, it looks more closely at social and ethical
issues and environmental performance. The
Responsible Business Report is in line with the
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) G3 Guidelines,
self-declaring C level.
RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS REPORT 2009

HOW

issues are treated in the same way as any other
important strategic business issue at Rezidor;
this aspect is fully integrated into the overall
governance of the company. The Responsible
Business programme is anchored in the core
business and touches upon the work routines
of all employees with the ultimate responsibility for Responsible Business lying with the
Executive Committee at corporate level and
General Managers at hotel level. Moreover, the
programme is continuously updated and developed, and work with Responsible Business is
carefully measured and closely monitored so
as to spur continuous improvements.
In 2008, Rezidor was one of the first
international hotel groups to sign the United
Nation’s Global Compact, the world’s largest
voluntary corporate responsibility initiative.
The company’s longstanding Responsible Business programme meant Rezidor was already
well-prepared to aligning its operations with
Global Compact in the areas of human rights,
labour, environment and anticorruption. In
June 2009, we endorsed the Global Compact’s
“Caring for Climate” initiative, thus reinforcing
our commitment to the further development of
corporate strategies and practices to mitigate
climate change. During 2009, Rezidor was also
part of the consultative group for the World
Economic Forum’s “Towards a Low Carbon
Travel & Tourism Report”, and presented
this report at the World Business Summit on
Climate Change in Copenhagen in May. In
November Rezidor celebrated World Respon
sible Tourism Day and was proud to be an
official supporter of this international event.

THIS IS

WE DO BUSINESS

management and organisation
Rezidor’s long-term success depends on the
ability to understand and address the needs and
concerns of those who impact or are impacted
by the company’s operations. As part of the
Responsible Business Policy eight key stakeholders are identified: employees, customers,
property owners, shareholders, suppliers and
business partners, local and global communities, authorities and the natural environment.
For each of these stakeholders, there are
a number of fixed objectives stating Rezidor’s
ambitions. These objectives are realised
through suggest ions for actions, reinforced by
performance-based targets. On an operational
level, hotels and General Managers are provided with several tools to better manage their
social and environmental responsibilities. Each

hotel creates its own personalised Responsible
Business Action Plan based on the corporate
objectives. Hotel Responsible Business teams
are guided by the new Responsible Business
Manual as well as a continuously updated
intranet that contains information about
policies, reporting requirements, best practice
examples, certification and awards, and other
useful resources.
There is also a regional framework in place
for Responsible Business, supporting the hotels
at a regional level and providing a liaison
between the hotels and the corporate Responsible Business team. This helps ensure Responsible Business is integrated consistently across all
regions; all employees are fully engaged in the
programme; and the capturing of bottom-up
efforts. The 14 Regional Responsible Business
Coordinators meet twice a year, where they are
informed about and discuss the most recent
developments and plans for the Responsible
Business programme.
During 2009 we continued the roll-out
of our unique “Living Responsible Business”
and “Leading Responsible Business” training
modules and we aim to train each newly hired
employee within 90 days of their arrival. “Living
Responsible Business” is a 2.5 hour energetic,
practical and interactive mandatory session
for all employees at all levels. It aims to help
participants understand our impact and how
each individual can make a difference in their
daily life, both at home and at work. “Leading
Responsible Business” is an additional model
targeting Heads of Departments and General
Managers to ensure they lead by example and
empower employees to get involved.
Impacts, Risks
and Opportunities
Despite current challenges, the travel and tourism sector remains a critical economic sector
worldwide and one that provides significant
potential for economic growth and development internationally. According to the World
Travel & Tourism Council (WTTC), the global
travel and tourism industry supported 77.2
million jobs on a direct basis in 2009 and
contributed just over 9% of the global gross
domestic product. A growing national travel
and tourism sector contributes to employment,
raises national income, and can improve a country’s balance of payments. The sector is thus an
important driver of growth and prosperity and,
particularly within developing countries, it can
play a leading role in poverty reduction.
Thus it is clear that an industry of this
size has a considerable impact on economic,
social and environmental conditions around
the world. The hospitality industry also faces a

REZIDOR ANNUAL REPORT 2009 67

2009 Responsible Business Review

Eco-labels All Over
Although Rezidor has been working with Respon
sible Business for two decades we realise the
importance of having our efforts evaluated and
externally verified to ensure communication of
our programme is fully transparent and cred
ible. To this end the company launched an ambi
tious eco-labelling strategy in 2008 and we are
proud that a further 27 properties have achieved
environmental certification in 2009. The initial
focus was on Radisson Blu properties and half
the Radisson Blu properties have already been
awarded an eco-label. Already all our Park Inn
hotels in France have achieved the Green Key
label and the rest of the brand will follow suit
with local labels.

For the most part regional certifications or
eco-labels have been selected to ensure hotels
perform to their maximum potential in their
respective countries, and also to take into account
consumer awareness of these schemes. In fact
one challenge encountered along the way is the
unavailability of environmental certifications
or eco-labels in certain regions where Rezidor
operates. Thus we are actively working with
environmental organisations in Estonia, Latvia,
Poland, Russia and the United Arab Emirates to
develop schemes and to pilot them at Rezidor
properties.

Environmental Certifications to date
Austrian Ecolabel: 2
Enterprise Ecodynamique (Belgium): 2
Golden Leaf Green Hotel (China): 1
Green Globe: 1
Green Hospitality Award (Ireland): 10
Green Key (Benelux, France, Lithuania, Tunisia): 21
Green Tourism Business Scheme (UK): 12
ISO 14001 (Germany): 15
Nordic Swan: 29

plethora of issues, risks and challenges related
to sustainability. These include addressing
climate change and resource consumption,
minimising generation of waste, and attracting and retaining high-performing employees.
Rezidor handles risks through the Responsible
Business and Safety and Security programmes
while the framework for managing operational
risks is presented in the Annual Report.
The industry must also respond to sustainability-related expectations expressed by
customers and the local and global communities. Finally, and increasingly in today’s business climate, comprehensive management of
health and safety, ethics, corporate governance
and a socially and environmentally responsible
supply chain have become ever more important
priorities. The Rezidor Hotel Group believes the
above non-financial issues ultimately impact
profitability.
Fully aligned with the company’s core business objectives, Rezidor’s Responsible Business
programme was instated to increase awareness and readiness to handle risks and reduce
costs, but also as a means to capture opportunities in the process of achieving the goal of
being an industry leader with solid long-term
profitability. There are many ways to run a
hotel business – which in turn impact on how
a hotel operator can manage risk and take

advantage of opportunities related to sustainability. Rezidor’s business model which entails
operating hotels but not owning the properties,
sometimes limits the actions the company can
take. But by and large Rezidor is able to control
the key issues pertaining to sustainability as the
following pages demonstrate.

strategic, looking at campaigns and strategies
that deliver real benefits rather than a number
of tactical activities that have limited reach.
Moreover Responsible Business focusses on
efficiency through activities such as energy and
water conservation and thus ultimately saves
money. The need for sustainable development
has never been greater and Rezidor is proud to
have maintained momentum with its Responsible Business efforts during 2009. Indeed we
hope to benefit from our continued work – A.T.
Kearney consultants recently reported that
companies that focussed on sustainability have
outperformed their peers by 15% during the
financial crisis.
This outlook is also reflected by an evolution in shareholder perspective as the company
observes an increasing number of institutional
investors adopting Socially Responsible Investment (SRI) into their internal and external
operations in response to the global financial
crisis. A 2009 UN Environment Programme
Finance Initiative and the UN Global Compact
report also reveals that an increasing number of
mainstream asset owners, investment managers
and professional service partners are signing up
to the Principles for Responsible Investment.

Responsible Business during
a Financial Crisis
Albert Einstein once said we can’t solve problems by using the same kind of thinking we used
when we created them and the current global
financial crisis certainly underscores the need
for a new way of thinking. In today’s interconnected global economy, the long-term value and
success of business are inextricably linked to
the integration of environmental, social and
governance issues into corporate management
and operations. It is impossible to fully consider
the global economic crisis without also looking
at the challenges of the climate change, water
scarcity, resource depletion and extreme poverty. Economic concerns cannot be addressed
in isolation from social and environmental
concerns as these crises are all symptoms of a
larger global system that is out of balance.
Indeed the process of taking a long hard
look at our operations as often accompanies
recession encourages firms to become more

Responsible Business Manual
It was with great pleasure that Rezidor launched in March 2009 the Respon
sible Business Manual – a new step-by-step guide on how to make Respon
sible Business live and breathe in any Rezidor property. It covers the very first Responsible Business Manual
steps that involve the appointment of a Responsible Business Coordinator,
the creation of a Responsible Business Team, and the assessment of initial
environmental and social performance of a hotel. It also includes informa
tion on how to organise effective Responsible Business meetings, progress
with Action Plans that are tailor-made to fit each hotel, and suggestions
on how to best communicate results externally and internally. In addition,
once hotels have truly progressed towards the level of Responsible Business
excellence, the Manual includes guidance on how hotels can receive recognition for their outstanding
achievements.
The Responsible Business Manual is suitable for both new and experienced Responsible Business
Coordinators and is a must read for each General Manager. Rezidor is confident this Manual can make
a true contribution in the current economic climate by providing a structured plan to improve Respon
sible Business and environmental performance and thus reduce costs, as well as guidance on achieving
additional PR which may help drive revenue.
Let’s take responsibility
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Customer demands remain high
Long term sustainable profitability and
growth require Rezidor’s operations to be
able to meet demands set by customers. These
include requirements related to environmental performance as well as social accounta
bility and ethical behaviour. Consumer interest in companies’ sustainability credentials
remains strong in spite of the recession and
consumers’ consciences have “not been put on
hold,” as the Corporate Social Responsibility
consultancy, Context, notes. This is mirrored
by travel managers and business travellers in
the United Kingdom, continental Europe and
North America who according to a report by the
Association of Corporate Travel Executives and
KDS say “the crisis won’t lessen their companies’ green efforts”.
Indeed the J.D. Power 2009 European Hotel
Guest Satisfaction Index Study report indi
cated that awareness of green programmes has
increased significantly and this awareness has a

2009 Responsible Business Review
strong positive impact on client satisfaction. On
average, satisfaction is more than 160 points
higher among guests who report being aware
of their hotel’s green programmes, compared
with guests who are unaware of them. Thus,
Responsible Business contributed to Park Inn
leading the mid-scale full service segment
and Radisson Blu’s high rankingin the upper
up-scale segment.
Requests for proposals from corporate
clients continue to ask increasingly detailed
questions regarding environmental and ethical
issues, with clients seeking to compare products
before making an informed choice. Consumers are actively seeking clarity in navigating
the complex subject of Responsible Business
and Rezidor is working with several industry
bodies and other hotel groups to facilitate this.
Already Rezidor has ensured that the provision
of information about the company’s environmental and social profile is part of the sales and
marketing process, with 83% of hotels having
integrated Responsible Business into their
sales presentations and 63% of hotels sharing
their Responsible Business activities on their
websites.
Climate Change
The UN World Tourism Organisation estimates
that Travel and Tourism, excluding aviation,
was responsible for about 3% of global greenhouse gas emissions in 2009 and that this will
grow at 2.5% per year until 2035. However it
is important to acknowledge that although
the sector contributes to climate change, it
also faces risks due to climate change. If the
industry fails to reduce carbon dioxide emissions, the rate of travel may decrease significantly over time as a result of legislative pressures (for example carbon taxes) resulting in
increased travel costs, or through voluntary
actions of customers to limit travel. There are
also risks related to more specific impacts of
climate change – for example disrupted travel

patterns or damage to hotel properties due to
severe weather events such as storms or flooding. Some locations may face geographically
specific risks that could affect the safe and profitable operation of hotels. The effects on earnings and risk as a quantitative measure are
difficult to estimate to date but the company
is doing what it can to limit environmental
impact and vulnerabilities to climate change
and resource consumption issues.
By signing the UN Global Compact and
the Caring for Climate initiative, Rezidor has
further committed to promote greater environ
mental responsibility. Rezidor continuously
monitors developments through active participation in environmental and industry forums.
Employees are informed and engaged in climate
change mitigation efforts through our internal
awareness and training programmes, Living
Responsible Business and Leading Responsible
Business.
In 2009, emissions from electricity, natural gas, heating oil, district heating and LPG
gas for the 208 properties for which Rezidor
has comprehensive data amounted to 329,072
tons CO2 equivalent. Our carbon footprint has
thus increased in absolute terms which is to
be expected with the large number of hotels
opened last year. However if we look at emissions per room night or per guest night, both
have decreased significantly during 2009
with the latter reduced by 8% from 25.57 kg
to 23.65 kg. As the bulk of our emissions come
from energy and in this case electricity use, our
efforts to decrease emissions are concentrated
on working towards energy efficiency and shifting to renewable energy sources. Again we are
particularly sensitive to the energy sources used
in the countries in which we operate hotels and
the availability of renewable sources in the grid,
which is why a number of hotels are generating
their own energy through technology such as
photovoltaic panels.

Resource Consumption
Rezidor hotel’s consumption of resources such
as energy and water and the disposal of garbage
impact on the natural environment in terms of
resource depletion and the generation of emissions and waste. Naturally these elements also
impact operational costs. The company has
measured resource consumption and associated costs for many years – and these metrics
provide the backbone of Rezidor’s environmental management framework. During 2009
Rezidor launched the first phase of the Regional
Engineering structure in France and the UK.
This new structure aims to capitalise on regional synergies and to have a direct impact on the
bottom line as a result of improved operational
efficiency.
One of the key roles of the Responsible Business teams in the hotels is to collaborate with
the Engineering Departments and the Regional
Engineering structure to continuously strive
for more efficient natural resource use. This
contributes to the reduction of operational
costs – and the mitigation of environmental
risks – along with the reduction of associated
legal, insurance and financial expenses. As the
graphs below demonstrate, the company is
progressing in the desired direction as Rezidor
has yet again achieved substantial reductions
across energy, water and waste key performance indicators.
Responsible Construction
Rezidor works actively to enhance resource efficiency and to measure, monitor and reduce its
carbon footprint and this requires cooperation
with property owners, constructors and architects. To this end Rezidor has created Responsible Construction and Renovation Guidelines
which are used to supplement the Technical
Standards.
During 2009, 48% of hotels reported that
they undertook a significant environmental
investment such as improved insulation, grey

Responsible Business maintains momentum with significant
reductions in energy, water and waste yet again in 2009
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Responsible Business Award Winner
The Rezidor Hotel Group Responsible Business
award is presented to the hotel which has
excelled in social and environmental sustainability
throughout the year. Selection criteria include
third-party environmental certification, partici
pation in Responsible Business Action Month,
consumption reductions and innovation. For
2009, Radisson Blu Hotel, Amsterdam Airport
was deemed the worthy winner.
This year the hotel achieved the prestigious
Green Key eco-label Gold for their outstanding
environmental efforts. Employees at this proper
ty are fully immersed in the Responsible Business
spirit from the moment they join the hotel when
they are shown a short film made by the Respon

sible Business team describing the environmental
and social projects and achievements of the hotel.
The staff canteen serves healthy food and five fit
employees including General Manager Harriet
Koopman joined teams from the other Benelux
properties in the Brussels 20km race in May in aid
of World Childhood Foundation. Indeed Harriet
is a true Responsible Business ambassador. She
herself is the Responsible Business Trainer at
her hotel and was recently appointed Regional
Responsible Business Coordinator for the region.
She regularly presents and guest lectures on
Responsible Business.
Guests too cannot miss Responsible Business
in action at this hotel. An up-to-date information

stand takes pride of place in the hotel lobby while
the reception team sells “Kika” bears in aid of a
children’s cancer charity. Fair trade coffee and
chocolate are also served. In addition, the hotel
also cooperates closely with a children’s home,
Leefkringhuis, throughout the year assisting with
birthday, Easter and Christmas parties, redecora
tion and providing supplies when needed.

water recycling systems and the installation of
waste compactors. As the types of investment
vary substantially across hotels, Rezidor does
not provide a consolidated figure for investments made.
In addition to investments in existing properties, it is important that Rezidor minimise the
environmental impact and promote efficient
resource use from the beginning of new projects by utilising smart design and best available
technology.

Rezidor as a responsible
employer
Rezidor has a direct and substantial effect
on local communities as an employer and
purchaser. Taking into account all hotels,
under all contract types, a total of over 30,000
employees were working under the Rezidor
brands during 2009. During the last year over
4,000 jobs were created with the vast majority of employees hired from local markets. The
company counts no less than 142 nationalities
amongst the workforce, 56% of which is male.
Rezidor hires a diverse and relatively young
workforce and tries to recruit management
internally, providing training and a viable
career path. Rezidor respects the rights of
employees to join trade unions, pays fair wages
according to industry standards and had no
legal breaches with regard to labour legis
lation last year. Rezidor sees an opportunity in
investing in its employees and strives to provide
favourable working conditions to retain them.
This contributes to delivering a high quality
service, an important value driver and differentiator from other hotel chains and brands.
As early as 1991 The Rezidor Hotel Group
started to measure employee satisfaction. An
independent organisation is commissioned to
conduct this annual survey entitled Climate
Analysis. In 2009 the results from managed,
leased and franchised hotels increased to 85.8
(out of 100) compared to 85.1 last year. Given
the challenging economic situation, this result
is an extraordinary achievement.
Rezidor has for many years successfully
focussed on achieving a positive effect on the
bottom-line through active people management. The company offers a range of tools in
order to attract and retain talented people by
hiring attitude and training skills. The Management Development Programme, aims to develop, train and prepare existing or newly recruited supervisors to become Heads of Department
while the Mentor Mentee programme develops Heads of Department to become General
Managers. The strong focus of the company
on its internal talents has a long track record
of success.

Business Ethics
The Rezidor Hotel Group is committed to
maintaining a high standard of business
ethics, honesty and integrity in line with its
Responsible Business programme encompassing social, ethical and environmental responsibility. To guide hotel and regional office staff,
management and employees alike, about how
we want to operate our business and our way
of life, Rezidor launched a Code of Ethics in
spring of 2008. The Code of Ethics and Business
Conduct contains rules and guidelines for our
business conduct and responsibilities vis-à-vis
colleagues, customers, guests, suppliers, shareholders, authorities and the world at large. Any
employee with concerns or questions about the
Code is encouraged to raise these directly with
their supervisor. Serious or sensitive concerns
regarding the Code or a possible breach of the
Code can be reported anonymously through
rezidorethics.com. This is managed by a thirdparty, Ethics Point, which ensures that reports
are swiftly brought to the attention of the
appropriate person or persons at Rezidor.

Managing sustainability
in the supply chain
Rezidor’s central purchasing programme
(RezPIN) is an online market platform which
allows registered buyers and suppliers to
exchange information about products needed
and offered. This is creating a win-win situation for both market sides, as it leads to reduced
transaction costs for both the supplier and the
buyer. In addition to the information function of the corporate Purchasing Department
which is to provide different business units with
information about best quality products at a
suitable price, it also ensures that contracted
suppliers are in line with Rezidor’s Responsible
Business philosophy and brand standards. All
suppliers included in the system are required
to sign Rezidor’s Supplier Code of Conduct and
have the opportunity to further profile their
Responsible Business performance.
Hotels also actively engage with suppliers
at local level with regard to their Responsible
Business practices. In 2009, 75% of hotels
provided the Rezidor Supplier Code of Conduct
to their suppliers. Additionally 47% asked
suppliers to complete the Rezidor Responsible
Business Supplier Questionnaire. Going one
step further, 64% of hotels have requested
that, or provided advice as to how, suppliers
improve their environmental, social or ethical
performance. In addition, hotels are encouraged to use locally produced products as well
as seasonal products in particular for corporate
gifts and events
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Charity initiatives at local
and global level
Throughout the year, Rezidor’s hotels sponsor
many charities and non-profit initiatives at
local level through actions such as fund-raising
assistance, training, free meeting rooms and
other in-kind donations. In 2009, over 190
hotels participated in the annual Responsible
Business Action Month in September when
hotels are encouraged to organise environmental and community activities. The Rezidor
Hotel Group is also proud to have the World
Childhood Foundation as its international
charity organisation since June 2007. Through
various fund-raising activities at hotel and
corporate level during the year, the company
raised TEUR 75 for Childhood in 2009, thus
equaling our 2008 donation. At the same time
hotels have donated approximately TEUR 350
to local charitable causes.

2009 Responsible Business Review

Employees

■■ All hotels comply with local labour laws
■■ Climate analysis result increased to 85.8
■■ 95% of hotels proactively make inform

ation on Rezidorethics.com available to
employees
■■ Responsible Business Manual launched

Customers

Shareholders

■■ 100% of managed and leased hotels

c ompleted monthly Environmental
Reporting and the annual Status Report
questionnaire
■■ 43% of franchised hotels reported their
Responsible Business data
■■ 48% of hotels report that they have made
significant environmental investments

Authorities

Suppliers

We work with responsible suppliers:
■■ Responsible Business performance added
to supplier profile in RezPIN
■■ 75% of hotels have shared the Rezidor
Supplier Code of Conduct with their
suppliers
■■ 47% have asked suppliers to complete the
Rezidor Responsible Business Supplier
Questionnaire
■■ 64% of hotels have requested that, or
provided advice as to how, suppliers
improve their environmental, social or
ethical performance.
We purchase responsibly:

■■ 70% of hotels serve organic certified food

items

■■ 67% of hotels serve fair trade certified

We have increased customer awareness:
■■ 27 hotels obtained third party certification
in 2009
■■ 83% of hotels have integrated Responsible
Business into their Sales presentations
■■ 63% of hotels have a Responsible Business
page on their hotel website
We have provided Responsible Business
actions that are easy for guests to participate
in:
■■ 96% of hotels provide refillable amenity
dispensers in public washrooms
■■ 79% of hotels make battery collection box
available for guests
■■ 38% of hotels provide waste sorting
facilities for guests

products

Environment
■■ 0 hotels reported legal breaches to

legislation

■■ 97% of hotels performed legal-self audit

where available

Community

Property Owners

■■ Signed up to United Nations Caring for

Climate Initiative

We continue to provide a healthy and
responsible environment:
■■ 79% of hotel rooms are non-smoking
■■ 42% of hotels are non-smoking (including
guest rooms and public spaces)
■■ 32% of hotels provide allergy-tested rooms

■■ Regional Engineering structure launched

in France and UK

■■ 96% of hotels have Preventive

Maintenance Programme in place

■■ 78% of hotels communicate consumption

■■ TEUR 75 raised for World Childhood

Foundation

■■ TEUR 350 donated to local causes
■■ 191 hotels participated in Responsible

Business Action Month

■■ 69% of hotels organised employee

volunteering for charity or community

figures to staff, set targets and follow up on
performance
■■ Energy use measured as kWh per metre
squared decreased by 4% for Radisson Blu
and 6% for Park Inn
■■ Water consumption measured as litres per
guest night decreased by 10% for Radisson
Blu and 5% for Park Inn
■■ Residual waste measured as kg per guest
night decreased by 1% for Radisson Blu
and 15% for Park Inn

■■ 96% of hotels have informed their

owners about the Responsible Business
programme and hotel activities
■■ 87% of hotels consider Responsible Business in their Long Range Investment Plan
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Safety and Security
		 T
+R
+	I
+C
=	S

Threat assessments
Risk evaluation and mitigation

employee
safety

fire
safety

operational
security

Incident response preparedness
Crisis management and communications
Safe, Secure and Sellable hotels

TRIC=S, A FORMULA for Safety
and Security
Rezidor acknowledges that maintaining high
levels of safety and security is ultimately dependent on the everyday actions of every employee
at every level in every hotel.
The hotel and tourism sector is also highly
dependent on the public’s perception of health
and security risks. Security scares can reduce
demand for hotel and tourism services. Recent
incidents such as the November 2008 attacks
in Mumbai, July 2009 in Jakarta as well the
spread of the H1N1 pandemic globally have
continued to cause great shifts in how hotel
safety and security is perceived.
The building blocks for TRIC=S
Safety and security has always been of utmost
importance to Rezidor. The Group’s first own
corporate safety and security standards manual
was published as far back as 1988. In the mid
1990’s a convergence of safety and security to
the business operations was started with the
four cornerstones that today form the foundation for what is know known as TRIC=S:
Guest Safety and Security, Employee Safety
and Security, Fire Safety and Operational
Security.
The evolution of TRIC=S
Since the convergence process began Rezidor has grown a multi-brand portfolio of very
diverse hotels, many in new and emerging
markets. A one size fits all manual would not
be sufficient support to this diverse collection
of hotels. The work that started with the alignment of safety and security to the business
continued until the TRIC=S formula was developed to help explain how a structured process
is in place to support all operations regardless
of size or location.
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The four cornerstone foundation of our safety and security programme is comprised of Guest Safety,
Employee Safety, Fire Safety and Operational Security.

The risk evaluation and mitigation section is
now part of a unique online self audit that
includes a collection of good practices associ
ated with all four cornerstones allowing hotels
to document that they routinely review all
aspects of their safety and security preparedness. In 2009 the system was in use at over 215
of our hotels including many franchise properties who can freely access it. The average
compliance level with the set objectives was a
very high 96%.
ALWAYS CARE
Engaging every employee at every level in every
hotel is a challenge that is met by demyst
ifying some of the taboo that security is often
shrouded in. Inspired by the group’s vision of
taking personal responsibility and showing
“Yes I Can” hospitality, the motto for Rezidor’s
TRIC=S formula, “Always Care”, says: “If we
care about people, care about property and care
about the world around us, we will also take
personal responsibility in protecting these vital
elements in our lives. It is therefore everyone’s
responsibility to “Always Care”.
Communicating at all levels
A monthly TRIC=S report is shared with all
hotels. It includes an overview of the many
assessments that need to be continually adapted
to meet ever-changing threat developments from
pandemics to crime to terrorism, globally and
locally, whether they slowly bubbling up under
the surface or rapidly bursting onto the scene.
The reports also include input and updates
on the online risk management programme,
examples of incidents and prevention activ
ities as well as information on crisis management and communications training and other
information relating to the safe and secure
operations of Rezidor hotels. This keeps our
programme very dynamic, it allows us to learn
from each others experiences and it helps us to
continually improve the information and the
good practice library our hotels can access.

Cooperation at all levels
Rezidor participate in many forums that ensure
a direct cooperation with government agencies, corporate clients and industry partners. In
2009 Rezidor provided support to an industry
trade association working party in their work
to develop better fire safety throughout the
European Union. The Dutch advisory centre
for protection of critical national infrastructure chose to put a presentation of the TRIC=S
programme in their good practice library for
corporate security and Rezidor expertise was
consulted by UK National Counter Terrorism
Office when they developed their Project ArgusHOTEL training programme.
Tomorrow’s TRIC=S
We live in a world of real-time communication
and a world where responsibility for ensuring
safety, security and protection is increasingly
being shifted from government offices and
agencies to the private sector. This brings a
new wave of challenges where we not only have
a duty to care but we must perform this duty
knowing that our actions will be visible.
With this in mind Rezidor’s Audit Committee initiated an external review of the Rezidor
Corporate Security programme by BGN Risk.
Key findings were that TRIC=S is “deliberately kept simplistic and this aids in its overall
effectiveness. This makes it scalable for future
expansion”.
The final conclusions of the report were that
“The Rezidor Corporate Safety and Security
Programme is proportionate and cost effective.”
And “This model is providing value for money
but more importantly it is protecting company
assets, employees and customers.”

The Rezidor Share
Rezidor Hotel Group AB has been listed on Nasdaq OMX Stockholm
since November 28, 2006.
Share Performance
The closing price on December 31, 2009 was SEK 24.4, which was 30%
higher than the closing price at the end of 2008. During the same period
the OMX Nordic Mid Cap index increased by 46% and the Dow Jones
STOXX 600 Travel & Leisure with 15%. The highest listed transaction
price was SEK 26.8 on September 16 and the lowest was SEK 11.3 on
February 25. Rezidor’s a market value at the end of 2009 was SEK 3,660
million.
Turnover
The total number of shares traded during the year was 61,054,290 which
represent 41% of the total number of registered shares. The average
number of shares traded per day was 243,244.
Share Capital
At the end of 2009 the share capital amounted to EUR 10,000,000,
distributed among 150,002,040. The number of shares outstanding
after share buy-back is 146,307,540. Each share entitles the holder to
one vote and all shares carry equal rights to participate in the group’s
profits and assets.

Share Buy Back
Rezidor did not buy back any shares during 2009. The group currently
holds 3,694,500 shares or 2.46% of total number of registered shares.
Share Related Incentive Programme
Rezidor have three long-term share related performance-based incentive
programmes running. A total of 1,084,843 shares have been bought back
to secure delivery of shares in these programmes and the related social
security costs. The programmes have not yet given rise to any dilution.
For more information on the share related incentive programme, see
Note 34.
Dividend
Rezidor’s dividend policy is to distribute approximately one third of
annual after-tax income to shareholders. The Board of Directors recommends the Annual General Meeting 2010 no dividend to be paid for the
financial year 2009.
Ownership structure
At the end of 2009 the number of shareholders was 3,514 compared with
2,831 at the end of the previous year. The proportion of Swedish ownership increased to 37.2% from 32.1% in 2008. The ten largest shareholders,
including Rezidor, owned shares corresponding to 77.8% of the votes
and capital.

Share price performance
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The Rezidor Share
Per share data
Market price at year-end, SEK
Highest market price during the year, SEK
Lowest market price during the year, SEK
No. of shares at year-end, million
Market capitalisation at year-end, SEK million
Earnings per share 1), EUR
Proposed dividend per share, EUR
Dividend percent of earnings after tax, %
Equity per share 2), EUR
Cash flow from the year’s operations per share, EUR

2009

2008

24.4
26.8
11.3
150
3,660
–0.2
0
0
1.1
0.0

18.8
39.8
13.3
150
2,820
0.2
0
0
1.3
0.4

1) Before allocation to minority interest.
2) Based on number of ordinary shares at the end of the period, excluding own shares held by the Company.

Largest shareholders
	No. of shares	Votes/capital % 1)

Carlson
Nordea
Robur
State of New Jersey Pension Fund
JP Morgan
Handelsbanken
Skagen Verkst Verdipapirfond
Fourth Swedish National Pension Fund
SEB
Others
Number of outstanding shares
Rezidor Hotel Group
Number of registered shares

66,589,732
15,725,178
7,649,806
5,000,000
4,379,984
4,335,740
4,000,000
3,116,291
2,264,387
33,246,422

45.5%
10.7%
5.2%
3.4%
3.0%
3.0%
2.7%
2.1%
1.5%
22.9%

146,307,540

100%

3,694,500

–

150,002,040

1) Votes/capital as a percent was last year calculated on the number of registered shares, but has this year been calculated on the number of shares outstanding.

Shareholder structure
	No. of shareholders 	No. of shares 	Votes/capital %

Market value TSEK

1–500
501–1,000
1,001–10,000
10,001–50,000
50,001–100,000
100,001–

1,730
713
799
158
30
84

396,459
614,802
3,010,995
3,454,720
2,151,390
140,373,674

0.3%
0.4%
2.0%
2.3%
1.4%
93.6%

9,674
15,001
73,468
84,295
52,494
3,425,118

Total

3,514

150,002,040

100%

3,660,050

Share information
Ticker
ISIN code
Market
Segment
Industry
Sector
Sector Id

Source: Euroclear Sweden AB, December 31st 2009.
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REZT
SE0001857533
OMX STO Equities
Mid Cap
Hotels, Resorts & Cruise Lines
Consumer Discretionary
SX253010

Financial Definitions
AHR

Equity/assets ratio

Revenue

Average-House Rate – Rooms revenue in relation
with the number of rooms sold. Also referred to
as ARR (Average Room Rate) or ADR ( Average
Daily Rate) in the hotel industry.

Total equity divided by total assets.
Furniture, Fittings and Equipment.

All related business revenue (including rooms
revenue, food & beverage revenue, other hotel
revenue, fee revenue and other non-hotel reenue
from administration units).

Central Costs

Free cash flow

RevPAR

Central Costs represent costs for corporate
and regional functions, such as Executive
Management, Finance, Business Development,
Legal, Communication & Investor Relations,
Technical Development, Human Resources,
Operations, IT, Brand Management & Development, and Purchasing. These costs are incurred
to the benefit of all hotels within the Rezidor
group, i.e. leased, managed and franchised.

Cash flow from operating activities, investments, financial items and tax and the effect of
restructuring measures on cash flow.

Revenue Per Available Room – Rooms revenue
in relation to rooms available.

FF&E

RevPAR like-for-like
Free cash flow per share

Free cash flow divided by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding.

System-wide revenue

Current non-interest-bearing receivables minus
current non-interest-bearing liabilities.

Hotel revenue (including rooms revenue, food
& beverage, conference & banqueting revenue
and other hotel revenue) from leased, managed
and franchised hotels, where revenue from
franchised hotels is an estimate. It also includes
other non hotel revenue from administration
units, such as revenue from Rezidor’s print shop
that prepares marketing materials for Rezidor
hotels and revenue generated under Rezidor’s
loyalty programmes.

Occupancy (%)

Yield

Number of rooms sold in relation to the
numbers of rooms available for sale.

Dividend as a percentage of the market price.

General Manager

This title refers to the position as hotel manager.

Capital employed

Total assets less interest-bearing financial
assets and cash and cash equivalents and noninterest-bearing operating liabilities, including
pension liabilities, and excluding tax assets and
tax liabilities.
Development brand

Brand that still is under development, and that
currently does not have many hotels in oper
ation.

Like-for-like hotels

Comparable hotels in operation during the
same previous period compared.
Net working capital

Debt/equity ratio

Net debt divided by total equity.

RevPAR for like-for-like hotels at constant
exchange rates.

Regions
Operating cash flow

Profit for the period, before allocation to
minor ity interest divided by the weighted
average number of shares outstanding.

EBITDA excluding share of income in associ
ated companies, cash flow effect of restructuring measures and net investments and including changes in working capital and dividend
from associated companies.

EBIT

Operating cash flow per share

Operating profit before net financial items and
tax.

Operating cash flow divided by average number
of shares outstanding.

Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, Ireland,
Italy, Luxemburg, Malta, the Netherlands,
Portugal, Spain, Switzerland and the United
Kingdom.

EBITDA

Return on capital employed

Eastern Europe (incl. CIS countries) (EE)

Operating profit before depreciation and amortisation and gain on sale of shares and fixed
assets and net financial items and tax

(ROA – Return on Assets)
Operating profit, excluding restructuring costs
and impairment losses divided by average capital employed.

Azerbaijan, Belarus, Bulgaria, Croatia, the
Czech Republic, Estonia, Georgia, Hungary,
Kazakhstan, Latvia, Lithuania, Macedonia,
Poland, Romania, Russia, Slovakia, Turkey,
Ukraine and Uzbekistan.

Earnings per share

EBITDA margin

EBITDA as a percentage of Revenue.
EBITDAR

Operating profit before rental expense and
share of income in associates and before depreciation and amortisation and gain on sale of
shares and of fixed assets and net financial
items and tax.

Nordic Region (NO)

Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway and
Sweden.
Rest of Western Europe (ROWE)

Return on shareholders’ equity

Profit for the period, attributable to equity
holders of the parent as a percentage of average shareholders’ equity, excluding minority
interests.

Middle East, Africa and Other (MEAO)

Angola, Bahrain, Brazil, China, Egypt, Ethiopia,
Jordan, Kenya, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Mali,
Morocco, Mozambique, Nigeria, Oman, Qatar,
Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Tunisia,
the United Arab Emirates and Zambia.
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Annual General Meeting
and Financial Information
Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of shareholders
will be held at 10.00 am CET on Friday, April
16th, 2010 at the Radisson Blu Royal Viking
Hotel, Vasagatan 1, Stockholm. Registration for
the meeting will commence at 8.30 am CET.
Participation

Shareholders who wish to participate in the
Annual General Meeting must be recorded
as shareholder in the register of shareholders maintained by Euroclear Sweden AB (the
Swedish Securities Register Centre) on 10 April
2010, and notify the Company of their intention
to attend the Annual General Meeting no later
than on 12 April 2010, at 4 pm CET. The record
date being a Saturday, the shareholder must be
recorded in the register of shareholders no later
than on 9 April 2010.
The notification shall be made in writing to
Rezidor Hotel Group AB (publ), A nnual General
Meeting, PO Box 7832, 103 98 STOCKHOLM,
by telephone +46 (0)8–402 90 65, Mondays to
Fridays 9 am – 4 pm CET, by facsimile (marked
Rezidor) +46 (0)8–10 53 67, or by e-mail to
agm@rezidor.com or via the Company’s
website www.rezidor.com. When notifying
the Company the shareholders shall state their
name, personal identity number/registration
number, address, telephone number and regist
ered holding of shares.
Shareholders who are represented by a
proxy should send the original power of attorney, signed and dated by the shareholder, to the
Company in advance of the Annual General
Meeting. Notification forms and form powers
of attorney are available at the Company’s
website www.rezidor.com. Shareholders wish-

ing to bring one or two assistants should notify
the Company thereof by the same procedure
as stated above for the shareholders participation in the Annual General Meeting. Shareholders whose shares are registered in the
name of a nominee through the trust department of a bank or similar institution must, in
order to be entitled to participate in the Annual
General Meeting, request that their shares are
temporarily re-registered in their own names
in the register of shareholders maintained by
Euroclear Sweden AB. The record date being a
Saturday, such registration must be effected by
Euroclear Sweden AB by 9
April 2010. This means that shareholders who
need such registration must well in advance of
9 April 2010 notify the nominee thereof.
Any personal record data from powers of
attorney and the register of shareholders maintained by Euroclear Sweden AB will be used for
necessary registration and preparation of the
voting list for the Annual General Meeting.
Financial information
Rezidor Hotel Group AB (publ) is a Swedish
public limited liability company. Corporate
identity number: 556674-0964. The Group’s
registered office (Hemvärnsgatan 15, Box 6061,
171 06 Solna) is in Stockholm, Sweden, with the
corporate office based in Brussels.
Reporting currency is Euro. Unless otherwise stated, figures in parentheses relate to the
2008 fiscal year. Data on markets and compe
titive positions represent Rezidor’s own assessments unless a specific source is indicated.
These assessments are based on the most recent
and reliable information from published sources in the travel, tourism and hotel sectors.
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The Annual Report, Interim Reports and other
financial materials can be ordered from:
The Rezidor Hotel Group
Corporate Communication
& Investor Relations
Avenue du Bourget 44
B-1130 Brussels
Belgium
Tel: + 32 2 702 9200
Fax: + 32 2 702 9300
Email: investorrelations@rezidor.com
Contacts

Knut Kleiven
Deputy President and Chief Financial Officer

2010 Calendar
Annual General Meeting: April 16
Interim Report, January–March: April 16
Interim Report, April–June: July 23
Interim Report, July–September: October 29
Corporate Website
www.rezidor.com

Radisson Blu Hotel Sandton, Johannesburg

